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 (i)  
 

This Prospectus constitutes a prospectus for the purpose of Article 5 of  the Prospectus Directive  and 
for the purpose of giving information with regard to the Issuer, the Guarantor and its subsidiaries and 
affiliates together, (the “Group”), and the Notes which, according to the particular nature of the 
Issuer, the Guarantor and the Notes, is necessary to enable investors to make an informed assessment 
of the assets and liabilities, financial position, profit and losses and prospects of the Issuer and of the 
rights attaching to the Notes. The Issuer and the Guarantor having taken all reasonable care to ensure 
that such is the case, accept(s) responsibility for the information contained in this Prospectus. To the 
best of the knowledge of the Issuer and the Guarantor the information contained in this Prospectus is 
in accordance with the facts and does not omit anything likely to affect the import of such 
information. 

Neither the Joint Lead Managers nor any of their directors, affiliates, advisers or agents has made an 
independent verification of the information contained in this Prospectus in connection with the issue 
or offering of the Notes and no representation or warranty, express or implied, is made by the Joint 
Lead Managers or any of their directors, affiliates, advisers or agents with respect to the accuracy or 
completeness of such information. Nothing contained in this Prospectus is, is to be construed as, or 
shall be relied upon as, a promise, warranty or representation, whether to the past or the future, by the 
Joint Lead Managers or any of their respective directors, affiliates, advisers or agents in any respect. 
The contents of this Prospectus are not, are not to be construed as, and should not be relied on as, 
legal, business or tax advice and each prospective investor should consult its own legal and other 
advisers for any such advice relevant to it. 

No person is authorised to give any information or make any representation not contained in this 
Prospectus in connection with the issue and offering of the Notes and, if given or made, such 
information or representation must not be relied upon as having been authorised by any of the Issuer, 
the Guarantor or the Joint Lead Managers or any of their directors, affiliates, advisers or agents. The 
delivery of this Prospectus does not imply that there has been no change in the business and affairs of 
the Issuer or the Guarantor since the date hereof or that the information herein is correct as of any 
time subsequent to its date. 

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy the Notes by any 
person in any jurisdiction where it is unlawful to make such an offer or solicitation. The distribution 
of this Prospectus and the offer or sale of the Notes in certain jurisdictions is restricted by law. This 
Prospectus may not be used for, or in connection with, and does not constitute, any offer to, or 
solicitation by, anyone in any jurisdiction or under any circumstance in which such offer or 
solicitation is not authorised or is unlawful. In particular, this Prospectus does not constitute an offer 
of securities to the public in the United Kingdom. No prospectus has been or will be approved in the 
United Kingdom in respect of the Notes. Consequently this document is being distributed only to, and 
is directed at persons who have professional experience in matters relating to investments falling 
within article 19(1) of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000 (Financial Promotion) Order 2005 
(the “Order”) or (b) high net worth entities falling within article 49(2)(a) to (d) of the Order, and 
other persons to whom it may be lawfully communicated, falling within article 49(1) of the Order (all 
such persons together being referred to as “relevant persons”). Any person who is not a relevant 
person should not act or rely on this document or any of its contents. Persons into whose possession 
this Prospectus may come are required by the Issuer, the Guarantor and the Joint Lead Managers to 
inform themselves about and to observe such restrictions. Further information with regard to 
restrictions on offers, sales and deliveries of the Notes and the distribution of this Prospectus and 
other offering material relating to the Notes is set out under “Subscription and Sale” and “Summary of 
Provisions Relating to the Notes in Global Form”. 
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Unless otherwise specified or the context so requires, references to zloty and PLN refer to Polish 
zloty, references to “kr”, “kronor” and “SEK” refer to Swedish kronor, references to “U.S. Dollars” 
and “U.S.$” are to United States dollars, references to “euro”, “EUR” and “€” are to the currency 
introduced at the start of the third stage of European Economic and Monetary Union pursuant to the 
Treaty establishing the European Community, as amended. References to “billions” are to thousands 
of millions. 

The language of the prospectus is English. Certain legislative references and technical terms have 
been cited in their original language in order that the correct technical meaning may be ascribed to 
them under applicable law. 

In connection with the issue of the Notes, Citigroup Global Markets Limited (the “Stabilising 
Manager”) (or any person acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager) may over-allot Notes or effect 
transactions with a view to supporting the market price of the Notes at a level higher than that which 
might otherwise prevail. However, there is no assurance that the Stabilising Manager (or persons 
acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager) will undertake stabilisation action. Any stabilisation 
action may begin on or after the date on which adequate public disclosure of the terms of the offer of 
the Notes is made and, if begun, may be ended at any time, but it must end no later than the earlier of 
30 days after the issue date of the Notes and 60 days after the date of the allotment of the Notes. Any 
stabilisation action or over-allotment must be conducted by the Stabilising Manager (or person(s) 
acting on behalf of the Stabilising Manager) in accordance with all applicable laws and rules. 

Each potential investor in the Notes must determine the suitability of that investment in light of its 
own circumstances. In particular, each potential investor should: 

(i) have sufficient knowledge and experience to make a meaningful evaluation of the Notes, the 
merits and risks of investing in the Notes and the information contained in this Prospectus or 
any applicable supplement; 

(ii) have access to, and knowledge of, appropriate analytical tools to evaluate, in the context of its 
particular financial situation, an investment in the Notes and the impact the Notes will have 
on its overall investment portfolio; 

(iii) have sufficient financial resources and liquidity to bear all of the risks of an investment in the 
Notes; 

(iv) understand thoroughly the terms of the Notes; and 

(v) be able to evaluate (either alone or with the help of a financial adviser) possible scenarios for 
economic, interest rate and other factors that may affect its investment and its ability to bear 
the applicable risks. 
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS 

This Prospectus contains certain “forward-looking statements” which can be identified by the use of 
forward-looking terminology, such as the terms “believes,” “expects,” “anticipates,” “projects,” 
“estimates,” “will,” “intends,” “seeks,” “may,” “should” or similar expressions or, in each case, their 
negative, other variations thereof or comparable terminology. These forward-looking statements 
include all matters that are not historical facts and they appear in a number of places throughout this 
Prospectus and include, without limitation, statements with regard to the Group’s intentions, beliefs or 
current expectations relating to, among other things, the Group’s future financial position, results, 
performance, achievements and prospects along with future industry results and performance. By their 
nature, forward-looking statements involve inherent risks and uncertainties because they relate to 
events and depend on circumstances that may or may not occur in the future. Investors are cautioned 
that the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus are not guarantees of the Group’s 
future financial position, results, performance, achievements or prospects and that the Group’s actual 
future financial position, results, performance, achievements and prospects may differ materially from 
those suggested or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus.  

In addition, these forward-looking statements speak only as at the date of this Prospectus. Except to 
the extent required by applicable law, the Issuer does not intend to update or revise any of the 
forward-looking statements contained in this Prospectus, whether as a result of new information, 
future events or otherwise, and the Issuer hereby expressly disclaims any obligation to do so. All 
subsequent written or oral forward-looking statements attributed to the Group or persons acting for 
the Group or on the Group’s behalf are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary 
statements contained throughout this Prospectus.  Investors should not place undue reliance on any 
such forward- looking statements. 
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PRESENTATION OF FINANCIAL AND CERTAIN OTHER INFORMATION 

FINANCIAL INFORMATION 

The financial information relating to the Group and set out in this document has been derived from: 

 the Group’s unaudited interim consolidated financial statements as at, and for the three 
months ended, 31 March 2014 (the “Interim Financial Statements”);  

 the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements as at, and for the year ended, 31 
December 2013 (the “2013 Financial Statements”); and 

 the Group’s audited consolidated financial statements as at, and for the year ended, 31 
December 2012 (the “2012 Financial Statements” and, together with the 2013 Financial 
Statements, the “Annual Financial Statements” and, together with the Interim Financial 
Statements, the “Financial Statements”). 

The Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) issued by the International Accounting Standards Board and related interpretations 
published as European Commission regulations.  Certain information, including information in the 
presentation of segment results (note 5 to the 2013 Financial Statements) and information relating to 
own funds and solvency margins (note 8 to the 2013 Financial Statements), in the Annual Financial 
Statements has been prepared in accordance with Polish Accounting Standards (“PAS”).  Where such 
information is included in this Prospectus, it is identified as having been prepared in accordance with 
PAS. 

The Interim Financial Statements have not been audited or reviewed and, accordingly, all financial 
information in this document as at, and for the three month periods ended, 31 March 2014 and 31 
March 2013 is unaudited.  The Interim Financial Statements are not appended to this Prospectus in 
full. 

The Annual Financial Statements have been audited by Deloitte Polska Spółka z ograniczoną 
odpowiedzialnością Sp. k., (the “Auditors”) in accordance with section 7 of the Accounting Act of 29 
September 1994 (Journal of Laws of 2013, item 330, as amended) and the national auditing standards, 
issued by the National Council of Statutory Auditors in Poland. The Auditors have issued unqualified 
audit reports in respect of each of 2013 and 2012. In accordance with applicable Polish legal 
requirements which require an insurance company’s auditor to be changed every five years, the Group 
has changed its auditor for 2014. 

The Group’s financial year ends on 31 December and, save where the context does not permit, 
references in this Prospectus to 2013 and 2012 are to the 12-month period ended on 31 December of 
such year. 

Restatement of the certain line items in the 2013 Financial Statements  

In the Interim Financial Statements, the Group restated certain audited 2013 financial data in 
accordance with the requirements of International Financial Reporting Standard No. 10 “Consolidated 
Financial Statements” (“IFRS 10”), which it implemented from 1 January 2014. For a description of 
these restatements, see “Description of the Guarantor – Recent developments”. 

There were no material restatements made to the Annual Financial Statements. 



 

 (v)  
 

CERTAIN CONVENTIONS 

Rounding 

Certain figures contained in this Prospectus, including financial information, have been subject to 
rounding adjustments. Accordingly, in certain instances, the sum of the numbers in a column or a row 
in tables contained in this Prospectus may not conform exactly to the total figure given for that 
column or row. Percentages in tables have been rounded and accordingly may not add up to 100 per 
cent. 

Market share 

Where possible, market share data referred to in this Prospectus has been sourced from independent 
sources as stated.  Where an estimate of the Group’s market share has been included, it has been 
calculated by the Guarantor using its own data and that of its competitors based on available 
information released by the Guarantor’s competitors. Undue reliance should not be placed on market 
share data because of differences in the dates as of which such data may be made available by the 
Guarantor and its competitors and because the Guarantor cannot verify the information provided by 
its competitors. 

No representation or warranty 

Market data and certain industry data, forecasts and statements regarding the Group’s position in the 
insurance industry made in this document are based on the Guarantor’s own internal estimates and, in 
some cases, on industry data collected by the relevant bodies referred to. While the Guarantor believes 
the statements contained in this document, including customer and market share information, to be 
reliable and to provide fair and adequate estimates of the size of the insurance market and fairly 
reflect the Group’s competitive position within that market, these statements have not been 
independently verified and the Guarantor does not make any representation or warranty as to the 
accuracy or completeness of such information in this Prospectus. 

None of the market or industry data contained in this Prospectus has been audited or otherwise 
reviewed by external auditors, consultants or independent experts. 

NON-IFRS INFORMATION 

This Prospectus includes references to certain insurance ratios, such as the combined ratio and the 
solvency ratio. Although these ratios are not IFRS measures, the Group believes that they are 
important to understanding the Group’s insurance business and its capital and solvency position. The 
Group’s determination of these ratios may be different from those of other insurance companies. 

DEFINED AND TECHNICAL TERMS 

In this Prospectus: 

combined ratio means the sum of net insurance claims and benefits, acquisition costs and 
administrative expenses and reinsurers' commissions and share in reinsurers' profit divided by net 
earned premium, calculated for non-life insurance business; 

loss ratio means the sum of net insurance claims and benefits divided by net earned premium; 
calculated for non-life business; 

margin ratio means the operational profit divided by gross written premium, calculated for group and 
individually continued life business; 
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premium ceded ratio means reinsurer’s share in the written premium divided by gross written 
premium; 

solvency ratio means an insurance company's own funds divided by required solvency margin. 

The Company’s reporting currency is the Polish Zloty and its share capital is denominated in Polish 
Zloty.  
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OVERVIEW 

General Description of the Offering 

 

Issuer: PZU Finance AB (publ). 

Guarantor: Powszechny Zakład Ubezpieczeń S.A.. 

Principal Paying and 

Transfer Agent: 

Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch. 

Registrar: Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A. 

The Issue: EUR 500,000,000 1.375 per cent. Guaranteed Notes due 2019. 

Issue Price: 99.407 per cent. of the principal amount of the Notes. 

Issue Date: 3 July 2014. 

Maturity Date: 3 July 2019. 

Interest Rate: The Notes will bear interest at the rate of 1.375 per cent. per annum from and 

including 3 July 2014 to but excluding the Maturity Date (as defined in 

“Terms and Conditions of the Notes”). 

Yield: 1.499 per cent. 

Interest Payment Dates: Interest will be payable annually in arrear on 3 July in each year, commencing 

on 3 July 2015. 

Withholding Taxes: All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes shall be made 

free and clear of, and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, 

assessments or governmental charges of whatsoever nature imposed, levied, 

collected, withheld or assessed by or within Sweden or Poland or any political 

subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, unless 

such withholding or deduction is required by law, as described in Condition 

10. 

Ranking: The Notes constitute direct, general, unconditional and (subject to 

Condition 5) unsecured obligations of the Issuer. The Notes will at all times 

rank pari passu among themselves and at least pari passu in right of payment 

with all other present and future unsecured obligations of the Issuer, save for 

such obligations as may be preferred by provisions of law that are both 

mandatory and of general application. 

The Guarantee: The Guarantor has, in the Deed of Guarantee, unconditionally and irrevocably 

guaranteed the due and punctual payment of all sums from time to time 

payable by the Issuer in respect of the Notes, see Condition 4(b). 

Cross Default: The terms of the Notes will include a cross-default provision relating to 

indebtedness in excess of EUR 25,000,000 as described in Condition 12(c). 

Negative Pledge: The terms of the Notes will include a negative pledge as described in 
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Condition 5. 

Optional Redemption: If a Change of Control Event (as defined in the Conditions) occurs, the Issuer 
shall, at the option of the holder of any Note, upon the holder of such Note 
giving notice to the Issuer at any time during the Redemption Period, redeem 
such Note on the Redemption Date at 100 per cent. of its principal amount 
together (if applicable) with interest accrued and unpaid to (but excluding) the 
Redemption Date, as described in Condition 9(c). 

Tax Redemption: The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer in whole, but not in 
part, at their principal amount plus accrued interest in the event of certain 
changes affecting taxation in Sweden or Poland as further described in 
Condition 9 (b). 

Use of Proceeds: The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes, amounting to approximately EUR 
496,335,000 after the deduction of expenses in connection with the issuance 
of the Notes, will be used by the Issuer for general corporate purposes. 

Form of the Notes: The Notes will be issued in registered form in minimum denominations of 
EUR 100,000 and integral multiples of EUR 1,000 in excess thereof. The 
Notes will be represented by the Global Certificate which will be registered in 
the name of a nominee for and deposited with a common safekeeper for 
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg on or around the Closing Date. 
Definitive Note Certificates evidencing holdings of Notes will be available 
only in certain limited circumstances. See “Summary of Provisions Relating 
to the Notes in Global Form”. It is intended that the Notes will be held in a 
manner which would allow Eurosystem eligibility. 

Listing and Clearing: Application has been made to list the Notes on the Irish Stock Exchange and 
to trading on the Market. The Notes have been accepted for clearance through 
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg with the following ISIN and 
Common Code: 

 ISIN: XS1082661551. 

 Common Code: 108266155. 

Governing Law: The Notes, including any non-contractual obligations arising out of or in 
connection with them, are governed by, and shall be construed in accordance 
with, English law. 

Selling Restrictions: The offering and sale of Notes is subject to applicable laws and regulations 
including, without limitation, those of the United States, the United Kingdom, 
Sweden and Poland. See “Subscription and Sale”. 

Ratings: The Notes will be rated A- by S&P. The Guarantor’s Financial Strength 
Rating from S&P is A (outlook stable). 

 A rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be 
subject to revision, suspension or withdrawal at any time by the assigning 
rating organisation. 

Risk Factors: Investing in the Notes involves a high degree of risk. See “Risk Factors” 
beginning on page 10. 
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RISK FACTORS 

The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the following factors may affect their ability to fulfil their 
respective obligations under the Notes and the Guarantee. All of these factors are contingencies which may 
or may not occur and neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor is in a position to express a view on the likelihood 
of any such contingency occurring.  The occurrence of any of the factors described below is likely to have a 
material adverse effect on the Group’s business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. 

In addition, factors which the Issuer and the Guarantor believe are material for the purpose of assessing the 
market risks associated with the Notes are also described below. 

The Issuer and the Guarantor believe that the factors described below represent the principal risks inherent 
in investing in the Notes, but the inability of the Issuer to pay interest, principal or other amounts on or in 
connection with the Notes or the inability of the Guarantor to make payments under the Guarantee may 
occur for other reasons and neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor represents that the statements below 
regarding the risks of holding the Notes and the Guarantee are exhaustive. Prospective investors should also 
read the detailed information set out elsewhere in this Prospectus and reach their own views prior to making 
any investment decision. 

RISKS RELATED TO THE GROUP 

The Group faces increased competition from other insurers which offer the same or similar products 
or services 

The Polish insurance industry is competitive with competition being based principally on price, product 
features, commission structures, administrative performance and support services.  Historically, Państwowy 
Zakład Ubezpieczeń, PZU’s legal predecessor, had a monopoly in the Polish insurance market.  As a result 
of market liberalisation and Poland's accession to the European Union, new competitors, both foreign and 
domestic, have emerged in the Polish insurance industry.  The Polish insurance market has low barriers to 
entry and is relatively large and less saturated with insurance products than the insurance industries of some 
other member states of the European Union. As a result, Poland has become an expansion territory for 
international insurance companies.  In particular, the Group currently faces increased competition in its 
motor insurance businesses from numerous insurance companies. Some of these competing insurance 
companies may achieve, or already have achieved, competitive advantages over the Group or may offer 
products at low prices which, if the Group was forced to match, would erode the Group’s profitability.  

Consumer demand, technological changes, regulatory changes and actions, access to distribution channels 
and other factors also affect competition.  Generally, if the Group is unable to offer competitive, attractive 
and innovative products and services that are also profitable, does not choose the right product offering or 
distribution strategy, fails to implement such a strategy successfully or fails to respond or successfully adapt 
to such demands and changes, it could lose market share, incur losses on some or all of its activities and 
experience lower growth.  The Group's competitive position could also be materially adversely impacted if it 
is unable to match the prices offered by its competitors or justify the higher prices by reference to an 
enhanced quality of its products and services or the scope of its insurance coverage. 

The Group is exposed to credit risks, including a significant concentration risk with respect to its 
financial institution counterparties 

The Group is exposed to the risk that its counterparties will not meet their respective obligations to the 
Group.  The risk specifically applies to issuers of securities purchased by the Group, the banks with which it 
holds excess cash and the reinsurance companies to which it cedes risk.  Third parties may default on their 
obligations to the Group due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity, economic downturns, operational failure, fraud 
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or other reasons.  Investment losses that may occur due to credit risk include actual losses from defaults, fair 
value losses due to credit rating downgrades and/or credit spread widening, or impairment write-downs. 

The Group has significant investments in Polish treasury securities which could negatively impact the 
value of the Group's investment portfolio in the event of a ratings downgrade of Poland and increase 
the risks relating to long-term asset and liability structures 

As of the date of this Prospectus, nearly all of the Group's liabilities are denominated in PLN which means 
that it needs to make significant investments in PLN denominated assets to match these liabilities.  The 
Group is subject to regulatory requirements in respect of its investment activities, including limits on 
categories of assets in which the Group may invest and caps on the Group's investments in certain assets.  
Both these factors limit the Group's opportunities to invest abroad or to invest in foreign currencies.  In the 
Polish financial markets there are currently limited investment grade securities denominated in PLN in which 
the Group may invest its assets.  As a result, at 31 December 2013, the Group's investment portfolio included 
PLN 32.7 billion of Polish treasury securities, which (together with contingent transactions) accounted for 
59.7 per cent. of the total value of its financial assets.  As of the date of this Prospectus, Poland has been 
assigned an "A" local currency credit rating by Standard & Poor's, i.e. the highest available rating for 
investment grade securities denominated in PLN.  A decrease in such credit rating may negatively impact the 
value of the Group's investment portfolio.  Additionally, an increase in the supply of treasury securities 
resulting from the Polish government's demand for debt or an increase in the volume of sale of such 
securities by investors, may negatively affect the price of such securities.  Given the size of the Group's 
portfolio of Polish treasury securities, an attempt by the Group or other large investors to sell all or a large 
portion of such securities could adversely affect their price.  It could also negatively impact the liquidity of 
the Polish treasury securities' market. 

The Group may be unable to implement its strategy 

The Group's strategy focuses on maintaining its position as a leader in the Polish market for insurance 
products and services and on achieving attractive returns for its shareholders, see "Description of the Group - 
Strategy").  Implementation of the strategy is contingent upon a range of factors that are beyond the Group's 
control, including, in particular, market conditions, the general business environment, legal regulations, 
including regulatory actions, and the activities of its main competitors.  Any failure by the Group to retain its 
leadership position in the Polish insurance market could materially reduce its attractiveness to existing and 
potential new customers, could damage its credit ratings and could result in increased costs or reduced 
revenue as the Group seeks to regain lost market share.  Moreover, given the Group's desire to expand into 
the healthcare sector through both writing healthcare policies and owning and managing outpatient and 
diagnostic clinics, the Group will be faced with new challenges which will require new skillsets and 
appropriate law changes.  A failure to gain these skillsets or to meet these challenges could hinder the 
implementation of the Group's strategy. 

The group life insurance business of PZU Życie is heavily dependent on individuals assigned by 
corporate customers to perform certain technical services with respect to the insurance portfolio 
which could be prevented or restricted as a result of a change of laws or their interpretation 

In the group life insurance segment, PZU Życie cooperates with approximately 80,000 individuals employed 
by the companies to which the group life insurance is offered.  These individuals perform certain technical 
services relating to the insurance products.  They also conduct market research, customer satisfaction surveys 
and serve as a first point of contact with PZU Życie for the insured employees. 

Any change in applicable laws, or in their interpretation which prevents or restricts these individuals from 
cooperating with PZU Życie in the group life insurance segment could have a material adverse effect on the 
Group's business, revenues, results of operations or financial condition. 



   
   
 

   
12  

 

Any failure to act with complete integrity or to protect the confidentiality of customer information 
could adversely affect the Group's reputation 

The Group's operations depend on it displaying a high level of integrity and obtaining the trust and the 
confidence of its customers.  Any mismanagement, fraud or negative publicity resulting from the Group's 
activities, or any accusation of misconduct by a third party in relation to the Group's activities, even if 
unfounded, could result in the Group losing current policyholders, subject the Group to closer scrutiny from 
regulators than would otherwise be the case, increase the Group's cost of borrowing, including in debt capital 
markets transactions, or adversely affect the Group's ability to obtain reinsurance or to obtain reasonable 
pricing on reinsurance.  In addition, reputational risks affecting individual group companies may impact the 
Group as a whole.  Further, if, for any reason, any of the Group's business partners suffers reputational 
damage, this could also negatively impact the Group's image and subsequently lead to loss of customers and 
market share.  

The Group's businesses and relationships with customers are also dependent upon its ability to maintain the 
confidentiality of its own and its customers' trade secrets and confidential information (including customer 
transactional data and personal data about the Group's employees and customers).  In most of the 
jurisdictions in which the Group operates, governments have established rules protecting the privacy and 
security of personal information.  Certain of the Group's employees and contractors and many sales 
representatives of the Group's intermediaries have access to and routinely process personal information of 
customers through a variety of media, including the internet and software applications.  The Group relies on 
various internal processes and controls to protect the confidentiality of its customer information that is 
accessible to, or in the possession of, the Group's employees, contractors and sales representatives.  It is 
possible that an employee, contractor or sales representative could, intentionally or unintentionally, disclose 
or misappropriate confidential customer information.  If the Group fails to maintain adequate internal 
controls or if its employees, contractors or sales representatives fail to comply with the Group's policies and 
procedures, intentional or unintentional inappropriate disclosure or misuse of customer information could 
occur.  Such internal control inadequacies or non-compliance could materially damage the Group's 
reputation with its customers, business partners, supervisors and shareholders.   

The Group's operations are dependent on the proper functioning of its IT systems 

The Group depends on its information technology (“IT”) systems to process a large number of transactions 
on an accurate and timely basis, and to store and process substantially all of the Group's business and 
operating data. The proper functioning of the Group's insurance handling, customer data, policies, claims and 
payment records, financial control, risk management, accounting and other information technology systems, 
as well as the communication networks between its subsidiaries and main data processing centres, are critical 
to the Group's business and ability to compete effectively. The Group's business activities would be 
materially disrupted if there is a partial or complete failure of any of these IT systems or communications 
networks. Such failures can be caused by a variety of factors, many of which are wholly or partially outside 
the Group's control including natural disasters, extended power outages, cyber-attacks, computer viruses and 
system malfunctions. The proper functioning of the Group's IT systems also depends on accurate and reliable 
data and other system input, which are subject to human errors. Any failure or delay in recording or 
processing the Group's transaction data could subject it to claims for losses and regulatory fines and penalties 
and could also materially adversely impact its reputation. The Group has implemented and tested business 
continuity plans and processes as well as disaster recovery procedures, but there can be no assurance that 
these safeguards will be fully effective and any failure may have a material adverse effect on the Group's 
business and reputation. The Group is also reliant on its IT suppliers to support the operation of its IT 
infrastructure and externally purchased software and on the continuing operation and its ability to upgrade as 
required its internally-developed software. 
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The Group depends on its ability to recruit and develop appropriately qualified employees and senior 
management  

The Group's success and ability to maintain current business levels and sustain growth will depend, in part, 
on its ability to continue to recruit and retain qualified and experienced insurance and management 
personnel. The market for such personnel in Poland is intensely competitive and the Group could face 
challenges in recruiting and retaining such personnel to manage its businesses. 

The Group also depends on the efforts, skill, reputation and experience of its senior management. If the 
Group were to unexpectedly lose the services of some or all members of its senior management team, the 
strategy of the Group and its business could be adversely affected. 

Given the position of the Group in the Polish insurance sector, the importance of senior management to the 
operation of the Group and the high profile status of the Group's senior management in the Polish insurance 
sector, the Group's competitors are aggressive in their efforts to recruit employees and senior management of 
the Group.  Frequent changes in the senior management team may reduce its ability to implement the 
Group’s strategy effectively and may expose the Group to increased operational risk. 

Collective disputes with the Group's employees may interfere with its operations  

Some of the Group's employees are members of trade unions.  Trade unions in Poland are guaranteed the 
right to participate in and influence the legislative process in respect of labour laws and to influence 
employers, including the right to engage in individual and collective labour disputes.  In particular, trade 
unions participate in setting the terms of employment, including compensation, and may exert pressure on 
employers in a number of ways, including through collective disputes.  Furthermore, trade unions have been 
granted the right to coordinate and be consulted about certain corporate actions (including restructuring plans 
adopted by companies).  Although each member of the Group attempts to maintain good relations with its 
employees and to resolve any conflicts on an ongoing basis, it is possible that collective disputes with 
members of the Group may occur in the future.  Such collective disputes, particularly long-lasting ones, 
could materially adversely affect the Group's reputation and damage its revenue and profitability. 

The Group’s historical operating and financial results may not be indicative of its future operating 
and financial results  

The future operating and financial results of the Group will be affected a number of factors, some of which 
will be outside the Group's control or extraordinary in nature and many of which may be identified as current 
risks in these Risk Factors.  As a result, the historical operating and financial results of the Group should not 
be treated as indicative of its future operating and financial results. 

FINANCIAL MARKET RISKS AND CONDITIONS 

The effects of the global financial crisis had, and any further deterioration of the global economy may 
have, an adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of operation 

The performance of the Group is generally influenced by the condition of the global economy and, in 
particular in recent years, the crisis in the international financial markets and the decline of macroeconomic 
conditions in Europe, including Poland.  The resulting slowdown in economic growth, erosion of trust in 
financial institutions, restricted access to the interbank market and other forms of financing, increasing 
unemployment rates and declines in stock market valuations caused disruptions in financial markets 
worldwide, impacting liquidity and funding in the international banking system.  This situation had a 
significant adverse effect on the valuation of assets and capital adequacy requirements for many financial 
institutions worldwide.  As a result of the crisis, access to capital and credit markets and to other available 
forms of financing and liquidity were significantly impaired, and the cost of financing increased 
considerably.  
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While access to capital and credit markets improved markedly during 2013, including a reduction in credit 
spreads and an increase in issuance activity by corporations and financial institutions, there is a risk that 
these conditions may deteriorate if the global economy or emerging markets weaken.  Many emerging 
market currencies fell significantly against the U.S. dollar during 2013.  Ongoing volatility in emerging 
market currencies has resulted in investors retreating from riskier asset classes such as emerging market 
equities and debt.  

Impaired access to capital and credit markets combined with increased credit spreads may raise the 
Guarantor's financing costs and reduce its financial flexibility.  These developments would also create an 
unfavourable environment for the insurance sector and would be likely to adversely affect the business, 
financial condition and results of operations of the Group. 

Economic conditions in Central and Eastern Europe and any devaluation of the currencies in these 
countries could have an adverse effect on the Group's business, financial condition and results of 
operations 

The economic and financial conditions of other Central and Eastern European countries could influence the 
economic and financial conditions of Poland, and the financial assets of other Central and Eastern European 
countries may be treated as the same "asset class" as Polish financial assets by foreign investors.  As a result, 
these investors may reduce their investments in Polish financial assets due to poor economic and financial 
conditions in other Central and Eastern European countries.  Specifically, the devaluation or depreciation of 
any of the currencies in Central and Eastern Europe could also impair the strength of the PLN.   

The major source of exposure for the Group is the motor insurance business, where it pays for spare car 
parts, the majority of which are manufactured in the Eurozone.  Therefore, the depreciation of the PLN 
against the EUR causes an increase in the costs of car repairs following an accident.  Similarly, claims for 
accidents occurring outside Poland often correlate closely with fluctuations in the PLN exchange rates.  Any 
of these factors, or a combination of them, could have an adverse effect on the Group's business, financial 
condition and results of operations. 

Any negative changes in the Polish equity markets could have a material adverse effect on the Group's 
investment results 

The Group's investment portfolio is exposed to risks in the Polish equity markets.  The Group invests in 
stock listed on the Warsaw Stock Exchange through investment funds.  As of 31 December 2013, 
investments in these listed shares constituted about 5.9 per cent. of the Group's investment portfolio. Polish 
pension fund reform may increase volatility in the Polish equity market and may negatively impact the 
market in the short term. 

Fluctuations in the Polish equity market have affected, and will continue to affect, the Group's investment 
results, and consequently its profitability, as well as its capital position and sales of equity-related investment 
products.   

In addition, the Group's revenues from investment and fund management services and investment-linked life 
insurance services depend, among others, on the value of assets under management.  A decline in the equity 
markets would lead to a decrease of the value of managed assets and, therefore, a decrease in the fees 
charged by the Group for the investment services. 

Interest rate volatility could have a material adverse effect on the Group's profitability, as well as on 
the European Embedded Value 

Interest rates depend on many factors, including governmental, monetary and tax policies, domestic and 
international economic and political considerations, fiscal deficits, trade surpluses or deficits, regulatory 
requirements and other factors beyond the control of the Group. 
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A substantial proportion of the Group's debt securities portfolio comprises assets such as Polish treasury 
securities that are held-to-maturity.  Consequently, fluctuations in market interest rates do not influence the 
book value of these securities or the profit or loss of the Group.  However, fixed rate debt securities that are 
classified as available-for-sale or at fair value through profit or loss are sensitive to fluctuations in market 
interest rates.  An increase in market interest rates decreases the fair value of such securities, which in turn is 
reflected in profit or loss or comprehensive income and can negatively impact the Group’s profitability and 
financial position. 

Additionally, a prolonged decline in market interest rates could result in reduced investment returns in the 
long term as debt securities mature and are replaced with lower-yielding securities.  This factor is 
particularly important for payments in the form of annuities in the property and casualty segment and in the 
traditional life insurance segment, in particular with respect to premium-generating products, since it may 
result in the Group's assets not generating the income necessary to service these products. 

Additionally, the amount of the European Embedded Value (which is the value to shareholders of expected 
future distributable earnings arising from an insurance company's in-force business) of the Group may 
decrease or increase in the event of fluctuations in the interest rates used to estimate the European Embedded 
Value. 

Adverse capital and credit market conditions may materially adversely affect the Group's liquidity 
and its ability to obtain credit on acceptable terms  

The Group's access to financing depends on a variety of factors such as market conditions, the general 
availability of funding, the overall availability of credit to its industry, the value of its assets which may be 
used to secure loans and securities repurchase facilities, its credit ratings and credit capacity, as well as 
lenders' perception of its long- or short-term financial prospects.  In the event that the Group needs access to 
additional capital and funding to pay its operating expenses, make payments on its indebtedness, fulfil its 
solvency requirements, pay for capital expenditures or to fund acquisitions, its ability to obtain such capital 
may be limited in times of adverse credit market conditions and the cost of any such capital may be 
significant, which could adversely affect the Group's profitability and impair its business flexibility. 

Any reduction in the Group's credit rating could increase its cost of funding and adversely affect its 
interest margins 

Credit ratings affect the cost and other terms upon which the Group is able to obtain funding.  A reduction in 
the Guarantor's or PZU Życie's credit and financial strength ratings could increase the costs associated with 
the Group's interbank and capital market transactions and could adversely affect the Group's liquidity and 
competitive position, undermine confidence in the Group, increase its borrowing costs and adversely affect 
its interest margins. 

A downgrade or a potential downgrade of the Guarantor's or PZU Życie's credit rating could, among other 
factors, limit its opportunities to operate in certain business lines, adversely affect its reputation with various 
intermediaries and customers, reduce reinsurance opportunities, increase reinsurance costs and reduce 
demand for the Group's products.   

RISK RELATED TO THE INSURANCE INDUSTRY AND THE OPERATIONS OF THE GROUP 

Actual claims and benefits paid may be greater than the expected outcomes that were used in pricing 
products and in establishing provisions for such claims 

The Group's results of operations and financial condition depend upon its ability to assess accurately the 
potential losses associated with the risks that it insures.  Such an assessment must take place at the time when 
premiums are determined, after the claim has been reported and in the course of the claim development over 
time.  The establishment of technical provisions is an inherently uncertain process that depends on 
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assumptions of future events.  The level of reserves for potential claims may increase over the life of the 
insurance contracts.  For example, the number of court proceedings relating to personal injury claims has 
increased because of growing client awareness and a number of specialised law firms acting on behalf of the 
insured.  To determine technical provisions, the Group monitors its current operations against its 
assumptions and employs statistical models to update and specify more precisely its long-term assumptions.  
However, statistical methods and models may not accurately quantify the Group's risk exposure if 
circumstances arise that were not observed in the historical data or if the data otherwise prove to be 
inaccurate. The accuracy of potential loss reserve estimates is, in particular, dependent on changes in the 
overall legal framework, results of court proceedings, changes in treatment costs, repair costs, loss 
frequency, amount of loss and other factors, such as inflation or interest rate changes. Loss reserves 
estimates are also related to the amount paid in connection with claims and benefits which fluctuate over 
time. Loss reserve estimates may also need to be increased where a decrease in the market level of interest 
rates impacts the profit from assets which cover the technical provisions for the life insurance products that 
contain interest rate guarantees.  

If the figures assumed and the models used by the Group to determine premiums and establish provisions for 
actual and potential claims fail and the actual amount of claims and benefits paid exceeds the assumed value, 
the technical provisions of the Group may turn out to be insufficient, which would negatively impact its 
profitability. 

The Group's life insurance business is exposed to risks related to mortality, longevity and morbidity  

The Group's insurance business, especially in the life insurance segment, is exposed to mortality risk, or the 
risk that the insured party dies sooner than expected, longevity risk, or the risk the insured party lives longer 
than expected, and morbidity risk, or the risk that the insured party falls seriously ill or is disabled. 

Future unfavourable changes in the monitored levels of mortality, longevity, morbidity and disability may 
lead to the Group not adequately pricing its products which could result in the collection of fewer premiums 
than is necessary to cover future claims, not having reserved enough in technical provisions, and more claims 
being made and benefits paid out, all of which would have a material adverse effect on the Group's future 
profitability. 

The Group's revenue may be adversely affected by higher than expected policy lapses or surrenders 

Insurance policy lapses are of material importance to the operations of the Group especially in the life 
insurance segment.  The lapse risk in the life insurance segment is principally the risk of losing current levels 
of revenues and stability of cash flows when contracts lapse.  Additionally, the Group is also exposed to 
lapse risk in the non-life insurance business.  Such risk may increase due to the use of automatic renewals 
(automatic extension), particularly in the case of products such as motor insurance products, where there is 
no direct contact with the customer.  A material number of policy lapses or surrendered contracts may lead to 
a substantial decrease in insurance fee income and may have a material effect on the Group's gross 
premiums, fee income and results of operations. 

Reinsurance may not be available, affordable or adequate to protect the Group against losses, and 
reinsurers may default on their reinsurance obligations 

The Group is party to reinsurance agreements under which all or a part of the insured risk or groups of 
specific types of risks are transferred to reinsurance companies which assume such risks in return for a 
portion of the insurance premium.  The Group's most important reinsurance contracts are non-proportional 
excess of loss treaties which protect the Group against substantial individual losses and accumulation of risks 
from catastrophes such as floods and windstorms. 

Market conditions beyond the Group's control determine the availability and cost of reinsurance.  The Group 
may therefore be forced to incur additional expenses for reinsurance or may be unable to obtain sufficient 
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reinsurance on acceptable terms, either of which could materially adversely affect its ability to obtain future 
business and could expose it to higher levels of losses. 

Furthermore, the Group remains liable to its policyholders even where a reinsurer fails to meet its 
reinsurance obligations.  Reinsurers with whom the Group enters into reinsurance agreements may have 
difficulties in performing their obligations, which may result in increased charges to the Group.  There is no 
assurance that reinsurance agreements executed by the Group will always provide sufficient protection.  A 
default by a reinsurer to which the Group has material exposure could expose the Group to significant 
unexpected losses. 

Catastrophic events and extraordinary risks could threaten the business continuity of the Group  

The Group insures risks related to catastrophes caused by human activity, as well as natural disasters, such as 
flood, windstorm, tornado, hailstorm, frost, fire and drought.  The frequency and intensity of natural disasters 
are hard to forecast.  Additionally, changes of weather and climatic conditions in recent years have created 
greater uncertainty as to the future occurrence of catastrophic events. 

Generally, the Group's exposure to catastrophic risks depends on the frequency of such catastrophic events 
as well as the amount of claims paid in relation to them. These have increased in recent years.  If 
catastrophes damage the property protected by policies written by the Group with a significantly greater 
frequency or intensity than previously experienced, the benefits paid and the provisions created for that 
purpose may have a material adverse impact on the Group's profitability.  Moreover, depending on the terms 
of insurance and payment terms, the Group may be required to disburse such benefits over a short time span, 
which could negatively affect its cash flow. 

The Group depends on external distribution channels, including an extensive sales network 

The Group is dependent on its own agents, multi-agencies, brokers and other distributors of its products.  
The Group's relationships with its third party distributors may be adversely affected by its ability to offer 
competitive products.  The non-exclusive product distributors used by the Group can determine which 
insurance company's products they offer by assessing the characteristics and price of such products, services 
provided to the insured, the sale commission, as well as the service procedures applied to distributors and 
policyholders.  An unsatisfactory assessment of the Group and its products based on any of these factors by 
these intermediaries could result in both the Group and its products not being actively marketed which would 
negatively impact its revenue and market shares.  The Group competes with other insurers and financial 
institutions to attract and retain commercial relationships with third party distributors.  Additionally, the 
exclusive distributors that offer the Group's products and services may decide to start cooperating with other 
insurance companies, ending the relationship with the Group or changing the cooperation with the Group to 
a non-exclusive one.  If the Group's relationships with key distributors deteriorate, it may be unable to secure 
alternative, equally cost-effective distribution channels, which could also increase its costs and negatively 
affect its business. 

The growing importance of the internet and social media is likely to have an impact on the distribution 
of insurance policies and the Group may not be able to adapt as successfully as its competitors to the 
changing business environment 

Traditionally, insurance products have been distributed through intermediaries in face-to-face transactions.  
However, the increasing use of the internet, smart phones and social media is changing the way customers 
and insurance companies interact.  When purchasing insurance products, a growing number of customers 
move between different distribution channels.  For instance, customers generally use the internet to gather 
information about the products and seek personal advice when purchasing the policy itself.  For such "hybrid 
customers", an agent plays a much less important role compared with a more traditional customer.  
Moreover, the Group expects customers to increasingly seek direct sales of insurance products through the 
internet, i.e. without the use of an intermediary.  These new market trends are likely to have a significant 
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effect on the distribution of insurance products in the future. If the Group is less successful than its 
competitors in adapting its business strategy to the changing environment, this may adversely affect its 
revenue, reputation and market shares. 

The Group's business operations and risk management require complex models and significant 
management assumptions, which may prove to be inaccurate over time 

The Group's business operations and risk management require complex models under which it needs to 
properly reflect the value of its business and an adequate allowance for risks associated with it. This includes 
a constant assessment of numerous factors, such as the long-term development of interest rates, investment 
returns, the allocation of investments between equity, fixed income and other categories, policyholder 
interest and crediting rates (some of which are guaranteed) and the overall approach to policyholder 
participation, mortality and morbidity rates, policyholder lapses and future expense levels. The Group 
monitors its actual experience regarding these assumptions and to the extent that it considers that this 
experience may not continue in the longer term, it refines its long-term assumptions. 

The actuarial practices and assumptions listed above are, among other factors, the basis for (i) its “best 
estimate” actuarial assumptions under IFRS liability adequacy testing, (ii) capital requirements under 
applicable regulations and (iii) the calculation of insurance premiums and reserves. In each of these cases the 
Group must rely on its own assumptions and estimates when operating its risk analysis and risk management 
systems. The assumptions used may differ from actual developments in the future. Adjustments in such 
assumptions may have to be made in response to revised legal and regulatory requirements, changing 
financial markets or expected future actuarial experience, which may lead to changes in the Group's solvency 
position as well as the accounting of, and reserves required for, the Group's insurance operations. 

Certain risks faced by the Group are non-hedgeable and even with hedgeable risks there is a residual risk that 
the hedging arrangements concluded by the Group do not or only partially mitigate such risks. 

The Group's internal controls may not be sufficient in certain circumstances to adequately monitor 
the size and type of operations carried out by the Group 

Operational risk and losses can result from fraud, errors by employees, failure to document transactions 
properly or to obtain proper internal authorisation, failure to comply with regulatory requirements and 
conduct of business rules, systems and equipment failures, natural disasters or the failure of external systems 
(for example, those of the Group's counterparties or vendors). The Group has implemented risk controls and 
loss mitigation strategies, and substantial resources are devoted to developing efficient procedures and to 
staff training, but it is not possible to eliminate entirely each of the potential operational risks the Group 
faces. Losses from the failure of the Group's system of internal controls could have a material adverse effect 
on its business, financial condition, results of operations and prospects and could materially adversely affect 
its reputation.  

The Group's internal control system may be less developed in certain respects than those of insurance 
companies of a similar size located in other markets. As the Group expands its operations and seeks 
additional development opportunities, it will also need to enhance its internal control system to reflect the 
demands of the size of the Group and its business activities, and this could result in significant costs and 
potential operational disruption. 

The Group is exposed to failures in its risk management systems 

In common with all financial companies, the Group has a sophisticated risk management system in place.  
However, these systems may not be sufficient to prevent all risks occurring. The Group manages risk partly 
through the use of observed historical market behaviour and statistics based on historical models. These 
methods may not fully predict future risk exposures, which may be significantly greater than the Group's 
historical measures indicate. Other risk management methods depend upon the evaluation of information 
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regarding markets, clients, catastrophe occurrence or other available information. This information may not 
always be accurate, complete, up-to-date or properly evaluated. In addition, certain risks could be greater 
than the Group's empirical data would otherwise indicate any deficiency in the Group's risk management 
systems could materially adversely affect its reputation, results of operations, financial condition and cash 
flows. 

The Group may not be able to complete and manage future acquisitions effectively 

As part of the Group's growth strategy, the Group may seek to acquire other companies.  For example, in 
April 2014, the Group announced that it had agreed to acquire certain RSA Insurance Group companies in 
Poland and in the Baltic States and, in May 2014, the Group acquired two companies engaged in the medical 
field from PKN Orlen and Anwil. There is no guarantee that the Group will be able to identify attractive 
targets in the future or that it will be able to acquire them on favourable terms or at all.   

Significant acquisitions involve a number of risks that could adversely impact the Group, including: 

 diversion of management attention and financial resources that would otherwise be available for the 
ongoing development or expansion of existing operations; 

 difficulties in integrating the operations and personnel of the acquired business, including 
unexpected losses of key employees and clients of the acquired operations; 

 difficulties in integrating the financial, technological and management standards, processes, 
procedures and controls of the acquired business with those of the Group's existing operations; 

 difficulties in realising the anticipated benefits of the acquisition, such as eliminating duplicative 
costs and reducing overheads; 

 challenges in managing the increased scope, geographic diversity and complexity of the Group's 
operations; 

 exposure to unanticipated liabilities and/or difficulties in mitigating contingent and/or assumed 
liabilities; and 

 the lapse of acquired insurance and reinsurance policies. 

In addition, although the Group conducts due diligence prior to announcing any acquisition, the due 
diligence process may fail to identify certain liabilities or unprofitable lines of business or to otherwise 
adequately evaluate the business to be acquired.  

If the Group is unable to integrate future acquisitions, it may be unable to generate sufficient revenues to re-
cover acquisition costs or may otherwise fail to realise anticipated benefits from acquisitions.  Significant 
issues with the integration of a newly acquired entity might lead to regulatory fines or orders given the high 
level of regulatory scrutiny in the insurance industry.   

The State Treasury, PZU's main shareholder, may influence actions, such as high dividend 
distributions, which benefit shareholders at the expense of creditors 

The State Treasury owns 35.19 per cent of PZU's shares and has a significant influence on PZU and the 
Group due to the fragmentation of PZU's shareholder base and the limitations which are imposed on the 
voting rights of shareholders other than the State Treasury. These are set out in the PZU's statute and 
described under "Description of the Group – Major Shareholders". The State Treasury is able to exert 
considerable influence over the appointment of the supervisory board and the management board of PZU and 
may take actions that favour the interests of shareholders of PZU over those of the Group’s creditors. The 
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State Treasury is also able to block certain resolutions from being passed, which may lead to conflicts with 
other shareholders. 

The dividend payout ratio on PZU's shares amounted to 91.3 per cent of PZU's statutory net profit for 2013 
and 99.4 per cent of PZU's statutory net profit for 2012.  The total dividend expected to be paid out for 2013 
is PLN 4.7 billion and is higher than the Group's consolidated net profit for 2013 which was PLN 3.3 billion.  
According to the “PZU Group capital and dividend policy for 2013-2015” it is also possible that the Group 
will distribute dividends in excess of its consolidated net profit in the coming years, in particular if PZU 
successfully completes a subordinated note issuance.  

Dividends distributed from PZU’s reserve capital which might be significantly higher than the net profits 
generated by it in future periods could weaken the capital strength of the Group, reduce its cash flow and 
impact the Group's ability to repay its debt. 

REGULATORY RISKS 

PZU and PZU Życie are subject to minimum solvency and other capital requirements as well as 
requirements with respect to assets backing technical provisions  

Each of PZU and PZU Życie is required to maintain levels of capital and to comply with a number of 
regulatory requirements relating to its solvency and reporting bases.  The Act dated 22 May 2003 on 
Insurance Activity (the “Insurance Act”) requires an insurance company with its registered office in Poland 
to maintain its own funds at a level not lower than the solvency margin and not lower than the guarantee 
capital. 

The Solvency II Directive was adopted on 25 November 2009 and its regulations must be implemented in 
each Member State and be effective from 1 January 2016.  Pursuant to this new regime, insurers and 
reinsurers (apart from very small firms) will need to apply more risk-sensitive standards to capital 
requirements, and the insurance regulation is to be brought more closely in line with the banking and security 
regulations with a view to avoiding regulatory arbitrage.  Additionally, the aim of Solvency II is to align 
regulatory capital with economic capital and bring about an enhanced degree of public disclosure. 

It is still uncertain how the Solvency II rules will be introduced to the Polish legal system and the manner in 
which these rules will be implemented.  The Group therefore cannot predict the exact impact that the rules 
will have on the Group, its business, capital requirements, financial condition, key capital management risk 
or results of operations. 

PZU and PZU Życie may be required to raise additional capital in the future to maintain their capital 
requirements above the minimum-required levels, including new levels required as a result of the 
implementation of Solvency II.  The Group cannot be sure that it will be able to obtain such capital on 
favourable terms in a timely manner or at all.  If the Group fails to obtain necessary financing and fails to 
maintain the minimum solvency margins and other capital requirements, this could result in administrative 
sanctions which would increase the Group's operating costs, loss of reputation, and, ultimately, the potential 
failure of the Group. 

Proposed revisions to the Insurance Mediation Directive could increase the Group's costs and impact 
its ability to distribute its products 

On 3 July 2012, the European Commission published proposals for a revision of the Insurance Mediation 
Directive (“IMD2”).  The key proposal is a mandatory disclosure requirement obliging insurance 
intermediaries to disclose to their customers the nature and amount of remuneration they receive, including 
any contingent commissions, or if the full amount of remuneration cannot be calculated, the basis of its 
calculation.  Further, the proposals for IMD2 will extend the scope of the current Insurance Mediation 
Directive to cover direct sales by insurance and reinsurance companies without the use of an intermediary.  
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Insurers carrying out direct sales will be required to comply with information and disclosure requirements 
and certain conduct of business rules including a general obligation to act honestly, fairly and professionally 
in accordance with the customer's best interests.  In the case of the sale of bundled products, the insurance 
company will have to inform customers that they can purchase the components of the package separately and 
to provide information about the costs of each component when purchased separately.  In addition, the 
proposals set out stricter requirements for the sale of life insurance investment products, for example, an 
obligation to identify and disclose conflicts of interest and to gather information from customers to assess the 
appropriateness of the product.  

The proposed revisions to the IMD2, if adopted, are likely to have a significant effect on the European 
insurance market. In particular, they will increase the Group's compliance obligations regarding direct sales 
and so could raise the costs and complexity of the Group's direct sales procedures. 

The Group is party to a large number of court and arbitration proceedings, the outcome of which is 
uncertain 

As of 31 March 2014, the Group was party to approximately 66,845 court and arbitration proceedings, the 
total aggregate value of such claims being PLN 2.7 billion.  These disputes mainly relate to insurance claims 
for which the Group recognised technical provisions. Additionally, there are disputes connected with 
performance under contractual obligations and employee disputes.  In total there are PLN 174 million 
provisions related to non-insurance cases.   The Group seeks to have such cases resolved favourably on its 
behalf but the results of such proceedings are often unpredictable and may negatively impact the Group.  
Although most of the claims against the Group are individually immaterial, if a large number of such claims 
are resolved against the Group they could, in the aggregate, materially adversely affect the Group's business, 
revenues, results of operations and financial condition. 

Violations by the Group of laws or changes in government regulations in the countries in which the 
Group operates may result in a range of sanctions and loss of reputation 

The Group is subject to a wide range of applicable legislation, including competition and anti-monopoly 
legislation at both a Polish and EU level.  The regulatory bodies supervising the activity of the Group's 
companies enjoy broad supervisory powers and freedom when making their decisions.  In the period 
following the global financial crisis, a wide range of new regulations affecting European financial 
institutions (including insurance companies) have been announced (and in some cases implemented) and 
regulators in the European Union have generally increased significantly the intensity of their supervisory 
actions. For example, in Poland Komisja Nadzoru Finansowego (the “KNF”), the Polish financial 
supervisory authority, has proposed Regulation U which, if implemented, is likely to result, in increased 
costs for the Group and may prevent the Group from pursuing some of its business opportunities.  Should the 
Group be in breach of any current or future Polish regulations applicable to it, the imposition of fines or 
other sanctions on the Group, including a requirement to cease certain aspects of its business, could also 
increase the Group's costs and materially adversely affect its reputation.   

In addition, if a member of the Group violates the regulatory requirements in any other country in which it 
operates there is a risk that the regulatory agency in the relevant country could impose fines or issue 
injunctions against individual members of the Group and their respective managers.  Such regulatory 
requirements, prohibitions or actions undertaken by regulatory and supervisory bodies in countries where 
members of the Group operate may have an adverse effect on the current activity of the Group and, in the 
most extreme case, could lead to the termination of further business activity of the Group in the affected 
country or as a whole.  

Further, acquisitions by PZU of businesses operating in the financial services and insurance sectors may 
require specific consents issued by Polish authorities, foreign competition authorities or financial sector 
regulatory authorities.  For example, the recent acquisition of certain RSA Insurance Group companies 
requires consent from a number of regulatory bodies in Poland, Estonia, Latvia, Lithuania and Ukraine and 
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there is no guarantee that all these consents will be given.  The grant of any such consent depends, among 
other things, on the evaluation of the consequences that the relevant acquisition may have on competition in 
the relevant market.  No assurance can be given that any such consents would be granted.  If consent is 
refused for a particular acquisition, it will prevent the completion of such acquisition, result in significant 
lost costs for the Group and could restrict the Group's ability to grow.  

Interpretation of Polish laws and regulations, including in particular those relating to tax, may be 
unclear and Polish laws and regulations may change 

PZU has been established and operates under Polish law.  The Polish legal system is based on statutory law 
enacted by the Polish Parliament.  A significant number of regulations relating to the issue of and trading in 
securities, shareholders' rights, foreign investments, corporate operation and corporate governance, 
commerce, taxes and business activity have been or may be changed.  These regulations are subject to 
different interpretations and may be interpreted in an inconsistent manner.  Moreover not all court decisions 
are published in official journals and generally they are not binding in other cases and are thus of limited 
importance as legal precedents.  

The Polish tax system is also subject to frequent changes.  Some provisions of Polish tax law are ambiguous 
and often there is no unanimous or uniform interpretation of law or uniform practice by the tax authorities.  
Because of different interpretations of Polish tax law, the risk connected with Polish tax law may be greater 
than that under other tax jurisdictions in more developed markets.  

The Guarantor cannot provide assurance that its interpretation of Polish laws and regulations, including tax 
laws and regulations, will not be challenged and any successful challenge could result in fines, penalties or 
increased tax assessment or could require the Guarantor to modify its practices in a manner that negatively 
affects its business. 

The impact of anti-monopoly and pro-consumer actions may negatively impact the Group 

The Group's business must comply with regulations regarding competition and consumer protection.  The 
President of the Office of Consumer and Competition Protection (Urząd Ochrony Konkurencji i 
Konsumentów, the OCCP) may come to the conclusion that a particular action of a business entity 
constitutes a prohibited action that restricts competition and is an abuse of market position or breach of 
common consumer interests. It may prohibit any such practices or apply other sanctions provided by 
European or Polish anti-monopoly legislation, which may adversely affect the business, financial condition 
and results of operations of the Group.  

Consumer actions, including class actions, against certain life insurance companies in Poland relating to 
long-term unit-linked contracts with high liquidation fees may influence the President of the OCCP’s and 
KNF’s approach to the insurance sector and result in changes the law which could negatively impact the 
Group’s profits in the future. 

Proposals for future accounting under IFRS may cause higher capital costs and pressure on share 
prices 

Currently, the Group accounts for insurance contracts in its consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with IFRS.  The International Accounting Standards Board has announced the issue of a revised draft IFRS 
for insurance contracts.  The final standard is expected to be published in 2015.  It is also expected that 
insurance companies will have a preparatory period of three years, which means the standard is likely to 
come into effect on 1 January 2018. Based on present information, the introduction of the new standard may 
lead to substantial changes in the existing presentation, recognition and measurement methods for insurance 
contracts and may require significant and expensive changes to existing IT systems and work processes.  
Moreover, the envisaged changes in accounting may negatively affect certain existing products and could 
increase prices in direct insurance and reinsurance. 
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FACTORS THAT MAY AFFECT THE ISSUER’S ABILITY TO FULFIL ITS OBLIGATIONS 
UNDER THE NOTES  

The Issuer is a financing entity 

The Issuer is a financing entity duly incorporated and validly existing under the laws of the Kingdom of 
Sweden, having full power and capacity to own or lease its property and assets and to conduct its business as 
described in the Prospectus. The Issuer has full power and capacity to execute, enter into and to perform its 
respective obligations.  

The object of the Issuer’s business is conducting financial activities primarily through the borrowing of 
funds by way of issuance of bonds and other financial instruments to institutional and private investors and 
through the direct lending of such funds to group companies, granting credit loan facilities and loans, and 
conducting any other activities compatible therewith or to provide related services. The Issuer is not 
conducting activities that constitute operations which would require a license or permit from the Swedish 
Financial Supervisory Authority or any other company.  

The Issuer generally intends to have no business operations other than entering into financing arrangements 
(including the issuance of the Notes), lending of the proceeds to group companies including the Guarantor 
and entering into certain ancillary arrangements. The Issuer's assets will consist mainly of the Guarantor’s 
and other group companies’ obligations to repay any amounts lent to them. Therefore, the Issuer is subject to 
all risks to which the Guarantor and the Issuer’s capital group are subject, to the extent that such risks could 
limit the Guarantor's ability to repay any amounts lent to it by the Issuer and to satisfy, in full and on a timely 
basis, its obligations under or in connection with the Guarantee.  

The Issuer's centre of main interest is in the Kingdom of Sweden 

The Issuer has its registered office in the Kingdom of Sweden. As a result there is a rebuttable presumption 
that its centre of main interest (“COMI”) is in the Kingdom of Sweden and consequently that any main 
insolvency proceedings applicable to it would be governed by Swedish law. In the recent decision by 
the European Court of Justice in relation to Eurofood IFSC Limited, the European Court of Justice restated 
the presumption in Council Regulation (EC) No. 1346/200 of 29 May 2000 on insolvency proceedings that 
the place of a company's registered office is presumed to be the company's COMI and that the presumption 
can only be rebutted if factors which are both objective and ascertainable by third parties enable it to be 
established that an actual situation exists which is different from that which locating it at the registered office 
is deemed to reflect. As the Issuer has its registered office in the Kingdom of Sweden, has a Swedish 
director, is registered for tax in the Kingdom of Sweden and has a Swedish corporate services provider, 
the Issuer and the Guarantor do not believe that factors exist that would rebut this presumption, however, 
there can be no assurance a Court would agree with this presumption. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE NOTES 

New safekeeping structure 

The Issuer intends that the Notes will be registered on issue in the name of a nominee for Euroclear or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg (as defined below) as common safekeeper. This does not necessarily mean that the 
Notes will be recognised as eligible collateral for Eurosystem monetary policy and intra-day credit 
operations by the Eurosystem either upon issue or at any or all times during their life. Such recognition will 
depend upon the European Central Bank being satisfied that Eurosystem eligibility criteria have been met. 
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The structure of the Notes 

Redemption prior to maturity for taxation reasons 

In the event that the Issuer or the Guarantor would be obliged to increase the amounts payable in respect of 
the Notes due to any change in or amendment to the laws or regulations of Sweden or Poland, as the case 
may be, or any political sub-division thereof or of any authority therein or thereof having the power to tax or 
in the interpretation or administration thereof, the Issuer may redeem all outstanding Notes in accordance 
with the Conditions of the Notes. In such case, it may not be possible to reinvest the redemption proceeds at 
an effective interest rate as high as the interest rate on the Notes and this may only be possible at a 
significantly lower rate. 

The conditions of the Notes contain provisions which may permit their modification without the consent 

of all investors 

The Conditions of the Notes contain provisions for calling meetings of Noteholders to consider any matters 
relating to the Notes, including the modification of any provision of the Conditions or the Fiscal Agency 
Agreement. Any such modification may be made if sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution. Any 
Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such meeting shall be binding on all the Noteholders, whether 
present at the meeting(s) or not. The Fiscal Agent may also agree, without the consent of the Noteholders, to 
any modification of the Notes or the Fiscal Agency Agreement which is in its opinion of a formal, minor or 
technical nature or is made to correct a manifest error. Any such modification shall be binding on the 
Noteholders and, if the Fiscal Agent so requires, shall be notified to the Noteholders as soon as practicable 
thereafter, see Condition 15. 

The EU Savings Directive may result in certain holders not receiving the full amount of interest  

Under Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, Member States are required to 
provide to the tax authorities of other Member States details of certain payments of interest or similar income 
paid or secured by a person established in a Member State to or for the benefit of an individual resident in 
another Member State or certain limited types of entities established in another Member State.   

On 24 March 2014, the Council of the European Union adopted a Council Directive amending and 
broadening the scope of the requirements described above.  Member States are required to apply these new 
requirements from 1 January 2017.  The changes will expand the range of payments covered by the 
Directive, in particular to include additional types of income payable on securities.  The Directive will also 
expand the circumstances in which payments that indirectly benefit an individual resident in a Member State 
must be reported.  This approach will apply to payments made to, or secured for, persons, entities or legal 
arrangements (including trusts) where certain conditions are satisfied, and may in some cases apply where 
the person, entity or arrangement is established or effectively managed outside of the European Union. 

For a transitional period, Luxembourg and Austria are required (unless during that period they elect 
otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments.  The changes referred to above will 
broaden the types of payments subject to withholding in those Member States which still operate a 
withholding system when they are implemented.  In April 2013, the Luxembourg Government announced its 
intention to abolish the withholding system with effect from 1 January 2015, in favour of automatic 
information exchange under the Directive.  

The end of the transitional period is dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements relating to 
information exchange with certain other countries.  A number of non-EU countries and territories including 
Switzerland have adopted similar measures (a withholding system in the case of Switzerland).   

If a payment were to be made or collected through a Member State which has opted for a withholding system 
and an amount of, or in respect of, tax were to be withheld from that payment, neither the Issuer nor any 
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Paying Agent (as defined in the Conditions of the Notes) nor any other person would be obliged to pay 
additional amounts with respect to any Note as a result of the imposition of such withholding tax.  The Issuer 
is required to maintain a Paying Agent in a Member State that is not obliged to withhold or deduct tax 
pursuant to the Directive. 

The value of the Notes could be adversely affected by a change in English law or administrative 
practice 

The Conditions of the Notes are based on English law in effect as at the date of this Prospectus.  No 
assurance can be given as to the impact of any possible judicial decision or change to English law or 
administrative practice after the date of this Prospectus and any such change could materially adversely 
impact the value of the Notes. 

Investors who purchase Notes in denominations that are not an integral multiple of €100,000 may be 
adversely affected if definitive Notes are subsequently required to be issued 

The Notes have denominations consisting of a minimum of €100,000 or its equivalent plus one or more 
higher integral multiples of €1,000 or its equivalent.  It is possible that the Notes may be traded in amounts 
that are not integral multiples of €100,000 or its equivalent.  In such a case a holder who, as a result of 
trading such amounts, holds an amount which is less than €100,000 or its equivalent in his account with the 
relevant clearing system at the relevant time may not receive a definitive Note in respect of such holding 
(should definitive Notes be printed) and would need to purchase a principal amount of Notes such that its 
holding amounts to €100,000 or its equivalent. 

If definitive Notes are issued, holders should be aware that definitive Notes which have a denomination that 
is not an integral multiple of €100,000 or its equivalent may be illiquid and difficult to trade. 

RISKS RELATING TO THE MARKET GENERALLY 

An active secondary market in respect of the Notes may never be established or may be illiquid and 
this would adversely affect the value at which an investor could sell his Notes 

The Notes may have no established trading market when issued, and one may never develop. If a market 
does develop, it may not be liquid. Therefore, investors may not be able to sell their Notes easily or at prices 
that will provide them with a yield comparable to similar investments that have a developed secondary 
market. Illiquidity may have a severely adverse effect on the market value of the Notes. 

If an investor holds Notes which are not denominated in the investor's home currency, he will be 
exposed to movements in exchange rates adversely affecting the value of his holding.  In addition, the 
imposition of exchange controls in relation to any Notes could result in an investor not receiving 
payments on those Notes 

The Issuer will pay principal and interest on the Notes in euro. This presents certain risks relating to currency 
conversions if an investor’s financial activities are denominated principally in a currency or currency unit 
(the “Investor’s Currency”) other than euro. These include the risk that exchange rates may significantly 
change (including changes due to devaluation of euro or revaluation of the Investor’s Currency) and the risk 
that authorities with jurisdiction over the Investor’s Currency may impose or modify exchange controls. An 
appreciation in the value of the Investor’s Currency relative to euro would decrease (1) the Investor’s 
Currency-equivalent yield on the Notes, (2) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent value of the principal payable 
on the Notes and (3) the Investor’s Currency-equivalent market value of the Notes. 

Government and monetary authorities may impose (as some have done in the past) exchange controls that 
could adversely affect an applicable exchange rate. As a result, investors may receive less interest or 
principal than expected, or no interest or principal. 
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The value of the Notes may be adversely affected by movements in market interest rates 

Investment in the Notes involves the risk that subsequent changes in market interest rates may adversely 
affect the value of the Notes. 

Credit ratings may not reflect all risks 

The credit rating(s) assigned to the Notes at any time may not reflect the potential impact of all risks related 
to structure, market, additional factors discussed above, and other factors that may affect the value of the 
Notes. A credit rating is not a recommendation to buy, sell or hold securities and may be revised or 
withdrawn by the rating agency at any time. 

Investors to rely on the procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg for transfer, payment 
and communication with the Issuer 

The Notes may be represented by one or more Certificates. The Notes will initially be represented by the 
Global Certificate which will be issued and delivered on or prior to the Issue Date to a nominee for a 
common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. Except in the circumstances described in 
the Global Certificate, investors will not be entitled to receive individual Note Certificates. Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg will maintain records of the beneficial interests in the Global Certificate. While 
the Notes are represented by the Global Certificate, investors will be able to trade their beneficial interests 
only through Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg.   

While the Notes are represented by the Global Certificate, the Issuer will discharge its payment obligation 
under the Notes by making payments to the common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg.  A holder of a beneficial interest in the Global Certificate must rely on the procedures of 
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg to receive payments under the relevant Notes. The Issuer does not 
have any responsibility or liability for the records relating to, or payments made in respect of, beneficial 
interests in the Global Certificate. 

Holders of beneficial interests in the Global Certificate will not have a direct right to vote in respect of the 
Notes. Instead, such holders will be permitted to act only to the extent that they are enabled by Euroclear and 
Clearstream, Luxembourg to appoint appropriate proxies. 

Legal investment considerations may restrict certain investments 

The investment activities of certain investors are subject to legal investment laws and regulations, or review 
or regulation by certain authorities. Each potential investor should consult its legal advisers to determine 
whether and to what extent (1) the Notes are legal investments for it, (2) the Notes can be used as collateral 
for various types of borrowing and (3) other restrictions apply to its purchase or pledge of the Notes. 
Financial institutions should consult their legal advisors or the appropriate regulators to determine the 
appropriate treatment of the Notes under any applicable risk-based capital or similar rules. 
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TERMS AND CONDITIONS OF THE NOTES 

The following is the text of the terms and conditions of the Notes which, subject to amendment and 
completion and except for the text in italics, will be endorsed on each Definitive Note Certificate (if issued). 

The EUR 500,000,000 1.375 per cent. Guaranteed Notes due 2019 (the “Notes” , which expression 
includes any further notes issued pursuant to Condition 16 (Further Issues) and forming a single series 
therewith) of PZU Finance AB (publ) (the “Issuer”) are (a) constituted by and subject to, and have the 
benefit of, a deed of covenant dated 3 July 2014 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Deed 
of Covenant”) of the Issuer, (b) have the benefit of a deed of guarantee of Powszechny Zakład Ubezpieczeń 
S.A., (the “Guarantor”) dated 3 July 2014 (the “Deed of Guarantee”) and (c) are the subject of a fiscal 
agency agreement dated 3 July 2014 (as amended or supplemented from time to time, the “Fiscal Agency 
Agreement”) between the Issuer, the Guarantor, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch as fiscal agent (the 
“Fiscal Agent”, which expression includes any successor fiscal agent appointed from time to time in 
connection with the Notes), the other paying and transfer agents named therein (together with the Fiscal 
Agent, the “Agents”, which expression includes any successor or additional paying and transfer agents 
appointed from time to time in connection with the Notes) and Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A., in its 
capacity as Registrar (the “Registrar”, which expression shall include any successor registrar appointed 
from time to time in connection with the Notes). 

Certain provisions of these Conditions are summaries of the Fiscal Agency Agreement and are subject to 
their detailed provisions. The Noteholders are bound by, and are deemed to have notice of all the provisions 
of the Fiscal Agency Agreement applicable to them. Copies of the Fiscal Agency Agreement are available 
for inspection during normal business hours at the Specified Offices (as defined in the Fiscal Agency 
Agreement) of the Agents. References to “Conditions” are, unless the context otherwise requires, to the 
numbered paragraphs of these terms and conditions. 

1. Form, Denomination and Title 

(a) Form and denomination. The Notes are in registered form, serially numbered. 

The Notes will be issued in minimum denominations of EUR 100,000 and integral multiples 
of EUR 1,000 in excess thereof (each, an “Authorised Holding”). 

(b) Title. Title to the Notes will pass by transfer and registration as described in Conditions 2 
(Registration) and 3 (Transfer of Notes). The holder (as defined below) of any Note will 
(except as otherwise required by law or as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction) be 
treated as its absolute owner for all purposes whether or not it is overdue and regardless of 
any notice of ownership, trust or any other interest in it, any writing on the Certificate 
representing it by any Person (as defined below) (other than a duly executed transfer thereof 
in the form endorsed thereon) or any notice of any previous theft or loss thereof; and no 
Person will be liable for so treating the holder. 

In these Conditions, “Person” means any individual, company, corporation, firm, 
partnership, joint venture, association, unincorporated organisation, trust or other judicial 
entity, including, without limitation, any state or agency of a state or other entity, whether or 
not having separate legal personality, “Noteholder” or “holder” means the Person in whose 
name a Note is for the time being registered in the Register (as defined below) (or, in the 
case of joint holders, the first named thereof) and “holders” shall be construed accordingly. 

A certificate in definitive form (a “Definitive Note Certificate”) will be issued to each 
Noteholder in respect of its registered holding. 
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The Notes are intended to be issued under the new safekeeping structure and will be 
represented by a global note certificate (the “Global Note Certificate”, and together with 
the Definitive Note Certificates, the “Certificates”), interests in which will be exchangeable 
for Definitive Note Certificates in the circumstances specified in the Global Note Certificate. 
The Global Note Certificate will be deposited with, and registered in the name of a nominee 
for, a common safekeeper for Euroclear Bank SA/NV (“Euroclear”) and Clearstream 
Banking, société anonyme (“Clearstream, Luxembourg”). 

(c) Third party rights. No Person shall have any right to enforce any term or condition of the 
Notes under the Contracts (Rights of Third Parties) Act 1999.  

2. Registration 

The Issuer will cause a register (the “Register”) to be kept at the Specified Office of the Registrar in 
which will be entered the names and addresses of the holders of the Notes and the particulars of the 
Notes held by them and all transfers and redemptions of the Notes. 

3. Transfer of Notes 

(a) Transfer. Each Note may, subject to the terms of the Fiscal Agency Agreement and to 
Conditions 3(b) (Formalities Free of Charge), 3(c) (Closed Periods) and 3(e) (Regulations 
Concerning Transfer and Registration), be transferred in whole or in part in an Authorised 
Holding by lodging the relevant Definitive Note Certificate (with the endorsed form of 
application for transfer in respect thereof duly executed and duly stamped where applicable) 
at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Paying and Transfer Agent. A Note may be 
registered only in the name of, and transferred only to, a named person or persons. No 
transfer of a Note will be valid unless and until entered on the Register. 

The Registrar will within five Business Days (as defined below) of any duly made 
application for the transfer of a Note, register the transfer and deliver a new Definitive Note 
Certificate to the transferee (and, in the case of a transfer of part only of a Note, deliver a 
Definitive Note Certificate for the untransferred balance to the transferor), at the Specified 
Office of the Registrar, or (at the risk and, if mailed at the request of the transferee or, as the 
case may be, the transferor otherwise than by ordinary mail, at the expense of the transferee 
or, as the case may be, the transferor) mail the Definitive Note Certificate by uninsured mail 
to such address as the transferee or, as the case may be, the transferor may request. 

(b) Formalities Free of Charge. Such transfer will be effected without charge subject to (i) the 
person making such application for transfer paying or procuring the payment of any taxes, 
duties and other governmental charges in connection therewith, (ii) the Registrar being 
satisfied with the documents of title and/or identity of the person making the application and 
(iii) such reasonable regulations as the Issuer may from time to time agree with the 
Registrar. 

(c) Closed Periods. Neither the Issuer nor the Registrar will be required to register the transfer 
of any Note (or part thereof) during the period of 15 days immediately prior to the due date 
for any payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes. 

(d) Business Day. In these Conditions, “Business Day” means a day (other than a Saturday or 
Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are 
open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency 
deposits) in both a day on which the Trans European Automated Real Time Gross 
Settlement Express Transfer (TARGET) System (the “TARGET System”) of any successor 
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system is open and the city in which the Specified Office of the Registrar or, as the case may 
be, the Principal Paying and Transfer Agent is located. 

(e) Regulations Concerning Transfer and Registration. All transfers of Notes and entries on 
the Register will be made subject to the detailed regulations concerning transfer of Notes in 
Schedule 1 to the Fiscal Agency Agreement. The regulations may be changed by the Issuer 
with the approval of the Registrar (such approval not to be unreasonably withheld or 
delayed). 

(f) Authorised Holdings. No Note may be transferred unless the principal amount of Notes 
transferred and (where not all of the Notes held by a holder are being transferred) the 
principal amount of the balance of the Notes not transferred are Authorised Holdings. 

4. Status and Guarantee 

(a) The Notes constitute direct, general, unconditional and (subject to Condition 5 (Negative 
Pledge)) unsecured obligations of the Issuer. The Notes will at all times rank pari passu 
among themselves and at least pari passu in right of payment with all other present and 
future unsecured obligations of the Issuer, save for such obligations as may be preferred by 
provisions of law that are both mandatory and of general application. 

(b) The Guarantor has, in the Deed of Guarantee, unconditionally and irrevocably guaranteed 
the due and punctual payment of all sums from time to time payable by the Issuer in respect 
of the Notes. The guarantee (the “Guarantee”) constitutes a direct, general, unconditional 
and (subject to Condition 5 (Negative Pledge)) unsecured obligation of the Guarantor which 
will at all times rank at least pari passu with all other present and future unsecured 
obligations of the Guarantor, save for such obligations as may be preferred by provisions of 
law that are both mandatory and of general application. 

5. Negative Pledge 

So long as any Note remains outstanding (as defined in the Fiscal Agency Agreement) neither the 
Issuer nor the Guarantor shall, and the Guarantor shall procure that none of its Material Subsidiaries 
shall, create or permit to subsist any Security Interest upon the whole or any part of its present or 
future undertaking, assets or revenues (including uncalled capital) to secure any Relevant 
Indebtedness or any guarantee of any Relevant Indebtedness without at the same time or prior 
thereto securing the Notes equally and rateably therewith or providing such other security for the 
Notes as may be approved by an Extraordinary Resolution (as defined in the Fiscal Agency 
Agreement) of Noteholders. 

6. Definitions 

For the purposes of these Conditions: 

“Group” means the Guarantor and its consolidated Subsidiaries from time to time taken as a whole 
and a member of the Group means the Guarantor or any of its consolidated Subsidiaries from time to 
time; 

“Indebtedness for Borrowed Money” means any indebtedness of any Person for or in respect of: 

(a) moneys borrowed; 

(b) amounts raised by acceptance under any acceptance credit facility; 
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(c) amounts raised pursuant to any note purchase facility or the issue of bonds, notes, 
debentures, loan stock or similar instruments; 

(d) the amount of any liability in respect of leases or hire purchase contracts which would, in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, be treated as finance or capital 
leases; 

(e) the amount of any liability in respect of any purchase price for assets or services the 
payment of which is deferred primarily as a means of raising finance or financing the 
acquisition of the relevant asset or service; 

(f) amounts raised under any other transaction (including any forward sale or purchase 
agreement and the sale of receivables or other assets on a “with recourse” basis) having the 
commercial effect of a borrowing; 

(g) any derivative transaction entered into in connection with protection against or benefit from 
fluctuation in any rate or price (and, when calculating the value of any derivative 
transaction, only the mark to market value shall be taken into account); and 

(h) any counter indemnity obligation in respect of any guarantee, indemnity, bond, standby or 
documentary letter of credit or any other instrument issued by a bank or financial institution.  

the amount of any liability in respect of any guarantee or indemnity for any of the items referred to 
in paragraphs (a) to (h) above; 

“Material Subsidiary” means at any relevant time a subsidiary of the Guarantor: 

(a) whose consolidated total assets (excluding intercompany loans, intercompany payables, 
intercompany receivables and intercompany unrealised gains and losses in inventories) 
represent not less than 10 per cent. of the total consolidated assets of the Guarantor, or 
whose gross consolidated revenues (excluding intercompany revenues) or operating income 
represent not less than 10 per cent. of the consolidated gross premiums or consolidated 
technical reserves of the Guarantor, (determined by reference to the most recent publicly 
available annual or interim financial statements of the Guarantor prepared in accordance 
with IFRS and the latest financial statements of the Subsidiary determined in accordance 
with IFRS); or 

(b) to which is transferred all or substantially all the assets and undertakings of a Subsidiary 
which immediately prior to such transfer is a Material Subsidiary, 

provided that if a Subsidiary has been acquired since the date as at which the latest audited 
consolidated financial statements of the Group were prepared, the financial statements shall be 
adjusted in order to take into account the acquisition of that Subsidiary (that adjustment being 
certified by the Group’s auditor as representing an accurate reflection of the revised consolidated 
gross premiums or consolidated technical reserves or consolidated total assets (as the case may be) 
of the Group), provided, however, that if there is a dispute, unresolved for a period of at least 30 
days, as to whether or not a member of the Group is a Material Subsidiary, a certificate of the 
Group’s auditor as to whether a Subsidiary is or is not a Material Subsidiary shall, in the absence of 
manifest error, be conclusive and binding on all parties; 

“Permitted Restructuring” means: 

(i) any disposal by any Material Subsidiary (other than the Issuer) of all or any part of its 
business, undertaking or assets, on an arm's length basis, to the Guarantor or any other 
(directly or indirectly) wholly owned Subsidiary of the Guarantor; 
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(ii) any solvent amalgamation, consolidation or merger of a Material Subsidiary (other than the 
Issuer) with the Guarantor or any other (directly or indirectly) wholly owned Subsidiary of 
the Guarantor; or  

(iii) any amalgamation, consolidation, restructuring, merger or reorganisation on terms 
previously approved by an Extraordinary Resolution. 

“Relevant Indebtedness” means any present or future indebtedness (whether being principal, 
premium or other amounts) which is in the form of or represented by any bond, note, debenture, 
debenture stock, loan stock, certificate or other instrument which is, or is capable of being, listed, 
quoted or traded on any stock exchange or in any securities market (including, without limitation, 
any over the counter market) (and includes for the purposes of these Conditions any guarantee or 
indemnity in respect of any such indebtedness or any arrangement having a similar effect);  

“Security Interest” means any mortgage, charge, pledge, lien or other security interest including, 
without limitation, anything analogous to any of the foregoing under the laws of any jurisdiction; 
and 

“Subsidiary” means, in relation to any Person (the “first Person”) at any particular time, any other 
Person (the “second Person”): (i) whose affairs and policies the first Person controls or has the 
power to control, whether by ownership of share capital, contract, the power to appoint or remove 
members of the governing body of the second person or otherwise; or (ii) whose financial statements 
are, in accordance with applicable law and IFRS, consolidated with those of the first Person. 

7. Interest 

(a) Interest Accrual. Each Note bears interest from 3 July 2014 (the “Issue Date”) at the rate 
of 1.375 per cent. per annum payable annually in arrear on 3 July in each year (each, an 
“Interest Payment Date”), subject as provided in Condition 8 (Payments). Each period 
beginning on (and including) the Issue Date or any Interest Payment Date and ending on 
(but excluding) the next Interest Payment Date is herein called an “Interest Period”. 

(b) Cessation of Interest. Each Note will cease to bear interest from the due date for final 
redemption unless, upon due surrender of the relevant Note, payment of principal is 
improperly withheld or refused. In such case it will continue to bear interest at such rate 
(after as well as before judgment) until whichever is the earlier of (i) the day on which all 
sums due in respect of such Note up to that day are received by or on behalf of the relevant 
Noteholder and (ii) the day which is seven days after the Fiscal Agent has notified the 
Noteholders that it has received all sums due in respect of the Notes up to such seventh day 
(except to the extent that there is any subsequent default in payment) in accordance with 
Condition 15 (Notices). 

(c) Calculation of Interest. Where interest is to be calculated in respect of a period which is 
equal to or shorter than an Interest Period, the day count fraction applied to calculate the 
amount of interest payable in respect of each Note shall be the number of days in the 
relevant period from (and including) the date from which interest begins to accrue to (but 
excluding) the date on which it falls due, divided by the number of days in the Interest 
Period in which the relevant period falls (including the first such day but excluding the last). 

The determination of the amount of interest payable under Conditions 7(c) (Calculation of Interest) 
by the Principal Paying and Transfer Agent shall, in the absence of manifest and proven error, be 
binding on all parties. 
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8. Payments 

(a) Principal. Payment of principal in respect of each Note and payment of interest due other 
than on an Interest Payment Date will be made to the person shown in the Register at the 
close of business on the Record Date (as defined below) and subject to the surrender (or, in 
the case of part payment only, endorsement) of the relevant Definitive Note Certificate at the 
Specified Office of the Registrar or of the Paying and Transfer Agents. 

(b) Interest and other Amounts. Payments of interest due on an Interest Payment Date will be 
made to the persons shown in the Register at close of business on the Record Date. 

(c) Record Date. “Record Date” means the fifteenth day before the due date for the relevant 
payment. 

(d) Payments. Each payment in respect of the Notes pursuant to Conditions 8(a) (Principal) and 
(b) (Interest and other Amounts) will be made by Euro cheque drawn on a branch of a bank 
in the principal financial centre of any member state of the European Union mailed to the 
holder of the relevant Note at his address appearing in the Register. However, upon 
application by the holder to the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Paying and Transfer 
Agent not less than 15 days before the due date for any payment in respect of a Note, such 
payment may be made by transfer to a Euro account maintained by the payee with a bank in 
the principal financial centre of any member state of the European Union. 

Where payment is to be made by cheque, the cheque will be mailed, on the business day 
preceding the due date for payment or, in the case of payments referred to in 8(a) 
(Principal), if later, on the business day on which the relevant Definitive Note Certificate is 
surrendered (or endorsed as the case may be) as specified in Condition 8(a) (Principal) (at 
the risk and, if mailed at the request of the holder otherwise than by ordinary mail, expense 
of the holder). 

Where payment is to be made by transfer to a Euro account, payment instructions (for value 
the due date, or, if the due date is not a business day, for value the next succeeding business 
day) will be initiated, in the case of principal, on the later of the due date for payment and 
the day on which the relevant Definitive Note Certificate is surrendered (or, in the case of 
part payment only, endorsed) and, in the case of interest and other amounts on the due date 
for payment. 

(e) Agents. The names of the initial Paying and Transfer Agents and Registrar and their 
Specified Offices are set out below. The Issuer and the Guarantor reserve the right under the 
Fiscal Agency Agreement by giving to the relevant Agent concerned at least 60 days’ prior 
written notice, which notice shall expire at least 30 days before or after any due date for 
payment in respect of the Notes, to vary or terminate the appointment of/remove any Agent 
or the Registrar and to appoint successor or additional Agents or another Registrar, provided 
that it will at all times maintain: 

(i) a Fiscal Agent; 

(ii) a Paying and Transfer Agent with a Specified Office in a European Union member 
state that will not be obliged to withhold or deduct tax pursuant to European Union 
Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income in the form of 
interest payments or any law implementing or complying with, or introduced in 
order to conform to, such Directive; and 
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(iii) a Paying and Transfer Agent in a jurisdiction other than the Kingdom of Sweden 
(“Sweden”) or the Republic of Poland (“Poland”); and 

(iv) a Registrar. 

Notice of any such removal or appointment and of any change in the Specified Office of any 
Agent or Registrar will be given to Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) 
as soon as practicable. 

(f) Payments subject to Fiscal Laws. All payments in respect of the Notes are subject in all 
cases to any applicable fiscal or other laws and regulations in the place of payment, but 
without prejudice to the provisions of Condition 10 (Taxation). No commissions or expenses 
shall be charged to the Noteholders in respect of such payments. 

(g) Delay in Payment. Noteholders will not be entitled to any interest or other payment in 
respect of any delay in payment resulting from (i) the due date for payment not being a 
business day or (ii) a cheque mailed in accordance with this Condition 8 (Payments) arriving 
after the due date for payment or being lost in the mail. 

(h) Business Days. In this Condition, “business day” means any day (other than a Saturday or 
Sunday) on which commercial banks and foreign exchange markets settle payments and are 
open for general business (including dealing in foreign exchange and foreign currency 
deposits) in a day on which the TARGET System is open and, in the case of surrender of a 
Definitive Note Certificate, in the place of the Specified Office of the Registrar or relevant 
Paying and Transfer Agent, to whom the relevant Definitive Note Certificate is surrendered. 

9. Redemption and Purchase 

(a) Scheduled redemption. Unless previously redeemed or purchased and cancelled as provided 
below, each Note will be redeemed at its principal amount on 3 July 2019, subject as 
provided in Condition 8 (Payments). 

(b) Redemption for Taxation Reasons. The Notes may be redeemed at the option of the Issuer 
in whole, but not in part, at any time, on giving not less than 30 nor more than 60 days’ 
notice to the Noteholders in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) (which notice shall be 
irrevocable) at their principal amount, together with interest accrued to (but excluding) the 
date fixed for redemption, if, immediately before giving such notice, the Issuer: 

(i) has become or will become obliged to pay additional amounts as provided or 
referred to in Condition 10 (Taxation) or the Guarantor would be unable for reasons 
outside its control to procure that the Issuer is able to make payment itself or (if a 
demand was made under the Guarantee) would be required to pay additional 
amounts, in each case obliged to pay such additional amounts or the Guarantor has 
or will become obliged to make any such withholding or deduction of the type 
referred to in Condition 10 (Taxation) or pursuant to the Guarantee (as the case may 
be) from any amount paid by it to the Issuer in order to enable the Issuer to make a 
payment under the Notes, in each case as a result of any change in, or amendment 
to, the laws or regulations of Sweden or Poland, as the case may be, or any political 
subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having power to tax, or any change in 
the application or official interpretation of such laws or regulations, which change or 
amendment becomes effective on or after 1 July 2014; and  

(ii) cannot avoid such obligation by the Issuer (or, as the case may be, the Guarantor) 
taking reasonable measures available to it, 
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provided that no such notice of redemption shall be given earlier than 90 days prior to the 
earliest date on which the Issuer would be obliged to pay such additional amounts if a 
payment in respect of the Notes were then due. 

Upon the expiry of any such notice as is referred to in this Condition 9(b) (Redemption for 
Taxation Reasons), the Issuer shall be bound to redeem the Notes in accordance with this 
Condition 9(b) (Redemption for Taxation Reasons). 

(c) Redemption at the option of the Noteholders (Put Option). If a Change of Control Event (as 
defined below) occurs, the Issuer shall, at the option of the holder of any Note, upon the 
holder of such Note giving notice to the Issuer as provided in this Condition 9(c) 
(Redemption at the option of the Noteholders (Put Option)) at any time during the 
Redemption Period, redeem such Note on the Redemption Date at 100 per cent. of its 
principal amount together (if applicable) with interest accrued and unpaid to (but excluding) 
the Redemption Date. 

Immediately upon the Issuer becoming aware that a Change of Control Event has occurred, 
the Issuer shall give notice (a “Change of Control Notice”) to the Noteholders in 
accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) specifying the nature of the Change of Control 
Event and the procedure for exercising the put option contained in this Condition 9(c) 
(Redemption at the option of the Noteholders (Put Option)). 

To exercise the put option pursuant to this Condition 9(c) (Redemption at the option of the 
Noteholders (Put Option)), a holder must deposit the certificate representing the Note(s) to 
be redeemed with the Registrar or any Paying and Transfer Agent at its specified office, 
together with a duly completed option exercise notice (“Exercise Notice”) in the form 
obtainable from any Paying and Transfer Agent or the Registrar within the Redemption 
Period. An Exercise Notice, once given, shall be irrevocable. 

If 90 per cent. or more in principal amount of the Notes then outstanding has been redeemed 
pursuant to this Condition 9(c) (Redemption at the option of the Noteholders (Put Option)), 
the Issuer may, on not less than 30 or more than 60 days’ notice to the Noteholders given 
within 30 days after the Redemption Date, redeem, at its option, the remaining Notes as a 
whole at their principal amount, together with interest accrued and unpaid to (but excluding) 
the date of such redemption. Such notice to the Noteholders shall specify the date fixed for 
redemption, the redemption price and the manner in which redemption will be effected. 

For the purpose of this Condition 9(c) (Redemption at the option of the Noteholders (Put 
Option)): 

(i) a “Change of Control Event” will occur if  

(A) at any time any shareholder who, on the Issue Date, holds more than 35 per 
cent. of the issued share capital of the Guarantor (a “Major Shareholder”) 
ceases to own, directly or indirectly, more than 25 per cent. of the issued 
share capital of the Guarantor or otherwise ceases to control, directly or 
indirectly, the Guarantor (each a “Change of Control”); and 

(B) during the Change of Control Period, the Notes carry from any of Standard 
& Poor's Credit Market Services Europe Limited, Moody's Investors 
Service Limited, or Fitch Polska S.A., or any of their respective successors 
(each a “Rating Agency”) either: 
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(1) an investment grade credit rating (BBB-/Baa3, or equivalent, or 
better), and such rating from any Rating Agency is within the 
Change of Control Period either (x) downgraded by two notches 
(for illustration, Ba1 to Ba2 being one notch) where the resulting 
rating is an investment grade credit rating, (y) downgraded to a non-
investment grade credit rating (BB+/Ba1, or equivalent, or worse) 
or (z) withdrawn;  

(2)  a non-investment grade credit rating (BB+/Ba1, or equivalent, or 
worse), and such rating from any Rating Agency is within the 
Change of Control Period downgraded by one or more notches (for 
illustration, Ba1 to Ba2 being one notch) or withdrawn; or 

(3)  no credit rating, and no Rating Agency assigns within the Change of 
Control Period an investment grade credit rating to the Notes; and 

in making the relevant decision(s) referred to above, the relevant Rating 
Agency announces publicly or confirms in writing to the Issuer or the 
Guarantor that such decision(s), directly or indirectly, resulted, in whole or 
in part, from the occurrence of the Change of Control or the public notice of 
an arrangement that could result in a Change of Control; 

(ii) “Change of Control Period” means the period commencing on the earlier of (a) the 
date of the Relevant Potential Change of Control Announcement, and (b) the 
Change of Control, and ending 90 days after the Change of Control; 

(iii) a Major Shareholder will be deemed to “control” the Guarantor if (whether directly 
or indirectly and whether by the ownership of share capital, the possession of voting 
power, contract, trust or otherwise) it has the power to appoint and/or remove the 
majority of the members of the supervisory board or other governing body of the 
Guarantor; 

(iv)  “Redemption Date” means, in respect of any Note, the date which falls 14 days 
after the date on which the relevant holder exercises its option in accordance with 
this Condition 9(c) (Redemption at the option of the Noteholders (Put Option));  

(v) “Redemption Period” means the period from and including the date on which a 
Change of Control Event occurs (whether or not the Issuer has given a Change of 
Control Notice in respect of such event) to and including the date falling 90 days 
after the date on which such Change of Control Notice is given, provided that if no 
Change of Control Notice is given, the Redemption Period shall not terminate; and 

(vi) “Relevant Potential Change of Control Announcement” means any public 
announcement or statement by the Issuer, any actual or potential bidder or any 
adviser acting on behalf of any actual or potential bidder relating to any potential 
Change of Control where, within 180 days of the date of such announcement or 
statement, a Change of Control occurs. 

(d) Purchase. The Issuer and the Guarantor or any of their respective Subsidiaries may at any 
time purchase or procure others to purchase for its account Notes in the open market or 
otherwise and at any price. The Notes so purchased may be held or resold (provided that 
such resale is outside the United States and is otherwise in compliance with all applicable 
laws) or surrendered for cancellation at the option of the Issuer or otherwise, as the case may 
be in compliance with Condition 9(e) (Cancellation of Notes) below. The Notes so 
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purchased, while held by or on behalf of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any such Subsidiary, 
shall not entitle the holder to vote at any meeting of the Noteholders and shall not be deemed 
to be outstanding for the purposes of calculating quorums at meetings of the Noteholders or 
for the purposes of Condition 14(a) (Meetings of Noteholders). Any purchase by tender shall 
be made available to all Noteholders alike. 

(e) Cancellation of Notes. All Notes which are redeemed pursuant to Conditions 9(b) 
(Redemption for Taxation Reasons) and 9(c) (Redemption at the option of the Noteholders 
(Put Option)) or submitted for cancellation pursuant to Condition 9(d) (Purchase) will be 
cancelled and may not be reissued or resold. For so long as the Notes are admitted to trading 
on the Irish Stock Exchange and the rules of such exchange so require, the Issuer shall 
promptly inform the Irish Stock Exchange of the cancellation of any Notes under this 
Condition 9(e) (Cancellation of Notes).  

10. Taxation 

(a) All payments of principal and interest in respect of the Notes shall be made free and clear of, 
and without withholding or deduction for, any taxes, duties, assessments or governmental 
charges of whatsoever nature imposed, levied, collected, withheld or assessed by or within 
Sweden or Poland or any political subdivision or any authority thereof or therein having 
power to tax, unless such withholding or deduction is required by law. In that event, the 
Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor shall pay such additional amounts as will result 
in the receipt by the Noteholders of such amounts as would have been received by them if 
no such withholding or deduction had been required, except that no such additional amounts 
shall be payable in respect of any Note: 

(i) Other Connection: presented for payment by or on behalf of a holder who is liable 
to such taxes, duties, assessments or governmental charges in respect of such Note 
by reason of his having some connection with Sweden or, in the case of payments 
made by the Guarantor, Poland other than the mere holding of the Note; 

(ii) Presentation more than 30 days after the Relevant Date: where (in the case of a 
payment of principal or interest on redemption) the relevant Definitive Note 
Certificate is surrendered for payment more than 30 days after the Relevant Date (as 
defined below) except to the extent that the holder of it would have been entitled to 
such additional amounts on surrendering such Definitive Note Certificate for 
payment on the last day of such period of 30 days; 

(iii) Payment to Individuals: where such withholding or deduction is imposed on a 
payment to an individual and is required to be made pursuant to European Union 
Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income or any law implementing or 
complying with, or introduced in order to conform to, such Directive; 

(iv) Payment by another Paying and Transfer Agent: where (in the case of a payment 
of principal or interest on redemption) the relevant Definitive Note Certificate is 
surrendered for payment by or on behalf of a Noteholder who would have been able 
to avoid such withholding or deduction by surrendering the relevant Definitive Note 
Certificate to another Paying and Transfer Agent in a Member State of the European 
Union; or 

(v) Payment in Sweden or Poland: where (in the case of a payment of principal or 
interest on redemption) the relevant Definitive Note Certificate is surrendered for 
payment in Sweden or Poland. 
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(b) Taxing jurisdiction. If the Issuer or, as the case may be, the Guarantor become subject at 
any time to any taxing jurisdiction other than Sweden or Poland, respectively, references in 
this Condition 10 (Taxation) to Sweden or Poland, respectively shall be construed as 
references to Sweden or Poland, respectively and/or such other jurisdiction. 

“Relevant Date” means whichever is the later of (i) the date on which such payment first becomes 
due and (ii) if the full amount payable has not been received by the Fiscal Agent on or prior to such 
due date, the date on which, the full amount plus any accrued interest having been so received, 
notice to that effect shall have been given to the Noteholders. Any reference in these Conditions to 
principal and/or interest shall be deemed to include any additional amounts which may be payable 
under this Condition or any undertaking given in addition to or substitution for it under the Fiscal 
Agency Agreement. 

11. Prescription 

Claims in respect of principal and interest will become void unless the relevant Definitive Note 
Certificate is surrendered for payment as required by Condition 8 (Payments) within a period of 10 
years in the case of principal and five years in the case of interest from the appropriate Relevant 
Date. 

12. Events Of Default 

If any of the following events (“Events of Default”) shall have occurred, and is continuing: 

(a) Non payment. The Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, fails to pay any amount of 
principal in respect of the Notes or Guarantee on the due date for payment when the same 
becomes due and payable either at maturity, by declaration or otherwise, or the Issuer or the 
Guarantor, as the case may be, is in default with respect to the payment of interest or any 
additional amount payable in respect of any of the Notes and such default in respect of 
interest or additional amounts continues for a period of seven days; or 

(b) Breach of other obligations. The Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, defaults in the 
performance or observance of any of its other obligations under the Notes or Guarantee and 
such default is incapable of remedy or, if capable of remedy, remains unremedied for 30 
days after notice of such default has been given to the Issuer and the Guarantor at the 
Specified Office of the Fiscal Agent by any holder of Notes; or 

(c) Cross default 

(i) Any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the 
Guarantor’s Material Subsidiaries is not paid when due or (as the case may be) 
within any originally applicable grace period; 

(ii) any such Indebtedness for Borrowed Money becomes (or becomes capable of being 
declared) due and payable prior to its stated maturity otherwise than at the option of 
the Issuer, the Guarantor or (as the case may be) the relevant Material Subsidiary or 
(provided that no event of default, howsoever described, has occurred) any Person 
entitled to such Indebtedness for Borrowed Money; or 

(iii) the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Guarantor’s Material Subsidiaries fails to pay 
when due any amount payable by it under any guarantee of any Indebtedness for 
Borrowed Money (including any indemnity of such Indebtedness for Borrowed 
Money or any arrangement having a similar effect), 
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provided that the amount of Indebtedness for Borrowed Money referred to in Conditions 
12(c)(i) and/or 12(c)(ii) above and/or the amount payable under any guarantee referred to in 
Condition 12(c)(iii) above individually or in the aggregate exceeds EUR25,000,000 (or its 
equivalent in any other currency or currencies); 

(d) Bankruptcy 

(i) The occurrence of any of the following events: (i) any of the Issuer, the Guarantor or 
any of the Guarantor’s Material Subsidiaries seeking or consenting to the 
introduction of proceedings for its liquidation; or (ii) the presentation or filing of a 
petition in respect of any of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Guarantor’s 
Material Subsidiaries in any court or before any agency alleging, or for, the 
bankruptcy, insolvency, dissolution, liquidation (or any analogous proceedings) of 
any of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the Guarantor’s Material Subsidiaries, 
unless the petition is withdrawn or dismissed within 30 days of such presentation or 
filing; or (iii) the announcement by an appropriate court in Poland of the insolvency 
(upadlość) of any of the Guarantor or any of its Material Subsidiaries pursuant to the 
Polish Bankruptcy and Recovery Law dated 28 February 2003 or any other laws or 
regulations that may replace the above; and/or (iv) any declaration of liquidation of 
the Guarantor or any of its Material Subsidiaries pursuant to the Polish Banking 
Law dated 29 August 1997, or any other laws or regulations which may replace the 
above; or 

(ii) (A) The Issuer, the Guarantor or any of its Material Subsidiaries is unable or admits 
its inability to pay its debts as they fall due, generally suspends making payments on 
its debts or, by reason of actual or anticipated financial difficulties, commences 
negotiations with one or more of its creditors with a view to rescheduling a material 
part of its Indebtedness for Borrowed Money; (B) the value of the assets of any of 
the Guarantor or its Material Subsidiaries is less than its liabilities; and/or (C) a 
moratorium is declared in respect of any Indebtedness for Borrowed Money of any 
of the Issuer, the Guarantor or its Material Subsidiaries; or 

(iii) Any expropriation, attachment, sequestration, execution or distress is levied against, 
or an encumbrancer takes possession of or sells, or a receiver, manager or other 
similar officer is appointed in respect of, the whole or a substantial part of, the 
undertaking, revenues or assets of the Issuer, the Guarantor or any of the 
Guarantor’s Material Subsidiaries unless the levy against such undertaking, 
revenues or assets is discharged or dismissed within 30 days; or 

(iv) Any event occurs which under the laws of Sweden or Poland has an analogous 
effect to any of the events referred to in Conditions 12(d)(i), (ii) or (iii) above; or 

(e) Invalidity or unenforceability 

(i) Any action, condition or thing at any time required to be taken, fulfilled or done in 
order (A) to enable the Issuer and the Guarantor lawfully to enter into, exercise their 
respective rights and perform and comply with their respective obligations under 
and in respect of the Notes, (B) to ensure that those obligations are legal, binding 
and enforceable and (C) to make the Definitive Note Certificates admissible as 
evidence in the courts of Sweden and Poland is not taken, fulfilled or done; or 

(ii) It is or will become unlawful for the Issuer or the Guarantor to perform or comply 
with any of its obligations under or in respect of the Notes; or 
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(iii) The Deed of Covenant is not (or is claimed by the Issuer or the Guarantor not to be) 
in full force and effect; or 

(iv) The Deed of Guarantee of the Notes is not (or is claimed by the Issuer or the 
Guarantor not to be) in full force and effect; or 

(f) Cessation of Business. The Guarantor or any of its Material Subsidiaries ceases or threatens 
to cease to carry on all or substantially all of its business, save for the purposes of a 
Permitted Restructuring; or  

(g) Maintenance of Business. The Guarantor fails to take any action as is required of it under 
applicable insurance regulations in Poland or otherwise to maintain in effect (i) the licences 
held by it and any of its Material Subsidiaries granted by the Polish Financial Supervisory 
Authority (Komisja Nadzoru Finansowego) in relation to the provision of both life and non-
life insurance products, or (ii) its corporate existence, or fails to take any action to maintain 
any rights, privileges, titles to property, franchises and the like necessary for the 
continuation of its business, activities or operations and such failure is not remedied within 
30 days after notice thereof has been given to the Guarantor,  

then the holders of 25 per cent. or more in the aggregate principal amount of the Notes may, by 
written notice to the Issuer at the specified office of the Fiscal Agent, declare the Notes due and 
payable immediately whereupon they shall become immediately due and payable at their principal 
amount together with accrued interest without further action or formality. Notice of any such 
declaration shall promptly be given to all other Noteholders by the Issuer. Upon any declaration of 
acceleration, the principal, interest and all additional amounts payable on the Notes will become 
immediately due and payable on the date the Issuer receives written notice of the declaration. No 
delay or omission of any Noteholder or any party to the Agency Agreement to exercise any right or 
remedy accruing upon any Event of Default shall impair any such right or remedy or constitute a 
waiver of any such Event of Default or any other breach of the Issuer’s obligations under the Agency 
Agreement. 

If the Issuer receives notice in writing from holders of at least 50 per cent. in aggregate principal 
amount of the outstanding Notes to the effect that the Event of Default or Events of Default giving 
rise to any above-mentioned declaration of acceleration is or are cured following any such 
declaration and that such holders wish the relevant declaration to be withdrawn, the Issuer shall give 
notice thereof to the Noteholders (with a copy to the Fiscal Agent), whereupon the relevant 
declaration shall be withdrawn and shall have no further effect but without prejudice to any rights or 
obligations which may have arisen before the Issuer gives such notice (whether pursuant to these 
Conditions or otherwise). No such withdrawal shall affect any other or any subsequent Event of 
Default or any right of any Noteholder in relation thereto. 

13. Replacement Of Notes 

If any Definitive Note Certificate is lost, stolen, mutilated, defaced or destroyed it may be replaced 
at the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Paying and Transfer Agent subject to all applicable 
laws and stock exchange or other relevant authority requirements, upon payment by the claimant of 
the expenses incurred in connection with such replacement and on such terms as to evidence, 
security, indemnity and otherwise as the Issuer and the Guarantor may require (provided that the 
requirement is reasonable in the light of prevailing market practice). Mutilated or defaced Definitive 
Note Certificates must be surrendered before replacements will be issued. 
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14. Meetings Of Noteholders; Modification 

(a) Meetings of Noteholders. The Fiscal Agency Agreement contains provisions for convening 
meetings of Noteholders to consider any matters relating to the Notes, including the 
modification of any provision of these Conditions or the Fiscal Agency Agreement. Any 
such modification may be made if sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution. Such a 
meeting may be convened by the Issuer, the Guarantor or by the Noteholders holding not 
less than one tenth in principal amount of the outstanding Notes. The quorum at any meeting 
convened to vote on an Extraordinary Resolution will be two or more persons holding or 
representing a clear majority of the aggregate principal amount of the Notes for the time 
being outstanding, or, at any adjourned meeting, one or more persons being or representing 
Noteholders whatever the principal amount of the Notes for the time being outstanding so 
held or represented; provided, however, that any proposals relating to any Reserved Matter 
(as defined below) may only be sanctioned by an Extraordinary Resolution passed at a 
meeting of Noteholders at which two or more persons holding or representing not less than 
three quarters or, at any adjourned meeting, one quarter of the principal amount of the 
outstanding Notes form a quorum. Any Extraordinary Resolution duly passed at any such 
meeting shall be binding on all the Noteholders, whether present at the meeting(s) or not. 

(b) Reserved Matters. In these Conditions, “Reserved Matter” means any proposal whereby: 

(i) the principal amount of, or interest on, or other amounts in respect of the Notes is to 
be reduced or cancelled or the rate of interest on the Notes is to be reduced;  

(ii) the status of the Notes under Condition 4 (Status and Guarantee) is to be amended; 

(iii) the Events of Default set out in Condition 12 (Events Of Default) are to be amended; 

(iv) the currency of payment of the Notes or the due date or date for any payment in 
respect of the Notes is to be changed;  

(v) the provisions contained in Schedule 4 (Provisions for Meetings of Noteholders) to 
the Fiscal Agency Agreement concerning the quorum required at any meeting of 
Noteholders or the majority required to pass an Extraordinary Resolution or the 
definition of “Extraordinary Resolution” or the definition of “outstanding” is to be 
modified;  

(vi) this definition of Reserved Matter is to be amended;  

(vii) the Deed of Covenant is to be modified or cancelled; or 

(viii) the Deed of Guarantee is to be modified or cancelled. 

(c) Written resolution. A resolution in writing will take effect as if it were an Extraordinary 
Resolution if it is signed (i) by or on behalf of all Noteholders who for the time being are 
entitled to receive notice of a meeting of Noteholders under the Fiscal Agency Agreement or 
(ii) if such Noteholders have been given at least 21 days’ notice of such resolution, by or on 
behalf of persons holding three quarters of the aggregate principal amount of the outstanding 
Notes. Such a resolution in writing may be contained in one document or several documents 
in the same form, each signed by or on behalf of one or more Noteholders. 

(d) Modification without Noteholders’ consent. The Fiscal Agent may agree, without the 
consent of the Noteholders, to any modification of the Notes or the Fiscal Agency 
Agreement which is in its opinion of a formal, minor or technical nature or is made to 
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correct a manifest error. Any such modification shall be binding on the Noteholders and, if 
the Fiscal Agent so requires, shall be notified to the Noteholders as soon as practicable 
thereafter. 

15. Notices 

Notices to Noteholders will be sent to them by first class mail (or its equivalent) or (if posted to an 
overseas address) by airmail at their respective addresses on the Register. Any such notice shall be 
deemed to have been given on the fourth day after the date of mailing. Notices to Noteholders will 
be valid if published, for so long as the Notes are admitted to trading on the Irish Stock Exchange 
and the rules of such exchange so require, in a leading newspaper having general circulation in 
Ireland (which is expected to be the Irish Times) or, if, in the opinion of the Fiscal Agent, such 
publication is not practicable, in a leading English language daily newspaper of general circulation 
in Europe. Any such notice shall be deemed to have been given on the date of such publication or, if 
published more than once or on different dates, on the first date on which publication is made. 

So long as any of the Notes are represented by the Global Note Certificate, notices required to be 
published in accordance with Condition 15 (Notices) may be given by delivery of the relevant notice 
to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg for communication by them to the relevant 
accountholders.  

16. Further Issues 

The Issuer may from time to time, without notice to or the consent of the Noteholders and in 
accordance with the Fiscal Agency Agreement, create and issue further notes having the same terms 
and conditions as the Notes in all respects (or in all respects except for the date for and amount of the 
first payment of interest) so as to be consolidated and form a single series with the Notes (“Further 
Notes”). 

17. Currency Indemnity 

The Fiscal Agency Agreement provides that if any Noteholder receives or recovers any amount in a 
currency other than the Contractual Currency (as defined in the Fiscal Agency Agreement) (whether 
as a result of, or of the enforcement of, a judgment or order of a court of any jurisdiction, in the 
winding up or dissolution of the Issuer or the Guarantor or otherwise), in respect of any sum 
expressed to be due to it from the Issuer or the Guarantor that amount will only discharge the Issuer 
and the Guarantor to the extent of the Contractual Currency amount which the recipient is able to 
purchase with the amount so received or recovered in that other currency on the date of that receipt 
or recovery (or, if it is not practicable to make that purchase on that date, on the first date on which it 
is practicable to do so). 

If that Contractual Currency amount is less than the Contractual Currency amount expressed to be 
due to the relevant Noteholder under the Notes, the Issuer failing whom the Guarantor will 
indemnify such Noteholder against any loss sustained by it as a result on the written demand of such 
Noteholder addressed to the Issuer or Guarantor, as the case may be, and delivered to the Issuer or 
Guarantor, as the case may be, or to the Specified Office of the Registrar or any Paying and Transfer 
Agent with its Specified Office in London. In any event, the Issuer failing whom the Guarantor will 
indemnify the relevant Noteholder against the cost of making any such purchase. 
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18. Governing Law And Jurisdiction 

18.1 Governing Law 

These Notes, including any non contractual obligations arising out of or in connection with them, are 
governed by, and shall be construed in accordance with, English law. 

18.2 Jurisdiction 

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor agrees for the benefit of each of the Noteholders that the courts 
of England shall have exclusive jurisdiction to hear and determine any suit, action or proceedings 
arising out of or in connection with this Agreement (including any non contractual obligations 
arising out of or in connection with this Agreement) (“Proceedings”) and, for such purposes, 
irrevocably submits to the jurisdiction of such courts. Nothing in this paragraph shall (or shall be 
construed so as to) limit the right of Noteholders to take Proceedings in any other court of competent 
jurisdiction, nor shall the taking of Proceedings in any one or more jurisdictions preclude the taking 
of Proceedings by Noteholders in any other jurisdiction (whether concurrently or not) if and to the 
extent permitted by law. 

18.3 Appropriate Forum 

For the purpose of Condition 18.2 (Jurisdiction), the Issuer and the Guarantor each irrevocably 
waives any objection which it might now or hereafter have to the courts of England being nominated 
as the forum to hear and determine any Proceedings and agrees not to claim that any such court is 
not a convenient or appropriate forum. 

18.4 Service of Process 

Each of the Issuer and the Guarantor agrees that the process by which any Proceedings are 
commenced in England pursuant to Condition 18.2 (Jurisdiction) may be served on it by being 
delivered to Law Debenture Corporate Services Limited at Fifth Floor, 100 Wood Street, London 
EC2V 7EX. If such person is not or ceases to be effectively appointed to accept service of process 
on behalf of the Issuer or the Guarantor, the Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be, shall, on the 
written demand of the Noteholders, appoint a further person in England to accept service of process 
on its behalf and, failing such appointment within 14 days, the Noteholders shall be entitled to 
appoint such a person by written notice to the Issuer or the Guarantor, as the case may be. Nothing in 
this paragraph shall affect the right of the Noteholders to serve process in any other manner 
permitted by law. 
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SUMMARY OF PROVISIONS RELATING TO THE NOTES IN GLOBAL FORM 

1. Global Note Certificates 

The Notes will be evidenced on issue by the Global Note Certificate (deposited with, and registered 
in the name of a nominee for, a common safekeeper for Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg 
(together, the “Clearing Systems”). 

Interests in the Global Note Certificate may be held only through Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg at any time. See “ Book-Entry Procedures”.  

Except in the limited circumstances described below, owners of interests in the Global Note 
Certificate will not be entitled to receive physical delivery of certificated Notes in definitive form 
(the “Definitive Note Certificates”). The Notes are not issuable in bearer form. 

2. Amendments to the Conditions 

The Global Note Certificate contains provisions that apply to the Notes that it represents, some of 
which modify the effect of the above Conditions of the Notes. The following is a summary of those 
provisions: 

Payments. Payments of principal and interest in respect of Notes evidenced by the Global Note 
Certificate will be made against presentation for endorsement by the Principal Paying and Transfer 
Agent and, if no further payment falls to be made in respect of the relevant Notes, surrender of the 
Global Note Certificate to or to the order of the Principal Paying and Transfer Agent or such other 
Paying and Transfer Agent as shall have been notified to the relevant Noteholders for such purpose. 
A record of each payment so made will be endorsed in the appropriate schedule to the Global Note 
Certificate, which endorsement will be prima facie evidence that such payment has been made in 
respect of the relevant Notes. While the Global Note Certificate is held by the Common Safekeeper 
for the Clearing Systems payments will be made in accordance with the procedures of the Clearing 
System through which interests in the Global Note Certificate are held. 

Notices. So long as any Notes are represented by the Global Note Certificate and the Global Note 
Certificate is held on behalf of one or more Clearing Systems, notices to Noteholders required to be 
published in the Irish Times may be given by delivery of the relevant notice to such Clearing 
Systems for communication by it to entitled accountholders in substitution for delivery thereof as 
required by the Conditions of such Notes. 

Meetings. The holder of the Global Note Certificate will be treated as being two persons for the 
purposes of any quorum requirements of, or the right to demand a poll at, a meeting of Noteholders 
and, at any such meeting, as having one vote in respect of each EUR 1,000 in principal amount of 
Notes for which the Global Note Certificate may be exchangeable. 

Prescription. Claims against the Issuer in respect of principal and interest on the Notes while the 
Notes are represented by the Global Note Certificate will become void unless it is presented for 
payment within a period of ten years (in the case of principal) and five years (in the case of interest) 
from the appropriate Relevant Date (as defined in Condition 11 (Prescription) of the Notes). 

Put Option. The Noteholders’ put option in Condition 9(c) (Redemption at the option of the 
Noteholders (Put Option)) of the Notes may be exercised by giving notice to the Principal Paying 
and Transfer Agent in accordance with procedures of the relevant Clearing System through which 
such Noteholder’s Notes are held. 
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Purchase and Cancellation. Cancellation of any Note required by the Conditions to be cancelled 
following its purchase will be effected by reduction in the principal amount of the Global Note 
Certificate. 

Record Date. As long as the Notes are represented by a Global Note Certificate, payments of interest 
and principal on the Notes will be paid to the holder shown on the Register on the Clearing System 
Business Day before the due date for such payment in accordance with the rules and procedures of 
the Clearing System (the “Record Date”), where “Clearing System Business Day” means a day on 
which each Clearing System in which the Global Note Certificate is being held is open for business. 

3. Exchange for and Transfers of Definitive Note Certificates 

The Global Note Certificate will become exchangeable, free of charge to the holder, in whole but not 
in part, for Definitive Note Certificates if Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg is closed for 
business for a continuous period of 14 days (other than by reason of legal holidays) or announces an 
intention permanently to cease business or does in fact do so, or an Event of Default (as defined in 
Condition 12 (Events of Default) of the Notes) occurs. In such circumstances, the Issuer or the 
Guarantor will procure that the Registrar notifies the Noteholders as soon as practicable after the 
occurrence of the relevant event and that such Definitive Note Certificates will be registered in such 
names as Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg shall direct in writing.  

In such circumstances, the Global Note Certificate shall be exchanged in full for Definitive Note 
Certificates and the Issuer will, without charge to the holder or holders thereof, but against such 
indemnity as the Registrar may require in respect of any tax or other duty of whatever nature which 
may be levied or imposed in connection with such exchange, cause sufficient Definitive Note 
Certificates to be executed and delivered to the Registrar for completion, authentication and dispatch 
to the relevant Noteholders. A person having an interest in the Global Note Certificate must provide 
the Registrar with a written order containing instructions and such other information as the Issuer, 
the Guarantor and the Registrar may require to complete, execute and deliver such Notes.  

The holder of a Definitive Note Certificate may transfer the Notes evidenced thereby in whole or in 
part in the applicable minimum denomination by surrendering it at the specified office of the 
Registrar or any Paying and Transfer Agent, together with the completed form of transfer thereon. 
The Registrar will not register the transfer of any Notes or exchange of interests in a Global Note 
Certificate for Definitive Note Certificates for a period of 15 calendar days ending on the due date 
for any payment of principal or interest in respect of the Notes. 

4. Book-Entry Procedures 

Custodial and safekeeper links are expected to be established between Euroclear and Clearstream, 
Luxembourg to facilitate the initial issue of the Notes and cross-market transfers of the Notes 
associated with secondary market trading. See “Book-Entry Ownership” and “Settlement and 
Transfer of Interests in Notes held in the Clearing Systems” below. 

Investors may hold their interests in the Global Note Certificate directly through Euroclear or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg if they are accountholders (“Direct Participants”) or indirectly 
(“Indirect Participants” and together with Direct Participants, “Participants”) through 
organisations which are accountholders therein. 

5. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg 

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg each hold securities for their customers and facilitate the 
clearance and settlement of securities transactions through electronic book-entry transfer between 
their respective accountholders. Indirect access to Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg is 
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available to other institutions which clear through or maintain a custodial relationship with an 
accountholder of either system. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg provide various services 
including safekeeping, administration, clearance and settlement of internationally-traded securities 
and securities lending and borrowing. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg also deal with 
domestic securities markets in several countries through established depository and custodial 
relationships. Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg have established an electronic bridge 
between their two systems across which their respective customers may settle trades with each other. 
Their customers are worldwide financial institutions including underwriters, securities brokers and 
dealers, banks, trust companies and clearing corporations. 

6. Book-Entry Ownership 

Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg 

A Global Note Certificate representing the Notes will have an ISIN and a Common Code and will be 
registered in the name of a nominee for, and deposited with a common safekeeper on behalf of, 
Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg. 

The address of Euroclear is 1 Boulevard du Roi Albert 11, B-1210 Brussels, Belgium, and the 
address of Clearstream, Luxembourg is 42 Avenue J.F. Kennedy, L-1855 Luxembourg. 

7. Relationship of Participants with Clearing Systems 

Each of the persons shown in the records of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg as the holder 
of a Note evidenced by the Global Note Certificate must look solely to Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg (as the case may be) for his share of each payment made by the Issuer, or the 
Guarantor, as the case may be, to the holder of the Global Note Certificate and in relation to all other 
rights arising under the Global Note Certificate, subject to and in accordance with the respective 
rules and procedures of Euroclear or Clearstream, Luxembourg (as the case may be). The Issuer 
expects that, upon receipt of any payment in respect of Notes evidenced by the Global Note 
Certificate, the common safekeeper by whom such Note is held, or nominee in whose name it is 
registered, will immediately credit the relevant Participants’ or accountholders’ accounts in the 
relevant clearing system with payments in amounts proportionate to their respective interests in the 
principal amount of the Global Note Certificate as shown on the records of the relevant clearing 
system or its nominee. The Issuer also expects that payments by Direct Participants in any clearing 
system to owners of interests in the Global Note Certificate held through such Direct Participants in 
any clearing system will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices. Save as 
aforesaid, such persons shall have no claim directly against the Issuer, or the Guarantor, as the case 
may be, in respect of payments due on the Notes for so long as the Notes are evidenced by the 
Global Note Certificate and the obligations of the Issuer, or the Guarantor, as the case may be, will 
be discharged by payment to the registered holder, as the case may be, of the Global Note Certificate 
in respect of each amount so paid. None of the Issuer, the Guarantor, or any Paying and Transfer 
Agent will have any responsibility or liability for any aspect of the records relating to or payments 
made on account of ownership interests in the Global Note Certificate or for maintaining, 
supervising or reviewing any records relating to such ownership interests. 

8. Settlement and Transfer of Interests in Notes held in the Clearing Systems 

Subject to the rules and procedures of the applicable Clearing System, purchases of Notes held 
within a Clearing System must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will receive a credit 
for such Notes on the Clearing System’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of 
each such Note (the “Beneficial Owner”) will in turn be recorded on the Direct and Indirect 
Participants’ records. 
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Beneficial Owners will not receive written confirmation from any Clearing System of their purchase, 
but Beneficial Owners are expected to receive written confirmations providing details of the 
transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings, from the Direct or Indirect Participant 
through which such Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. 

Transfers of ownership interests in Notes held within the Clearing System will be affected by entries 
made on the books of Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not 
receive certificates representing their ownership interests in such Notes, unless and until interests in 
the Global Note Certificate are exchanged for Definitive Note Certificates. 

No Clearing System has knowledge of the actual Beneficial Owners of the Notes held within such 
Clearing System and their records will reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose 
accounts such Notes are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Participants 
will remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers. 
Conveyance of notices and other communications by the Clearing Systems to Direct Participants, by 
Direct Participants to Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to 
Beneficial Owners will be governed by arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or 
regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. 

The laws of some jurisdictions may require that certain persons take physical delivery in definitive 
form of securities. Consequently, the ability to transfer interests in a Global Note Certificate to such 
persons may be limited. 

Secondary market sales of book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear or Clearstream, 
Luxembourg to purchasers of book-entry interests in the Notes held through Euroclear or 
Clearstream, Luxembourg will be conducted in accordance with the normal rules and operating 
procedures of Euroclear and Clearstream, Luxembourg and will be settled using the procedures 
applicable to conventional Eurobonds. 
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USE OF PROCEEDS 

The net proceeds of the issue of the Notes, after deduction of the total expenses related to the admission to 
trading, expected to amount to approximately EUR 496,335,000 less fees and certain expenses, will be used 
for the Group’s general corporate purposes.  
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THE ISSUER 

GENERAL  

PZU Finance AB (publ) (the “Issuer”) was incorporated as Goldcup 9812 AB, a public limited liability 
company under the laws of the Kingdom of Sweden, on 28 May 2014, with registration number 556972-
9832.  Its change of name from Goldcup 9812 AB to PZU Finance AB (publ) was registered on 16 June 
2014.  It is domiciled in the Kingdom of Sweden.  The registered office of the Issuer is located at Sergels 
Torg 12, 12th floor, P.O. Box 162 85, SE – 103 25 Stockholm, Sweden and the telephone number of its 
registered office is +46 8 402 72 00.  The Issuer conducts its activity in accordance with the Swedish 
Companies Act of 2005:551.  

OBJECTS  

The objects of the Issuer are set out in Article 3 of its Articles of Association, which states that "the object of 
the company's business shall be to conduct financial activities primarily through the borrowing of funds by 
way of issuance of bonds and other financial instruments to institutional and private investors and through 
the direct lending of such funds to group companies, granting credit facilities and loans, and to conduct any 
other activities compatible therewith or to provide any related services.  The company shall not conduct 
activities that constitute operations which would require a license or permit from the Swedish Financial 
Supervisory Authority or any other authority". 

Since the date of its incorporation, the Issuer has not made any significant investments and, as at the date of 
this Prospectus, the Issuer is not committed to any significant investments.  However, it is intended that the 
Issuer will lend funds to the Guarantor and group companies under intercompany loan agreements. 

CAPITAL STOCK  

As of the date of this Prospectus, the Issuer is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Guarantor.  The Issuer has 
no subsidiaries.  

The share capital of the Issuer shall not be less than SEK 500,000 and not more than SEK 2,000,000 (divided 
into not less than 500,000 and not more than 2,000,000 fully paid-up ordinary shares).  

MANAGEMENT  

The Issuer has a Board of Directors consisting of three members: Agnieszka Karbowiak, Mariusz Porebski 
and Josefin Grolander Alvén. Their business address is c/o PZU Finance AB (publ), Sergels Torg 12, 12th 
floor, P.O. Box 162 85, SE – 103 25 Stockholm, Sweden. The Board of Directors is responsible for 
managing the business of the Issuer in accordance with Swedish law and the Issuer’s Articles of Association.  
The Board of Directors also represents the Issuer in its dealings with third parties and in court.  

There are no potential conflicts of interest between any duties of the directors to the Issuer, and their private 
interests and/or other duties. 

Administrative and corporate tasks will be performed by the employees of Issuer and by a corporate service 
provider. 



   
   
 

   
49  

 

DESCRIPTION OF THE GROUP 

INTRODUCTION 

The Group is the largest insurance company in Poland and one of the largest insurance companies in Central 
and Eastern Europe in terms of gross written premiums.1  Based on the Management Board's assessment, the 
Group had approximately 16 million customers in Poland at 31 December 2013.  In 2013, the Group’s gross 
written premiums amounted to PLN 16.5 billion and it generated an operating profit of PLN 4.2 billion. As 
of 31 December 2013 the Group’s total assets were PLN 62.4 billion, it had net cash after deducting 
borrowings of PLN 321 million and a Solvency I ratio of 352 per cent. 

The Group operates four main lines of business: 

 non-life insurance, principally offered by PZU in Poland, which generated 50.2 per cent. of the 
Group’s total gross written premium, and 34.9 per cent. of its operating profit, in 2013. According to 
KNF, PZU’s share of the Polish non-life insurance market (measured in terms of gross written 
premiums) was 31.1 per cent. in 2013; 

 life insurance, principally offered by Powszechny Zakład Ubezpieczeń na Życie S.A. (“PZU Życie”) 
in Poland, which generated 47.0 per cent. of the Group’s gross written premium, and 41.7 per cent. 
of its operating profit, in 2013. According to KNF, PZU Życie’s share of the Polish life insurance 
market in terms of regular premium was 43.3 per cent. in 2013; 

 asset management, mainly offered by Towarzystwo Funduszy Inwestycyjnych PZU S.A. (“TFI 
PZU”), including (i) participation units in open-end investment funds, (ii) investment certificates in 
closed-end investment funds; (iii) investment plans; and (iv) employee pension schemes and 
individual pension accounts, which according to the Chamber of Fund and Asset Managers  as at 31 
December 2013 maintained the leading position in the investment funds market with a share of 
11.8% and net assets under management of PLN 22.2 billion; and 

 open-ended pension funds, offered by Powszechne Towarzystwo Emerytalne PZU S.A. (“PTE 
PZU”), which is the manager of Otwarty Fundusz Emerytalny PZU “Złota Jesień” (“OFE PZU”), 
which, according to the KNF is the third largest open pension fund in Poland both in terms of its 
members (2.2 million) and net assets under management (PLN 20.5 billion at 31 May 2014). In 
2013, PTE PZU generated a net profit of PLN 137 million, which represented 3.3 per cent. of the 
Group's net profit for that year.  

The Group’s operations in Poland generated 97.2 per cent. of its gross written premiums in 2013 and 
accounted for 99.6 per cent. of its total assets at 31 December 2013. The Group also conducts insurance 
business in the Baltic States (Lithuania, Latvia, Estonia) and Ukraine, but these businesses did not make a 
material contribution to the results of the Group in 2013. With the recently announced acquisition of certain 
RSA Insurance Group companies in the three Baltic States, the Group intends to expand its business in these 
countries, see “Recent developments” below. 

As at the date of this Prospectus, PZU and PZU Życie each have an ‘‘A’’ financial strength rating and 
counterparty credit rating from Standard & Poor’s, with a stable outlook for both companies. This is the 
highest rating available to Polish companies and PZU and PZU Życie are the only Polish financial 
institutions with this rating. 

PZU is a joint-stock company and its shares are traded on the Warsaw Stock Exchange (the “WSE”). It is 
established under Polish law for an indefinite period. Its National Court Register registration number is 

                                                      
1 Based on analysis of the audited financial statements of certain other European insurers and their segment information. 
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0000009831 and its registered office is in Warsaw at al. Jana Pawła II 24, 00-133 Warsaw, Poland. Its 
telephone number is +48 22 582 26 23. 

HISTORY 

Polska Dyrekcja Ubezpieczeń Wzajemnych, the legal predecessor of PZU, was established in the 1920s as 
the first nationwide insurance institution in Poland. Following the collapse of Communism a new legal 
framework for insurance companies was adopted and PZU commenced activities as a joint-stock company 
on 23 December 1991. PZU was entered into the commercial register on 27 December 1991. 

On 18 December 1991, PZU, together with Polski Bank Rozwoju S.A. and Bank Handlowy Warszawie S.A., 
established PZU Życie and PZU transferred its life insurance portfolio to PZU Życie in return for a 99.99 per 
cent. shareholding in the company. In 1998, PTE PZU, which is wholly-owned by PZU Życie, was 
established. PTE PZU is a corporate body and the manager of OFE PZU, which is an open-ended pension 
fund.  

On 5 November 1999, PZU was privatised and, in 2010, 25,819,337 PZU shares were offered to the public 
in an initial public offering.   

In 2002, PZU acquired shares in UAB DK “Lindra” (currently UAB DK PZU Lietuva (“PZU Lietuva”)) 
and commenced non-life insurance activity in the Lithuanian market.  In 2005, PZU purchased shares in 
OJSC “Skide-West” (currently PrJSC IC PZU Ukraine (“PZU Ukraine”)) and started activities in the 
Ukrainian non-life insurance market. In late 2012 and in mid-2013, PZU began selling insurance in Latvia 
and Estonia, respectively.  In April 2014, PZU announced the acquisition of certain RSA Insurance Group 
companies in Poland and the three Baltic States, see “Recent developments” below. 

STRATEGY 

The Management Board adopted a new development strategy - the PZU 2.0 Strategy - in December 2011 and 
updated the strategy in December 2013.  PZU's goal is to become the largest and the most profitable 
insurance company in Central and Eastern Europe. 

PZU's current strategy is based on the following principles: 

Focusing on customer needs 

Based on an analysis of customer needs undertaken by each of PZU’s individual business segments, PZU is 
focusing on delivering products and services that are tailored to its customers’ requirements through a multi-
channel, integrated system of sales and service, see “Product distribution in Poland” below.  For example, 
during 2014, PZU intends focus on improving its professionalism and quality of service as regards its 
corporate customers as these are the primary factors determining their choice of insurer.  In particular, PZU 
intends to support its corporate customers in the development of their businesses, including developing 
consulting services on risk engineering.  In the mass market, PZU intends to continue to introduce new 
savings and investment products, particularly long-term savings products with a view to increasing its life 
insurance business.  In addition, in the group insurance market, PZU intends to offer new health and drug 
insurance policies as part of its strategy to aggressively grow its health insurance and build a leading health 
provider position. 

Improving operational efficiency 

PZU intends to introduce further automated back office processes to increase its operational efficiency.  In 
particular, in 2013 PZU piloted a new IT system for non-life insurance products which represents a 
significant technological advance and is intended to improve customer relationship management. PZU 
intends to concentrate on the full implementation of this new system during 2014.  PZU also expects to 
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introduce new motor, home and property insurance products by the end of 2014.  PZU is also introducing a 
new policy system for handling mass market and SME motor, home and certain other non-life insurance 
products. 

Ensuring employee professionalism and commitment 

PZU intends to maintain its position as a preferred employer, as evidenced by the leading Polish employers 
rankings.  In 2013 PZU was listed in the top ten Polish employers in Best Employers AIESEC ranking and in 
top the fifteen Universum's Ideal Employer Ranking in Poland. It intends to do this through a continued 
focus on developing its employees’ skills and competencies under its ‘Program Plus' programme and through 
its MBA programme, which is aimed at managers and directors with the highest development potential.  
PZU also aims to build a results-oriented organisational culture by further developing modern management 
tools such as its annual performance review and MBO system. It will follow this with a specially designed 
management development programme – Manager 2.0. which will apply new technologies to the learning and 
development process. PZU will continue the implementation of IT tools that will allow it to gather and 
analyse more adequate and precise data about employees and processes performance.  

Leveraging the high level of recognition of PZU's strong brand 

Based on the study conducted by GfK Polonia in May 2014 (which sampled 1500 representative Poles), PZU 
has the highest level of brand recognition in Poland. PZU intends to maintain this level of brand recognition 
through coherent campaigns supporting its positioning as a client friendly and trusted company. PZU also 
presents itself as an institution that successfully manages its customers' funds by leveraging the fact that it is 
the largest asset management company in Poland.  

In 2013 PZU modernised its logo to convey a modern and client friendly approach. It is hoped that this 
rebrand will help to convince younger customers to use PZU.  

Maintaining a high return on equity 

The Group’s principle financial objective is to maintain a high return on equity and to achieve this the Group 
will seek to maintain its position as one of the largest insurance groups in Central and Eastern Europe. In 
particular, the Group will aim to: 

 maintain its present position in the market for both non-life and life insurance in Poland and 
maintain the profitability of these businesses; 

 continue its expansion in Central and Eastern Europe, see “Recent developments” below; 

 develop its activities on the savings market; and 

 seek new business opportunities, for example through aggressively developing its health insurance 
business in Poland to become a leading health insurance provider, see “Recent developments” below. 

Implementing a new investment policy 

PZU is in the process of implementing a new investment policy and re-modelling its investment portfolio.  In 
particular, PZU intends to finance large projects and to purchase and lease real property.  These activities are 
designed to provide longer-term investment income and to reduce the current volatility of results from the 
Group’s investment activities. 

COMPETITIVE STRENGTHS 

The main competitive strengths of the Group are: 
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Clear market leader in Poland with a growing presence in foreign markets 

The Group is the largest insurance group in Poland.  According to the KNF, as of 31 December 2013, the 
Group's market share in regular premium life insurance (measured by gross premiums written during the 
year) was approximately 43.3 per cent. and, in non-life insurance, it was approximately 31.1 per cent.  In 
2013, the Group’s gross written premium in the regular premium life insurance segment was more than four 
times that of its largest competitor and its gross written premium in the non-life insurance segment was 
approximately twice that of its largest competitor. 

According to the Chamber of Asset Managers, as of 31 May 2014, TFI PZU was the leading asset manager 
in Poland with net assets under management of PLN 23.7 billion. 

The Group is also developing its insurance business in selected countries of Central and Eastern Europe and 
currently has a presence in Ukraine, Lithuania, Latvia and Estonia.  In Lithuania, it collected 13.6 per cent. 
of the gross written premiums in non-life insurance in 2013, making it the third largest non-life insurance 
provider in that market.  The recently announced acquisition of certain RSA Insurance Group companies 
will, if and when completed, make the Group the largest insurer in each of Lithuania and Latvia based on the 
combined gross written premiums of the Group. 

Resilient business model and scale 

The Management Board estimates that the Group insures almost 50 per cent. of the adult population in 
Poland. For example, as of 31 December 2013, PZU and PZU Życie served approximately 16 million 
customers.  This large customer base gives the Group valuable insight into consumer preferences as well 
opportunities to cross-sell products and services to the Group's existing clients. 

The Group's leading market position is also underpinned by its extensive multi-channel distribution and 
client service network.  The Group's customers have access to the largest sales and service network among 
Polish insurers which consists of: 412 own sales outlets, approximately 8,400 agents, the Group's employees, 
as well as banks and electronic distribution channels. In the group life insurance segment, distributed by 
approximately 530 full-time employees of PZU Życie, the Group maintains relationships with approximately 
80,000 individuals in Poland who, pursuant to PZU Życie's general terms and conditions of group life 
insurance, administer the insurance products. The scale of the distribution network constitutes a unique 
benefit for clients and makes the client base more stable, particularly in the group life insurance segment.  
Additionally, the significant size of the distribution network provides a competitive advantage. This has been 
strengthened by the acquisition of Link4 and its direct distribution channel. 

Furthermore, the Group benefits from one of the most recognised and historic brands in Poland. In 2013, the 
PZU brand was valued at more than PLN 2.3 billion, making it the fourth most valuable Polish brand in the 
annual “Rzeczpospolita” ranking.  This reflects the fact that the Group is considered to be a trusted provider 
of insurance products, as well as a stable and trustworthy financial institution. 

Superior financial and operating performance 

The Group has a track record of delivering robust profitability.  In each of 2013 and 2012, the Group 
reported net profit of PLN 3.3 billion, and a return on equity of 24.1 per cent in 2013 and 24.0 per cent in 
2012. PZU’s return on equity averaged 22 per cent. over the last five years, its key competitors together 
averaged 10 per cent.2 The Management Board believes that PZU’s high and stable profitability is evidence 
of the success of the Group’s business model. 

PZU’s management believes that it has superior underwriting expertise due to the know-how of its 
employees, its unique database of approximately 16 million individual customers and its large number of 

                                                      
2 Based on an analysis of its key competitors’ audited financial statements.  
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SME and corporate customers.  This allowed the Group to achieve a margin ratio of group and continued life 
insurance, without one-offs, in 2013 and 2012 of 23.0 per cent. and 24.5 per cent., respectively.  In the non-
life insurance business, the Group’s combined ratio in 2013 and 2012 amounted to 87.8 per cent. and 92.8 
per cent., respectively. 

The Group also has a highly regarded claims handling process, with a satisfaction index in relation to claims 
handling in 2013 of 91 per cent. and high net promoter scores, see “Claims handling in Poland” below.  In 
March 2014, the Group introduced a direct claims handling process which it believes will transform the 
motor third party liability market.  This process allows insureds with PZU-written motor third party liability 
policies who are involved in accidents in respect of which they have a claim to seek immediate 
indemnification from PZU which then assumes and processes the claim against the third party’s insurance 
company. 

Sound financial and capital position 

The Management Board believes that the strong financial position of PZU and PZU Życie constitutes an 
important competitive advantage for the Group.  As of 31 December 2013, the Group’s total equity 
amounted to PLN 13.1 billion.  The Group's solvency ratios exceed the average level for European insurers, 
based on data provided by European Insurance and Occupational Pensions Authority.  For example, as of 31 
December 2013 and 31 December 2012, the Group's Solvency I ratio was 351.8 per cent. and 402.8 per 
cent., respectively compared to median levels for European non-life insurers of 280 per cent. and 210 per 
cent. for life insurers in Europe as 31 December 2013.  Based on analysis of its key competitors’ financial 
statements the Group has significant leverage capacity when compared to those competitors. The strong 
financial position provides a stable base for future development and utilisation of potential business 
opportunities.  

BUSINESS 

The Group's business principally comprises non-life insurance written by PZU, life insurance written by 
PZU Życie, investment activities, insurance activities in the Baltic States and Ukraine and pensions.  The 
Group’s segment reporting is prepared in both IFRS and PAS, as described in detail in note 5 to the 2013 
Financial Statements.  The Group’s operations are divided into the following reporting segments: 

 corporate non-life insurance, which comprises a wide range of property, third party and motor 
insurance products customised to meet clients' expectations and with individual risk assessment, 
offered by PZU to large corporate customers in Poland; 

 retail non-life insurance, which comprises a wide range of property, accident, third party and motor 
insurance products offered by PZU to retail clients and SMEs in Poland; 

 group and individually continued life insurance, which comprises group insurance offered by PZU 
Życie to groups of employees and other formal groups (such as trade unions), intended for 
individuals who are in a legal relationship with the insurer (for example, employers and trade 
unions) and individually continued insurance where an individual insured person who no longer 
benefits from a group insurance policy has elected to continue the insurance previously provided 
under that insurance policy. PZU Życie offers a wide range of group insurance coverage, investment 
insurance (other than investment contracts) and health insurance in Poland; 

 individual life insurance, which comprises life insurance, investment insurance (other than 
investment contracts) and health insurance offered by PZU Życie to individual clients in Poland 
where the insurance contract covers a specific individual who is subject to separate risk assessment; 

 investment contracts, which comprises products of PZU Życie which do not result in a transfer of 
significant insurance risk in accordance with IFRS 4 and are not insurance contracts (i.e. some of the 
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products with a guaranteed rate of return and some unit-linked products). In accordance with IFRS 
and as required by IAS 39, these products are accounted for using the deposit method and measured 
depending on the structure of a product – at amortised cost or fair value. Written premiums on these 
products are not recognised in accordance with IFRS. In accordance with PAS, all of these products 
are disclosed as insurance products and written premium is recognised; 

 investments, which comprises investment activities in respect of the Group’s own funds (being the 
surplus of investments over technical provisions in PZU and PZU Życie) increased by the surplus of 
investment income over the risk-free rate corresponding to the value of the technical provisions of 
PZU and PZU Życie in non-investment products. This segment also includes income earned on other 
excess cash in the Group; 

 Baltic states, which comprises non-life and, since 2013, life insurance written by the Group’s 
Lithuanian insurance companies in all three States; 

 Ukraine, which comprises non-life and, since 2013, life insurance written by the Group’s Ukrainian 
insurance companies; and 

 Pension funds, which comprises PZU PTE. 

The table below shows certain segment information for 2013 and 2012 which is derived from note 5.7 to the 
2013 Financial Statements.  This information has been prepared under PAS, except where otherwise stated.  
For a reconciliation to IFRS and a more detailed description of how the segment information has been 
prepared, see note 5 to the 2013 Financial Statements. 
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2013 PZU PZU Życie 
PZU and 

PZU Życie    

 

Group 

 

Corporate 
non-life 

Retail 
non-life 

Group and 
individually 

continued life 
Individual 

life 
Investment 
contracts 

Investments 

(external 
operations) 

Baltics 
(IFRS) 

Ukraine 
(IFRS) Pension 

 

 

Total 

 (PLN millions)  

Gross written premium 1,740 6,534 6,415 1,330 1,098 — 262 204 — 16,480 

Net earned premium 1,556 6,552 6,414 1,331 1,099 — 227 171 — 16,249 

Net investment income 140 557 735 305 89 897 7 24 12 2,488 

Claims net of reinsurance (854) (4,193) 4,300 (627) (1,330) — (139) (81) — (11,161) 

Insurance result/operating profit 391 1,067 1,603 140 11 897 1 16 137 4,181 
 

2012 PZU PZU Życie 
PZU and 

PZU Życie    

 

Group 

 
Corporate 

non-life 
Retail 

non-life 

Group and 
individually 

continued life 
Individual 

life 
Investment 
contracts 

Investments 

(external 
operations) 

Baltics 
(IFRS) 

Ukraine 
(IFRS) Pension 

 

 

Total 

 (PLN millions)  

Gross written premium 1,840 6,614 6,364 1,090 1,859 — 196 142 — 16,243 

Net earned premium 1,764 6,513 6,362 1,092 1,859 — 172 103 — 16,005 

Net investment income 127 537 955 347 191 1,525 10 18 13 3,705 

Claims net of reinsurance (1,174) (4,299) (4,144) (605) (3,185) — (112) (54) — (12,219) 

Insurance result/operating 
profit 

218 800 1,373 105 1 1,525 2 10 98 4,080 
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Corporate and retail non-life insurance written by PZU 

Overview 

PZU conducts the Group’s Polish non-life insurance business.  PZU offers a wide range of non-life 
insurance products, including motor, property, personal (including accident, travel and, for corporate 
customers, financial insurance), agricultural and third party liability insurance.  PZU's product range 
encompassed 200 insurance products at the end of 2013.  A majority of the insurance products offered 
by PZU are standard products addressed to individual clients and SMEs. PZU also offers products 
designed for large corporate clients.  In 2013 and according to PAS, PZU collected gross written 
premiums of PLN 8.3 billion, settled gross claims and benefits amounting to PLN 4.3 billion and 
generated a net profit of PLN 5.1 billion, of which PLN 3.8 billion was the dividend from PZU Życie. 
In 2013, PZU’s combined ratio for non-life insurance was 87.3 per cent. 

Principal classes of insurance  

Motor insurance, which is provided to both corporate and retail customers, is an important group of 
products offered by PZU, both in terms of the number of valid insurance contracts as well as the share 
of the premium to the total value of gross written premiums, which was 29.5 per cent. in 2013. PZU’s 
mandatory motor insurance covers the third party liability of a driver of a motor vehicle who caused 
damage while driving that resulted in death, bodily injury, disturbance of health or loss or damage to 
property. The terms of this insurance are defined by Polish law.  PZU’s range of voluntary motor 
insurance products include motor own damage insurance, preferential motor own damage insurance 
for safe drivers, a motor assistance package, insurance for windows in motor vehicles, accident 
insurance for the driver and passengers of a motor vehicle, and accident insurance covering damage to 
other vehicles. The motor own damage insurance is one of the key products offered by PZU. It covers 
damage to the insured’s motor vehicle and its equipment resulting from a collision with other motor 
vehicles, individuals, animals or things, third party actions, burglary, accidents, effects of thermal or 
chemical agents as well as a theft of the motor vehicle or equipment, and any damage resulting from 
such theft or attempted theft. 

Property insurance, which is also provided to both corporate and retail customers, is PZU’s second 
most important category of insurance products, accounting for 11.5 per cent. of gross written 
premiums in 2013. In the retail segment, the most important product is comprehensive home 
insurance covering property damage, contents, third party liability and accidental damage.  SMEs can 
also purchase comprehensive insurance packages covering all property held (including buildings and 
structures, plant and equipment, tools, working assets, capital expenditures, property accepted in order 
to provide services, cash kept on site and in transit, electronic equipment and data carriers, windows 
and goods in transit) as well as third party liability and assistance cover. In addition to these packages, 
PZU provides its SME customers with a wide range of standard insurance, for example property 
insurance against fire and other natural disasters, loss of profit insurance and all risk insurance. 

Market position 

In 2013 and according to KNF, PZU’s share of the Polish non-life insurance market, based on gross 
premiums written in 2013, was 31.1 per cent.  PZU has a strong market position in motor own damage 
insurance for individual customers, with a 33.0 per cent. market share in 2013.  In 2013, PZU's market 
share in motor insurance for corporate customers was 49.2 per cent. in motor third party liability 
insurance and 43.6 per cent. in motor own damage insurance. PZU’s operating profit (technical result) 
from its motor insurance business was PLN 369 million in 2013 compared with PLN 406 million in 
2012.  
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Clients’ categories 

PZU categorises its clients as corporate, SME and mass clients: 

 corporate clients are entities (such as companies, businesses without legal personality and sole 
proprietors) which satisfy certain segmentation criteria based on the minimum sum insured, 
the total premium paid and/or the number of motor vehicles owned. Corporate clients also 
include other customer groups that are distinguished by the type of business conducted; 

 all other business entities are classified as SMEs; and  

 mass clients are natural persons. 

Premium setting 

Premium setting involves two stages: an actuarial risk assessment and then a market risk assessment. 
The actuarial assessment is based on an in-depth analysis of claims records to date in view of 
premium variables and additional risk factors not included in previous premiums. For example, the 
review covers claims records for individual regions, taking into consideration factors such as the type, 
brand, model and age of a motor vehicle for motor insurance, and a number of other factors for client 
groups entitled to rebates or covered by different agreements. These analyses use source data relating 
to policies, claims and provisions. Additions to incurred but not reported provisions and provisions for 
annuities and costs used in analyses are based on reports prepared by the Group’s actuaries. An 
actuarial premium is set based on the analysis of claims records to date and risk fluctuation 
assessments. 

The market risk assessment involves additional market factors and conditions, marketing assumptions 
that are not subject to an actuarial risk assessment, sales potential and an expected margin. PZU’s 
product offices are responsible for determining market premiums.  

New premiums and changes in existing premiums are subject to Management Board approval. 

Provisioning 

Technical provisions are created to cover any current and future claims and costs which may arise 
under insurance policies on the basis of information provided by field units and claims developments 
scenarios based on historical data, separately for each product. The technical provisions are created at 
the end of each reporting period in accordance with PZU’s internal regulations and applicable law.  

PZU’s technical provisions include (i) unearned premium provisions, (ii) unexpired risk provisions, 
(iii) outstanding claims and benefits provisions, including capitalised annuities provisions, (iv) 
provisions for bonuses and rebates and (v) risk equalisation provisions. 

Reinsurance 

PZU principally provides reinsurance support to its Lithuanian and Ukrainian insurance companies. It 
also provides limited reinsurance to third party insurers. In 2013, PZU’s gross written premiums from 
reinsurance provided to third party insurers were less than 1 per cent. of its gross written premiums 
from its direct insurance business. 
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Life insurance written by PZU Życie 

Overview 

PZU Życie, a wholly-owned subsidiary of PZU, conducts life insurance business within Poland. PZU 
Życie offers a wide range of group and individual products, serving both security and investment 
purposes, including life insurance, endowment and annuity insurance, employee pension schemes, 
health insurance and unit-linked insurance, as well as a wide range of complementary products to all 
product lines. In 2013 and according to PAS, PZU Życie collected gross written premiums of PLN 8.8 
billion, settled gross claims and benefits amounting to PLN 6.2 billion and generated a net result of 
PLN 1.7 billion. 

The greatest contribution to the gross written premiums gathered by PZU Życie is from group and 
individually continued life insurance. In 2013, gross written premiums in this segment amounted to 
PLN 6.4 billion, or 72.5 per cent. of PZU Życie’s total gross written premiums (according to PAS).  

Products 

PZU Życie offers a wide range of insurance products which is constantly adjusted to meet the needs 
of its customers. PZU Życie’s product strategy is that it should offer all product lines to all market 
segments. PZU Życie’s product classes are discussed below. 

Group life insurance 

Group life insurance covers the life or life and health of the insured and his or her immediate family 
members. This insurance is addressed mainly to employees who may join through insurance 
agreements between their employer and PZU Życie. Group life insurance is structured as a contract in 
favour of a third party, and may cover many insureds under one agreement. The premium is flat, 
regardless of the age and sex of the insured (provided that the amount insured and the benefits are 
equal as well). Persons who decide to join the insurance programme are not subject to any medical 
examinations. 

Within this insurance group, there is a broad range of additional insurance products that the policy 
holder may add to the insurance, for example to increase the benefit payable or guarantee certain 
benefits in the event of health problems.  There is also an option for an insured to individually 
continue the group insurance if the insured ceases to be eligible for the group insurance, for example 
if the insured ceases to be employed. 

Group insurance is distributed by approximately 530 full-time employees of PZU Życie, and the 
Group maintains relationships with approximately 80,000 individuals at various companies and 
institutions in Poland who, pursuant to PZU Życie’s general terms and conditions for group life 
insurance, technically service the insurance products. Additionally, PZU Życie has executed separate 
service agreements (against consideration) with a majority of these persons, under which they conduct 
insurance market research, customer satisfaction surveys and inform the customers of the location of 
PZU Życie’s outlets and the possibility of contacting the relevant group insurance account manager at 
PZU Życie.   SME group insurance is distributed through agents and brokers. 

Group life insurance products are also offered through the bancassurance channel, where it is 
generally entered into in combination with a borrowing, such as a mortgage loan. If the insured event 
specified in the agreement occurs, PZU Życie will typically assume responsibility to repay the 
outstanding debt balance. The scope of the insurance may cover the insured’s death, incapacitation or 
inability to work, either as a result of sickness or accident. 
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Group savings and protection insurance 

 Unit-linked group insurance: This is a savings and protection product which aims to gather 
and invest funds for future pensions. The premiums may be financed by employers or 
deducted from the employees’ remuneration. Funds remitted to PZU Życie as the premium or 
additional payments are convertible to units on unit accounts created individually for each 
insured. When the insured reaches the retirement age, PZU Życie disburses the funds gathered 
on the individual account, whereas in the event of the insured’s death, the insurance 
agreement guarantees a payment to the person nominated by the insured of a benefit equal to 
the balance of the unit account increased by a certain amount determined in the agreement. 

 Employee pension programmes: These are a form of organised group pension savings. PZU 
Życie enters into unit-linked group life insurance agreements with employers for their 
employees. The premium is paid from employer’s funds and represents a defined proportion 
of the employee’s salary. Each member may pay an additional premium up to a capped 
amount. In the event of the death of a beneficiary, the person nominated by the insured in his 
or her declaration receives a benefit equal to the amount insured and the balance on the 
participant’s account. If the insured lives to the retirement age and satisfies certain conditions 
set out in the Act on Employee Pension Schemes, he or she receives the funds accumulated in 
his or her account. 

Group health insurance 

Group health insurance covers the life and the health of the insured or co-insured person. The 
products are divided into categories covering outpatient clinics and hospitalisation. Outpatient clinic 
insurance is offered both in the form of standalone insurance and as additional insurance (additional 
group health insurance), whereas the hospitalisation products are only offered as standalone 
agreements. The health insurance products offered by PZU Życie allow for fast access to limited 
public health services and financing of medical services in line with the chosen scope.  

Individually continued insurance 

This is the most of important individual insurance product in terms of gross written premiums offered 
by PZU Życie. It is offered exclusively to persons previously covered by group life insurance who 
may continue their insurance individually. It benefits persons who remain unemployed after their 
employment has ceased or where the new employer does not offer group life insurance or only offers 
less beneficial terms. The solution may also be attractive to individuals who retire due to age or 
disability. PZU Życie actively encourages clients under the age of 46 covered by group life insurance 
to convert to individually continued insurance. Customers who elect to individually continue their 
insurance may purchase additional products covering a wide range of risks, from death in an accident 
through to the permanent loss of health.  Customers who have individually continued insurance 
products are serviced by PZU Życie’s network of sales and service outlets. 

Individual protection insurance 

All individual protection insurance options described below offer insured amounts that may be 
indexed yearly and the option to extend the protection offered through additional agreements which 
may cover accidental death, permanent incapacitation, permanent inability to work, hospital 
treatment, serious sickness and surgery among others. 

 Term insurance: This product is targeted at persons seeking life insurance for a certain period 
of time (most often until the repayment of financial indebtedness, such as a mortgage loan). It 
covers the insured’s life. In the event of death, the beneficiary receives the amount insured. 
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Individual term insurance may only be entered into on the basis of regular premium 
payments, in amounts pre-determined for the entire contract period.  

 Endowment insurance: This product is used for a specific period of time (medium- or long-
term). The saving component provides the insured with the possibility of savings for any 
purpose by way of guaranteeing the insured amount if the insured lives until the end of the 
insurance period. The protection component secures the payment of a certain benefit to the 
insured’s family in the event of his or her death. This type of insurance is offered in two 
variants with regular premiums or a single premium.  

 Whole life insurance: This product is used for an indefinite time, i.e. for the whole life of the 
insured. The coverage function ensures that a given benefit is paid to the relatives of the 
insured in the case of his or her death, with the coverage lasting up to the death of the insured. 
It is offered with regular premiums or a single premium. Premiums are paid for a designated 
time, in the period of professional activity of the insured. Afterwards, the protection in the 
event of death is guaranteed without time limitation.  

 Dowry insurance: This product is used for a defined period of time (medium- or long-term), 
until the beneficiary’s child reaches a certain age. The savings component ensures that the 
beneficiary’s child will receive payments equalling the guaranteed insurance amount when 
the child reaches the age specified in the policy. The protection component of the insurance 
ensures that PZU Życie assumes the obligation to contribute premiums in the event of the 
policy holder’s death. It is offered in variations with regular or single premiums.  

Individual health insurance 

Individual health insurance products cover outpatient clinic services and the life and health of the 
insured.  

Individual savings and investment insurance 

 Life insurance with embedded deposits: This is a tax-efficient short- or medium-term savings 
and protection endowment product with a single premium. The product guarantees the 
payment of the paid premiums at a pre-agreed rate of return both in the case of death and 
surviving the period of PZU Życie’s liability.  

 Structured life insurance: This is a tax-efficient medium-term investment product offered in 
the form of a single premium endowment. If the insured lives until the end of the period of 
PZU Życie’s liability, the benefit he or she will receive will depend on the performance of the 
financial instruments purchased in line with the investment strategy applicable to the product. 
This type of product is also offered in the form of group insurance through the bancassurance 
channel. 

 Unit-linked life insurance: This is a medium- or long-term product with regular or single 
premiums. It may serve as an investment, protection and investment or protection and savings 
product. The premium amount is used for purchasing individual units in insurance capital 
funds, as requested by the insured. In addition to the insurance protection against certain 
events, the insurance form of the product makes it possible for the client to invest, under the 
same agreement, his or her funds in investment funds selected from a range of different, 
including foreign, investment fund management companies. If the insured lives until the end 
of the period of PZU Życie’s liability, he or she will receive the balance on the unit account of 
the insured. If the insured dies, the balance disbursed is increased by an additional cash 
benefit. This type of product is also offered in the form of group insurance through the 
bancassurance channel. 
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 To tailor its product mix, PZU Życie has been phasing out unit-linked life insurance sold by 
agents since the start of 2014. 

 Unit-linked pension insurance: This is a tax–efficient savings product, providing a way to 
accumulate and invest funds for the future pension in the framework of the third pillar of the 
Polish pension system. The Individual Pension Account offered by PZU Życie serves both 
savings and investment purposes. The premium paid is used to purchase units in insurance 
capital funds available for the product, as requested by the saver. The scope of the agreement 
covers the death of the saver during the liability period, and a disbursement of the funds 
gathered in the Individual Pension Account after the saver reaches the retirement age.  

Market position 

As of 31 December 2013, PZU Życie served approximately 12 million customers, out of which 7 
million clients were insured through group policies. 

In 2013 and according to KNF, PZU Życie had a 28.3 per cent. market share in terms of gross 
premiums written in the Polish life insurance sector.  PZU Życie is also the leader in Poland in the 
regularly paid premium segment with a market share of regularly paid gross premiums written of 43.3 
per cent. 

The ratio of PZU Życie's technical result to gross written premiums in 2013 was four times as high as 
the ratio achieved by all other Polish companies offering life insurance (20.6 per cent. compared to 
5.3 per cent.). The operating profit of the Group life and continued business declined by 5.4 per cent. 
from PLN 1,561 million to PLN 1,476 million (after excluding one-off effects). 

Premium setting 

PZU Życie sets premiums based on forecasted technical results of a given product over the term of the 
insurance contract. The forecast includes values of individual components of the technical results, 
including the gross written premiums, income from investments, claims paid, acquisition costs, 
administration expenses, claims handling and the change in technical provisions. To assess these 
results, profitability ratios are applied, such as discounted income for the years included in the 
projection, profitability calculated as discounted income to discounted premiums, internal rate of 
return and the break-even point. In addition, a premium sensitivity analysis is performed, including 
changes in parameters such as mortality and morbidity rates, expenses, policy lapse costs and 
macroeconomic assumptions. 

The assumptions and parameters used in setting premiums are based both on PZU Życie’s internal 
statistics (including the frequency of specified events, mortality rates or policy surrendering, among 
others) and public statistics (Polish life expectancy tables and morbidity tables). Premiums set using 
actuarial models are assessed based on market data and on sales possibilities, considering the margin 
embedded in a premium. Changes to existing premiums and new tariffs are approved by PZU Życie’s 
Management Board. 

Provisioning 

Technical provisions are created to cover any current and future claims which may arise under 
insurance policies in accordance with PZU Życie’s internal regulations. These provisions include:  

 unearned premium provisions;  

 life insurance provisions;  
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 life insurance provisions where the investment risk is borne by the policyholder;  

 outstanding claims provisions;  

 other technical provisions, including: (i) provisions for revalorisation of individual life 
insurance and annuity benefits taken over from PZU Życie; (ii) provisions for pending court 
proceedings and benefits paid pursuant to court decisions on changes in the amount or 
performance of cash benefits; and (iii) provisions for low interest rates connected with 
expected decrease in profitability of investments on account and at the risk of the insurer; and  

 provisions for bonuses and rebates for the insured. 

Investments 

The Group’s strategic goals for 2012 to 2014 in relation to its investment portfolios relating to own 
risk are: 

 the optimisation of asset profitability based on a defined level of risk appetite; 

 profit and loss volatility management;  

 the creation of an infrastructure that will support active risk management in periods of market 
stress; and 

 diversification of asset portfolio. 

The Group aims to achieve these goals through: 

 increasing the share of absolute return portfolios and reducing the share of index 
benchmarked portfolios; 

 increasing its exposure to corporate debt and alternative assets (including private equity), 
infrastructure projects and real estate business development; and 

 establishing a clear segregation of asset management responsibilities within the Group.  

The Group’s investment portfolios are managed by internal and external asset managers. TFI PZU, as 
a licenced external asset manager mainly manages portfolios invested in mark to market liquid assets 
under strict guidance and investment limits provided by PZU. The Structured Investment Bureau 
manages (mainly through investment funds) non sovereign debt exposures (corporate, bank and 
financial loans and bond) as well as long term equity portfolios and alternative investments. The real 
estate investment funds portfolio is managed by the Real Estate Bureau. Held to maturity and liquidity 
portfolios are managed by the Treasury Bureau. Additionally PTE PZU and TFI PZU manage third 
party portfolios (pensions, business and investment funds purchased by third parties).  

Investment decisions require the approval of different bodies based on the asset type and the amount 
to be invested.  In certain cases, the Chief Investment Officer together with either the Head of 
Treasury or the Head of the Structured Investment Bureau can approve of an investment decision 
provided that it is within the appropriate limits set and accompanied by a positive risk opinion.  In 
other cases, ALCO, Management Board or Supervisory Council approve the investment decisions 
according to internal regulations. 
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The table below shows the Group’s investments including financial assets (including financial assets 
at the policyholder’s risk, investment properties and financial obligations (negative valuation of 
derivative instruments and reverse repo obligations) as at 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012. 

 2013 2012 

 (PLN million) (% of total) (PLN 
million) 

(% of total) 

Equity instruments 
including: 

6,244 12.3 6,326 12.6 

Equity instruments, for 
which fair value can be 
determined – listed 

3,386 6.7 2,404 4.8 

Equity instruments, for 
which fair value can be 
determined – other 

2,855 5.6 3,796 7.6 

Equity instruments, for 
which fair value cannot 
be determined 

3 0.0 126 0.3 

Interest-bearing financial 
assets, including: 

43,060 84.8 43,093 86.2 

Debt securities – 
government 

33,388 65.7 33,495 67.0 

Debt securities – other 2,769 5.5 2,435 4.9 

Buy-sell back and sell-
buy back transactions and 
term deposits with credit 
institutions (net) 

5,181 10.2 6,142 12.3 

Loans ....................................  1,722 3.4 1,021 2.0 

Investment property 1,475 2.9 565 1.1 

Derivatives (net value) ..............  22 0.0 34 0.1 

     

     

Total 50,802 100,0 50,018 100,0 

As of 31 December 2013, the total amount of net assets where the investment risk is borne by the 
policyholders (unit-linked products) was PLN 4,758 million (PLN 4,125 million as of 31 December 
2012). The line “Equity instruments, for which fair value can be determined – other” consist 
predominantly of net assets where the investment risk is borne by the policyholders. The line “Equity 
instruments, for which fair value can be determined- listed” consists of assets on which the Group 
carries risk. 

In 2013, the Group continued to diversify its asset portfolio. The lines “Debt securities – other” and 
“Loans” consist mainly of corporate debt instruments issued by Polish companies and domestic banks 
denominated mainly in PLN. The “Investment property” line increased in 2013 mainly due to the 
consolidation of real estate funds which were not fully consolidated in 2012. 
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The Group’s use of derivative contracts is restricted. For portfolios managed by TFI PZU, standard 
derivative contracts may be used but are subject to strict limits. For other portfolios derivatives may 
only be entered into in order to hedge risks on the basis of a positive risk opinion. 

PTE PZU 

PTE PZU, a subsidiary of PZU Życie, operates in the market of open-end pension funds representing 
the second pillar of the pension system in Poland. PTE PZU manages OFE PZU, one of the largest 
open-end pension funds in Poland.  At the end of 2013, OFE PZU ranked third in the market both in 
terms of the number of members and net assets.  OFE PZU has 2.2 million members who represented 
13.6 per cent. of all participants of open-ended pension funds in Poland at 31 December 2013.  In 
2013, PTE PZU's operating profit was PLN 137 million, or 3.3 per cent of the Group's operating 
profit.  The pending pension reform may lead to a significant reduction of the role of the pension 
funds in the Polish pension system because the pension premiums of a large part of the population 
may be transferred from the pension funds to the state-controlled Social Pension Office (“ZUS”). 
Therefore, the financial results of PTE PZU may decrease in the future. 

Baltic States 

In the Baltic States, the Group conducts its non-life insurance business through UAB DK PZU 
Lietuva (“PZU Lithuania”) and its life insurance business through UAB PZU Lietuva Gyvybës 
Draudimas (“PZU Lithuania Life”).  

In 2013, PZU Lithuania had gross written premiums of LTL 189 million and PZU Lithuania Life had 
gross written premiums of LTL 26 million.  

In 2013, PZU Lithuania was the third largest non-life insurer in Lithuania with a market share of 13.6 
per cent. of total gross written premiums according to the Lithuanian central bank. In comparison, 
PZU Lithuania Life's share of the life insurance market in Lithuania was 4.2 per cent. of total gross 
written premiums according to the Lithuanian central bank. 

PZU Lithuania opened its Latvian branch in October 2012 (with the first sales taking place in 
December 2012) and its Estonian branch in November 2012 (with the first sales taking place in June 
2013). 

In April 2014, PZU announced the acquisition of certain RSA Group Insurance companies in the three 
Baltic States, see “Recent developments” below. 

Ukraine 

In Ukraine, the Group conducts its non-life insurance business through PrJSC IC PZU Ukraine (“PZU 
Ukraine”) and its life insurance business through PrJSC IC PZU Ukraine Life Insurance (“PZU 
Ukraine Life”). In 2013, PZU Ukraine had the gross written premiums of UAH 404 million and PZU 
Ukraine Life had gross written premiums of UAH 120 million.  

In 2013, PZU Ukraine had a 3.5 per cent. share of the gross written premiums in the regular Ukrainian 
non-life insurance sector, which gave it tenth place in the market according to the State Commission 
for Regulation of Financial Services Markets of Ukraine and Insurance TOP.  In the life insurance 
market, PZU Ukraine Life achieved seventh place in 2013 with a market share of 4.8 per cent. 
compared to the leading share of 22.5 per cent., according to the State Commission for Regulation of 
Financial Services Markets of Ukraine and Insurance TOP.  
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The crisis developing in East Ukraine and its economic effects, including the devaluation of the 
Ukrainian currency, may affect the contribution of the Ukrainian operations to the Group's net profits 
in the future. 

PRODUCT DISTRIBUTION IN POLAND 

The Group's distribution network includes: 

 exclusive agents: exclusive field and office agents are the Group’s largest populated 
distribution channel and one of the most important channel for the distribution of motor 
insurance. Field agents sell the Group's products to clients solicited by themselves and those 
who visit their offices, which are usually small sales and services outlets. Office agents have 
separate sales desks in PZU’s sales and service outlets and take the opportunity to approach 
clients visiting PZU outlets. As of 31 December 2013, the Group co-operated with 
approximately 8,400 exclusive insurance agents; 

 agencies offering products of various insurance companies: these are insurance agents who 
co-operate with several insurance companies. These agents conduct business mainly in travel 
agencies, insurance sales offices and car dealerships, as well as in municipality offices. As of 
31 December 2013, the Group co-operated with approximately 2,200 multi-agents. These 
agents mainly sell motor insurance, and specialised multi-agents also handle corporate motor 
insurance programmes; 

 insurance brokers: insurance brokers act for clients who seek insurance protection in 
exchange for a fee generally payable by an insurance company. As of 31 December 2013, the 
Group co-operated with a total of approximately 880 brokers;  

 the Group's employees: as of 31 December 2013, the Group had approximately 800 
employees dedicated for corporate and group business and approximately 1,600 employees 
supporting sales through the Group’s network; 

 banks offering bancassurance products and partners co-operating with the Group under 
strategic partnership programmes;  

 direct sales channels (telephone and the internet): PZU online is a system which supports 
insurance sales over the internet and telephone. It is used to offer motor insurance to mass 
clients and SMEs.  PZU expects to strengthen its direct sales offering following the recently 
announced acquisition of a direct insurer from RSA Insurance Group, see “Recent 
developments” below; and 

 Agents are the main distribution channel.  There is no cross-over between agents selling life 
products and agents selling non-life products. 

CLAIMS HANDLING IN POLAND 

The claims handling process is conducted at a central unit and eight regional claims centres.  At the 
central unit, the model of an equal workload of individual claims handling units has been 
implemented because the process is based mainly on electronic information, and there is no 
connection of the servicing of a claim with the place of residence of the insured or the location where 
an event occurred. 

PZU believes that the quality of its claims handling process is of material importance to its customers.  
According to a survey conducted by PZU on a group of more than 20,000 customers (from both PZU 
and PZU Życie), the satisfaction index in relation to claims handling in 2013 was 91 per cent.  The 
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NPS (Net Promoter Score) recommendation index among the customers who participated in the 
claims handling process was 29. This represents the difference between the proportion of promoters 
and critics participating in the survey and indicates that they are active promoters of PZU.  
Additionally, 50 per cent. of surveyed customers indicated that they are active promoters of PZU. 

In April 2014, PZU introduced, a direct claims handling service, which was a market first. This 
service allows its client to settle third part liability claims directly with PZU. It is hoped that this will 
add value for PZU’s customers.  

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Group’s capital policy for the 2013-2015 period is intended to increase its total shareholder return 
and is based on the following rules: 

 managing the Group’s capital (including surplus capital) at the PZU level; 

 maintaining the Group’s shareholder funds net of subordinated debt at a level no lower than a 
250 per cent. solvency margin for the Group and striving to maintain the Group’s shareholder 
funds including subordinated debt at approximately a 400 per cent. solvency margin (as at the 
end of each financial year), to maintain the Group’s financial safety; 

 maintaining assets to cover the provisions in PZU and PZU Życie at a level no lower than 110 
per cent.; 

 obtaining an optimal financing structure by replacing the capital surplus with subordinated 
debt up to an amount no higher than PLN 3 billion, not to exceed a 25 per cent. cap of 
shareholder funds to cover the solvency margin as referred to in article 148 of the Insurance 
Act; 

 retaining equity at a level corresponding to a AA rating according to Standard & Poor’s 
methodology; 

 providing funds for development and acquisitions in the policy period; and 

 no equity issues by PZU in the policy period. 

The Group’s capital management involves, among other things, monitoring its key solvency 
parameters, such as the level of own funds and the degree to which such funds are sufficient to cover 
the required solvency margin and the guarantee fund. IFRS does not lay down principles applicable to 
calculation of the required solvency margin or own funds covering the solvency margin. 

Pursuant to the Insurance Act, Polish insurance companies must have own funds in an amount not 
lower than the required solvency margin and the guarantee fund. In order to determine the value of 
own funds, PZU’s assets are reduced by the value of its intangible assets, deferred tax asset, assets 
allocated to settle all expected liabilities as well as shares held by PZU and other assets used to 
finance the equity of insurance companies operating within the same insurance capital group. The 
value so determined is adjusted in proportion to the shares held by PZU by the total surplus or 
shortage of own funds of the controlled insurance companies over their solvency margins. 

The principles for calculating the required solvency margin and the minimum value of the guarantee 
fund are set out in the Ordinance of 28 November 2003 on the manner of calculating the solvency 
margin and the minimum amount of the guarantee fund for insurance sections and classes (Journal of 
Laws No. 211 of 2003, item 2060 with subsequent amendments, the “Solvency Margin Ordinance”). 
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The calculation of own funds and solvency margin includes financial data in accordance with PAS.  

The table below shows. for both PZU and PZU Życie, its own funds, its required solvency margin (in 
PLN) and its solvency margin ratio (being the excess of its own funds over its required solvency 
margin), in each case as of 31 March 2014, 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012 and calculated 
in accordance with PAS. 
 

Company 
31 March 

2014 
31 December 

2013 
31 December 

2012 

PZU own funds (PLN millions) ...........................  10,356 9,506 10,956 

PZU required solvency margin (PLN millions) ...  1,352 1,362 1,344 

PZU solvency margin ratio (%) ...........................  766.2% 697.7% 815.3% 

PZU Życie own funds (PLN millions) .................  4,557 4,185 6,551 

PZU Życie required solvency margin (PLN 
millions) ...............................................................  1,765 1,777 1,742 

PZU Życie solvency margin ratio (%) .................  258.1% 235.5% 376.0% 

Group solvency margin ratio (%) .....................  380.5% 351.8% 402.8% 

(Information is based on the Group’s financial statements, its management reports and PZU’s internal 
calculations.) 

In both 2012 and 2013, PZU and PZU Życie passed the annual stress tests for insurance companies 
with high solvency margins and comfortable provision coverage ratios. 

The capital requirement calculation model will be changed when the Solvency II directive enters into 
force on 1 January 2016.  The Solvency II directive will introduce economic risk-based solvency 
requirements across all European Union Member States for the first time. The new solvency 
requirements are aiming to be more risk-sensitive and more sophisticated than in the past, thus 
enabling a better coverage of the real risks. The Group does not publish its Solvency II results because 
certain aspects of the regulation remain uncertain.  However, based on the information currently 
available to it, the Group does not expect the Solvency II capital requirements to have a negative 
impact on its solvency ratios or capital needs. 

Under Polish regulations, insurance companies are obliged to cover technical provisions with assets. 
The types of the assets and the composition of such portfolio are set out in the Insurance Act. This 
means that potential dividends resulting from a surplus of own funds in excess of the solvency margin 
may need to be reduced by the value of certain assets which cannot represent the coverage for 
technical provisions. The table below presents ratios of assets covering technical reserves of PZU and 
PZU Życie, expressed as a percentage of the excess of assets covering technical reserves over 
technical reserves, as of 31 March 2014, 31 December 2013 and 31 December 2012.  
 

Company 31 March 
2014 

31 December 
2013 

31 December 
2012 

PZU 112.8% 115.5% 126.1% 

PZU Życie 116.9% 115.8% 115.1% 
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(Information is based on the Group’s financial statements, its management reports and PZU’s internal 
calculations.) 

BORROWINGS 

As of 31 December 2013 the Group had outstanding liabilities, under credit facilities and loans 
granted to the Group, of PLN 227 million. 

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

The Group’s related party transactions are limited. As part of its insurance activities PZU concludes 
insurance contracts with related parties and pays claims. Such transactions are concluded and settled 
on a commercial arms-length basis. The Group’s related party transactions are described in note 53 to 
the 2013 Financial Statements.  

RISK MANAGEMENT 

Risk management is centralised within the Group.  The key elements of the Group’s risk management 
framework are: 

 the promotion of a strong risk management culture supported by a sound risk governance 
structure; 

 the application of an integrated risk management approach to protect the Group’s capital base 
and support effective management; and 

 the integration of risk into business needs to support an effective decision-making process. 

Objective of risk management  

The objective of risk management within the Group is to ensure that PZU and PZU Życie pursue their 
business goals, monitor and manage their investment and insurance portfolios and operational risk 
safely and appropriately based on the scale of the risks incurred. 

The main elements of the risk management strategy include: 

 a system of limits on the level of risk and restrictions defined by the Management Board, the 
Supervisory Board, and appropriate committees, including the level of the appetite for risk; 

 a processes of identifying, measuring and assessing, monitoring and controlling, reporting and 
managing actions with respect to the individual risks; and 

 a risk management organisational structure, in which the Management Board, the Supervisory 
Board, the ALCO and the Credit Risk Committee (the “CRC”) play a key role. 
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Risk management system 

The risk management system at PZU and PZU Życie is based on three elements: 

 organisational structure - comprising the division of responsibilities and tasks performed by 
the individual organisational units in the risk management process; 

 actions taken with the use of hedging and risk transfer techniques in order to adjust the risk 
profile and appetite for risk to strategic plans; and 

 methods for identifying, measuring, assessing, monitoring and reporting risk. 

The risk management organisational structure is based on four competence levels which are as 
follows: 

The Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board supervises the risk management process and assesses its adequacy and 
effectiveness. 

The Management Board 

The Management Board organises the risk management system and ensures its functionality through 
approving the strategy and policies and defining the appetite for risk, the risk profile and tolerance for 
individual categories of risk 

The committees 

The committees (ALCO and CRC) make decisions to reduce individual risks to the levels defined by 
the appetite for risk.  The committees implement the procedures and methodologies for mitigating the 
individual risks and accept individual risk limits. 
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Operations 

The fourth level of responsibility is at the operating level, at which the risk management activities are 
divided among three lines of defence: 

 first line of defence - on-going risk management at the Group’s business and organisational 
units together with decision-making as part of the risk management process.  The managers of 
the Group’s various business and organisation units are responsible for implementing an 
effective risk management system. They are responsible for design and effective operation of 
risk identification and monitoring measures, which are integral components of the processes 
guaranteeing adequate response to risks as they arise; 

 the second line of defence - risk management by specialised units responsible for risk 
identification, monitoring and reporting and controlling the extent of the risks taken.  The 
units which play an important role in this process are the Risk Department, the Compliance 
Department the Security Department; and 

 the third line of defence - comprises the Internal Audit Department, which conducts 
independent audits of the elements of the risk management system, as well as control 
activities embedded in the Group’s activities.   

Risk appetite 

The appetite for risk, risk profile and risk tolerance reflect the Group's strategic plans and are based on 
maintaining a minimum level of Solvency I coverage ratio for both normal and stressed conditions. 
The Group aims to ensure that its risk management system is adequate and effective and that it works 
to prevent the Group from accepting risk levels which could jeopardise the Group's financial stability. 

The risk management strategy, which was updated by the Management Board in 2013, defines the 
maximum and minimum parameters of the risk appetite, risk profile and tolerance limits. 

Risk appetite  

The Group’s risk appetite is defined as the level of risk which it is prepared to accept while pursuing 
its business objectives.  The level of risk appetite equals the Group’s minimum - solvency coverage 
ratio, which is 250 per cent. As at 31 December 2013, the actual solvency coverage ratio was 351.8 
per cent. 

Risk profile   

These are quantitative limits related to insurance, market, credit, concentration and operational risk 
which define the risk appetite of Group companies more precisely.  These limits are monitored and 
reported to the Management Board and the Audit Committee on a regular basis. 

Tolerance limits. 

These are additional risk limits for the major risk categories designed to mitigate specific risk types 
and include a minimum combined ratio level for non-life insurance, a minimum loss ratio for group 
life insurance, Value at Risk (“VaR”) limits market, credit and concentration risks and a maximum 
one-time unexpected loss limit for operational risk. 
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Risk management process  

The process of risk identification, measurement, assessment, monitoring and reporting, as well as the 
process of taking management actions, is subject to internal control at the Group to ensure its 
compliance with internal and external regulations and continuing improvement and appropriateness 
for the Group's business profile. 

Identification  

The process of risk identification starts with the creation of an insurance product, the acquisition of a 
financial instrument or the changing of an operating process, as well as any other event which could 
potentially create a risk for Group.  The process lasts until the liabilities, receivables or activities 
relating to the event expire.  Risk identification involves identifying the actual and potential sources 
of risk and estimating the materiality of the potential impact of such risks on the Group's financial 
position. 

Measurement 

The materiality of all potential risks is analysed.  Every risk which is considered material and 
measurable is subject to a measurement process comprising the definition of appropriate risk 
measures, materiality of risk and availability of data.  Risk measurement is performed by specialist 
units.  The Risk Department is responsible for developing appropriate tools to measure risk with a 
view to determining the risk appetite, risk profile and appropriate limits. 

Risk assessment 

Overall risk assessment is reflected on the risk map, which presents a systematic visualisation of the 
levels of the Group's risk exposure.  Measurable risks are assessed by the Risk Department.  Non-
measurable risks are assessed by experts and their assessment is taken into account in the overall risk 
measurement. 

Risk monitoring and control 

This involves on-going reviews of any variances from the assumed parameters, namely limits, 
thresholds, plans, values from the previous period, recommendations and guidelines issued, which are 
performed by dedicated units.  The monitoring process also involves risk measurement through the 
calculation and analysis of risk. 

Reporting 

This process allows efficient risk communication and supports risk management at various decision-
making levels from individual employees to the Supervisory Board.  Management Board members 
supervising individual business lines receive current reports (daily/weekly) on changes in the specific 
areas that affect the level of risk and the extent to which the levels of market risk are utilised. 

PZU and PZU Życie prepare risk reports for: 

 Management Board members on a monthly and quarterly basis, and Supervisory Board 
members on a quarterly basis, providing information by portfolio and business line on the 
levels of insurance, market, credit, concentration, operational and compliance risk; 

 ALCO and CRC members on a weekly basis providing information on the level of market, 
credit and concentration risk levels and current information on exceeded limits; 
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 ALCO and CRC members and other relevant senior management immediately upon any 
relevant limit being breached; and 

 the other business units’ on the levels of risk related to their activities in accordance with 
applicable internal regulations. 

Management actions relating to individual risk categories are defined in the Group's internal 
regulations.  Depending on the type and characteristics of the risk, these actions can include the 
avoidance of risk, the transfer of risk, the mitigation of risk, the acceptance of risk levels and tools 
which support these actions, i.e. limits, reinsurance programmes and underwriting policy reviews. 

Risk profile 

The principle risks incurred by PZU's and PZU Życie are insurance risk, market risk, credit risk, 
concentration risk, liquidity risk, operational risk and compliance risk.  

Insurance risk 

Insurance risk is the risk of a loss or an adverse change in the value of insurance liabilities as a result 
of improper assumptions regarding valuation and establishment of provisions.  The insurance risk 
management process starts when an insurance product is created, while insurance risk assessment 
involves recognising the degree of exposure or a group of exposures related to the possibility of 
incurring a loss and analysing the risk elements in order to make a decision on whether the Group 
should accept a risk for insurance and assume liability.  The insurance risk analysis takes into account 
the scope of insurance cover granted, the amount of the premium and (in financial insurance) the level 
of security. 

The insurance risk assessment also involves preventing losses, reducing the frequency of losses and 
reducing the extent of losses as well as reinsurance of the largest risks. 

Insurance risk measurement is based in particular on: 

 the analysis of selected ratios, including the solvency ratio, the combined ratio, the premium 
ceded ratio, the provision adequacy ratio and the loss ratio in group insurance; 

 the scenario method which is an analysis of impairment arising from an assumed change in 
risk factors; 

 the factor method which is a simplified version of the scenario method, reduced to one 
scenario per risk factor; 

 statistical data; 

 exposure and sensitivity measures, and 

 the expertise of the Group's employees. 

The Group manages insurance risk in particular by: 

 calculating and monitoring the adequacy of technical reserves; 

 its premium strategy whereby the Group seeks to set premiums at a level which allows it to 
make payouts under its customers’ insurance policies; 
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 a separate underwriting process for certain insurance risks; and 

 the use of insurance risk mitigation tools, including, in particular, reinsurance. 

Calculation and monitoring of adequacy of technical reserves 

PZU and PZU Życie manage the adequacy of their technical reserves by applying appropriate 
calculation technology and process controls in relation to the determination of provisions. The 
provisioning policy is based on: 

 a prudent approach to determining technical reserves; and  

 the continuity principle, which is that the technical provisioning methodology should not be 
modified unless important circumstances justify the modification. 

For non-life insurance (PZU), the level of technical provisions is evaluated once a month and updated 
more frequently only in specific circumstances. PZU uses its payment history as a key tool in 
analysing the amount of its technical reserves.  

For life insurance products (PZU Życie), public statistics (such as life expectancy tables) and historic 
data derived from its insurance portfolios provide the main sources of data to estimate the projected 
frequency of claims. PZU Życie undertakes regular statistical analyses of claims frequency on product 
group, insurance portfolio and pre-defined homogenous risk group levels. These analyses show the 
relative frequency of claims compared to public statistics. The application of appropriate statistical 
methods allows PZU Życie to determine materiality of data and, where required, to define and apply 
appropriate security charges when creating technical reserves and measuring risk. 

The process of estimating technical reserves in both PZU and PZU Życie is supervised by actuaries. 
Additionally, each year an independent external expert calculates the reserves in order to check the 
results provided by PZU and carries out a valuation of PZU Życie’s life insurance portfolios within its 
embedded value calculation. 

Premium strategy 

The purpose of the premium policy applied by PZU and PZU Życie is to ensure an adequate premium 
level, sufficient to cover existing and future liabilities arising on concluded policies and expenses. 
Along with developing a premium, simulations are carried out with regard to the projected insurance 
profit/loss in subsequent years. Additionally, regular premium adequacy and portfolio yield studies 
are carried out for each insurance class based on analyses and listings, including evaluation of the 
technical result on a product for a given reporting period. For selected products, a profitability 
evaluation is carried out based on measurement of insurance portfolios under the embedded value 
calculation. Where appropriate, premiums may be modified or the insured risk profile improved 
through modification of general insurance terms. 

Underwriting 

A separate underwriting process independent from the sales function is carried out for corporate 
customers and SMEs. The process of selling insurance to corporate clients is preceded by an analysis 
and assessment of risk carried out by dedicated underwriting teams. The underwriting process 
includes a three-stage risk acceptance system, depending on competency scopes and limits granted. 
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Reinsurance 

For a discussion of the Group’s principal reinsurance contracts, see “Reinsurance operations” below. 
For information on the development of technical provisions and payments in subsequent periods, 
insurance risk concentrations and sensitivity analyses, see note 6.7.1. to the 2013 Financial 
Statements. 

Market risk  

This is the risk of a loss or an adverse change in the Group’s financial condition, which directly or 
indirectly arises from fluctuations in market prices of assets, liabilities and financial instruments.  

The identification of market risk involves recognising the actual and potential sources of such risk.  In 
the case of assets, the market risk identification process begins when a decision is made to commence 
transactions on a given type of financial instrument.  The units which start dealing in a financial 
instrument prepare a description of the instrument including a description of the risk factors and 
submit it to the Risk Department which identifies and assesses the market risk on this basis.  

The process of identifying the market risks relating to insurance liabilities involves identifying the 
relationship between the financial benefit associated with such product and the market risk factors.  
Identified market risks are assessed in terms of materiality, i.e. based on whether the materialisation 
of a risk would be related to a loss that could affect the Group's financial position.  

The Group measures market risk using VaR. As applied by the Group, VaR is a risk measure 
quantifying the potential economic loss which could arise from a particular action and which will not 
be exceeded over a period of one year with a 99.5 per cent. probability under normal market 
circumstances. The Group also uses exposure and sensitivity measures and accumulated monthly loss. 

The risk measurement is performed on both a daily and monthly basis.  The exposures and sensitivity 
of financial instruments which the Group has positions in are measured on a daily basis. On a monthly 
basis market risk is monitored on two levels. First it is monitored internally at the organisational units 
responsible for operating market risk management and secondly it is monitored independently by the 
Risk Department.   

The Group deals with market risks in a number of ways. It concludes transactions to mitigate market 
risk, such as selling financial instruments, closing a derivative and purchasing a hedging derivative. It 
diversifies its portfolio of assets, in particular with respect to maturities of instruments and the 
concentration of exposure in one entity or geographical area, it invests in highly liquid instruments 
and sets market risk restrictions and limits, including exposure limits for equity, commodity and real 
estate investments, and investments in inflation indexed bonds, position limits for foreign currency 
exposures and basis point limits for interest rate risks.  The setting of such limits is the main 
management tool for maintaining risk positions within acceptable tolerance levels.  The structure of 
limits for the individual market risk categories and the Group’s organisational units is defined by the 
ALCO taking into account the risk tolerance set by the Management Board.  The ALCO sets 
additional detailed market risk limits. 

The Group has the following concentrations of market risk: 

 Exposure to treasury securities issued by State Treasury of Poland – as at 31 December 2013, 
the exposure of the Group to treasury securities issued by the Polish State Treasury, along 
with contingent transactions on those securities, amounted to PLN 32.7 billion (PLN 32.4 
billion as at 31 December 2012), accounting for 59.7 per cent. of the Group’s total financial 
assets (64.3 per cent. as at 31 December 2012). 
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 Exposure to WSE-listed stock - as at 31 December 2013, the Group's exposure to stock listed 
on the WSE amounted to PLN 3.0 billion (PLN 2.4 billion as at 31 December 2012), which 
accounted for 5.5 per cent. of the Group’s total financial assets (4.8 per cent. as at 31 
December 2012) and 99.8 per cent. of its exposure in listed equity instruments (99.9 per cent. 
as at 31 December 2012). 

 Exposure to assets of PKO BP SA – PKO BP SA is the bank to which the Group has the 
single highest exposure. As at 31 December 2013, the Group’s exposure to deposits made by 
it with, and bonds and shares issued by, that bank amounted to PLN 2.3 billion (PLN 2.1 
billion as at 31 December 2012). 

 Exposure to banks – the Group’s exposure to deposits made by it with, bonds and shares 
issued by, and derivatives contracts with, banks generally amounted to PLN 10.2 billion (PLN 
9.2 billion as at 31 December 2012), which accounted for 18.6 per cent. of the Group’s total 
financial assets (18.2 per cent. as at 31 December 2012). 

 Exposure to assets denominated in PLN – the Group’s financial assets denominated in PLN 
accounted for 93.9 per cent. of its total financial assets as 31 December 2013 (95.7 per cent. 
as at 31 December 2012). 

 Unit-linked insurance and investment contract portfolio - as at 31 December 2013, the 
Group’s unit-linked insurance and investment contract portfolio amounted to 8.7 per cent. of 
its total financial assets (8.2 per cent. as at 31 December 2012). 

For information on the value of financial assets exposed to market risk and the derivatives held by the 
Group to hedge market risk, see note 6.7.2 to the 2013 Financial Statements.  The same note also 
contains sensitivity analyses in relation to interest rate risk, foreign exchange risk and price risk. 

Credit risk and concentration risk 

Credit risk is the risk that the Group incurs a loss or suffers an adverse change in its financial situation 
as a result of changes in the creditworthiness of issuers of securities in which members of the Group 
may have invested or through a deterioration in the credit quality of the Group’s counterparties. 
Concentration risk is the risk of the Group suffering losses as a result of being over exposed to a 
particular geography or type of insurance or asset.  

Three main types of credit risk exposure occur in PZU and PZU Życie: 

 bankruptcy of an issuer of instruments, such as corporate bonds, in which PZU and PZU 
Życie have invested; 

 a counterparty’s failure to meet its obligations, for example under a reinsurance or derivatives 
contract, as well as through bancassurance activities; and 

 risk of a PZU client’s failure to meet its obligations to a third party where PZU has insured 
that performance, for example under an insurance contract in respect of financial receivables 
or an insurance guarantee. 

Credit risk is measured by assessing exposure to a particular asset (the amount of the gross and net 
credit exposure and maturity-weighted net credit exposure) as well as VaR.  Credit risk measurement 
with respect to a single entity is estimated as the sum of single exposures, calculated as the product of 
the risk weight for internal rating and the net maturity-weighted credit exposure. 
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The concentration risk of a single entity is calculated as the product of the amount of exposure to such 
entity over the excessive concentration level and the concentration risk ratio set for every internal 
rating.  The Group's total concentration risk is measured as the sum of concentration risks of 
individual entities.  In the case of related entities concentration risk is specified for all related entities 
cumulatively. 

Credit and concentration risk monitoring involves analysing the risk level, assessing creditworthiness 
and determining the level of utilisation of the limits set. Financial insurance exposures and VaR limits 
are monitored monthly. Risks which are reinsured are monitored semi-annually and all other exposure 
limits are monitored daily.  

The Group deals with credit and concentration risk in a number of ways.  It concludes  transactions 
aimed at mitigating these risks, such as selling a financial instrument, closing a derivatives or 
purchasing a hedging derivative. It accepts security interests and reinsures certain financial insurance 
portfolios.  It also seeks to diversify its financial assets and insurance and sets limits on its exposure to 
a single entity, group of entities, sector and country.  

The structure of credit and concentration risk limits for individual issuers is determined by the CRC in 
line with the risk tolerance determined by the Management Board. The CRC sets detailed limits on 
amounts and qualitative restrictions. 

For an analysis of the Group’s assets exposed to credit risk by ratings category and the credit risk of 
its reinsurers, see note 6.7.3 to the 2013 Financial Statements. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk of encountering difficulties in fulfilling obligations arising from financial 
liabilities. 

Within the Group, financial liquidity risk results from three types of events: 

 shortages of liquid funds in ongoing operations; 

 illiquidity of financial instruments held by the Group; and 

 a structural gap between the maturity of assets and liabilities. 

The Group manages liquidity risk in short-, medium- and long-term horizons. 

On a short-term basis, limits are the principal tool used to manage liquidity.  In addition, the Group 
uses repo transactions to manage its liquidity. In the medium-term, the Group maintains liquid 
investment portfolios. In the long-term, asset and liability management techniques are used to match 
the structure of financial investments which cover technical provisions to the nature of such 
provisions. The asset and liability management process also seeks to ensure the capability to pay 
claims and benefits within the shortest possible time, even in unfavourable economic conditions. The 
level of liquidity risk is measured by estimating the shortages of cash required for liability payments. 
The estimate is made on the basis of a set of analyses, including among others, a liquidity gap analysis 
(a mismatch of net cash flows), an analysis of the distribution of expenditures relating to operating 
activities and incurred over short periods as well as currency gap analysis. 

For a discussion of the match between cash flows related to technical provisions in non-life insurance 
and the assets used as their coverage and the match between cash flows from technical provisions and 
liabilities under investment contracts as well as the assets used as their coverage for life products, see 
note 6.7.4 to the 2013 Financial Statements. 
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Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of incurring a loss arising from: 

 inappropriate or incorrect internal processes; 

 human actions;  

 the incorrect operation of systems; and 

 external events.  

Operational risk management aims to optimise the Group's operations and ensure that adequate and 
effective controls are put in place so as to reduce losses and costs arising from such risks.  The Group 
has established an operational events and loss database in order to prepare, implement and develop 
control mechanisms to avoid similar events in the future and assess the level of assumed risk exposure 
and potential future losses. The level of operational risk is monitored and assessed by the Group using 
key risk indicators specifically relevant to the Security, HR, IT and Legal departments. 

To manage its operational risk, the Group seeks to ensure that its processes and procedures are kept 
up to date and that regular checks are made. It automates its control systems and has contingency and 
business continuity plans in place. It monitors and analyses any security incidents and any IT failures. 
It also analyses employee turnover and seeks to minimise any risks through its staff selection 
procedures and incentive systems.  

The Management Board and Supervisory Board members regularly receive information on the 
Group’s operational risk level. 

Compliance risk 

Compliance risk is the risk of legal sanctions, financial losses or a loss of reputation arising from any 
failure by a member of the Group to comply with law, internal regulations or appropriate standards of 
conduct, including ethical standards. 

Compliance risk is managed through the Group’s compliance policy. The management boards of the 
Group companies are responsible for making strategic decisions regarding compliance risk and 
accepting risk levels in this area. The compliance risk management process is co-ordinated by the 
Compliance Department, which was established in June 2013. Reporting on compliance risk takes 
place quarterly.  Risk reports for the Group are submitted to the Management Board every year by 15 
March.  No material compliance risk incidents were identified in 2013. 

Management actions taken in response to compliance risks include acceptance of risk, for example in 
connection with legal or regulatory changes; mitigation of risk, including adjustment of procedures 
and processes to regulatory requirements, issuing opinions and drafting internal regulations; and 
avoiding risk through the prevention of involvement of Group companies in activities which do not 
comply with the regulatory requirements or good market practices or which could have an adverse 
effect on the Group’s reputation. 

REINSURANCE OPERATIONS 

Reinsurance cover reduces the consequences of the occurrence of catastrophic phenomena which 
could adversely affect the financial standing of the Group.  The Group has to enter into certain 
obligatory reinsurance contracts which it supplements with optional reinsurance contracts. 
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Reinsurance contracts - PZU 

PZU has centralised its reinsurance function and uses reinsurance contracts to mitigate its exposure to 
catastrophic losses, for example floods and hurricanes, through a catastrophic non-proportional excess 
loss contract. It limits its exposure to large one-off losses through non-proportional reinsurance 
contracts protecting its property, technical, marine, aviation, third party liability and motor third party 
liability insurance portfolios.  

PZU's risk is also mitigated through reinsurance of its financial insurance portfolio.  

In 2013, the main partners providing obligatory reinsurance cover to PZU were Swiss Re, Hannover 
Re, Scor, Endurance and Lloyd's.  PZU's reinsurance partners have high S&P/AM Best ratings which 
gives PZU greater certainty as to each reinsurer's ability to meet its obligations to PZU. 

PZU also provides obligatory and optional reinsurance to each of PZU Lietuva and PZU Ukraine.  In 
addition, PZU offers limited reinsurance to other insurance companies in and outside Poland, mainly 
through optional reinsurance. 

Reinsurance contracts – PZU Życie 

PZU Życie cedes reinsurance to protect its portfolio against the accumulation of risks, in particular 
catastrophic risk.  It also protects individual policies with high sums insured and the juvenile serious 
illness group insurance portfolio. 

The partners granting reinsurance cover to PZU Życie include RGA, Arch Re, Partner Re and Gen Re.  
PZU Życie's reinsurance partners have high S&P ratings which gives PZU Życie greater certainty as 
to each reinsurer's ability to meet its obligations to PZU Życie. 

MAJOR SHAREHOLDERS 

As of the date of this Prospectus, PZU's share capital is divided into 86,352,300 ordinary shares with 
nominal value of PLN 1 each.  Each share gives its holder the right to one vote at PZU's general 
meeting.   

PZU is a public company and its shares are listed on the regulated market of the WSE.  Therefore, 
PZU does not have detailed information on all of its shareholders.  PZU receives information on its 
significant shareholders only if these shareholders comply with the notification requirements 
prescribed by Polish law. 

As of the date of this Prospectus, the State Treasury held 30,385,253 shares in PZU, which constitutes 
35.2 per cent. of PZU's share capital and confers the right to 30,385,253 votes at PZU's general 
meeting.  On 29 May 2014, Aviva Otwarty Fundusz Emerytalny Aviva BZ WBK (Aviva Open-End 
Pension Fund Aviva BZ WBK) (“Aviva OFE”) announced that it had acquired 5 per cent. of PZU’s 
shares.  These are the only two shareholders of PZU which have notified a holding of, or in excess of, 
5 per cent. 

Under PZU's statute, none of the shareholders (other than the State Treasury) may exercise more than 
10 per cent. of the total number of votes at PZU's general meeting.  This limitation also applies to 
entities which, when acting together, have more than 10 per cent. of the votes at the general meeting.  
This limitation will also not apply to the shareholders if the State Treasury reduces its holding to less 
than 5 per cent. of the shares in PZU. 

Under PZU's statute, half of the members of the Supervisory Board appointed by the General Meeting 
must be chosen from candidates nominated by the shareholder that holds the highest stake in PZU's 
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share capital, which is currently the State Treasury. Such right terminates if such shareholder’s stake 
in PZU’s share capital drops below 20 per cent. of the voting rights..  Additionally, the State Treasury 
may appoint one additional member of the Supervisory Board and this appointment does not require 
the General Meeting's resolution.  These rights currently give the State Treasury representatives a 
majority in the Supervisory Board.  As a result, the State Treasury representatives in the Supervisory 
Board have the ability to appoint the members of the Management Board without the consent of the 
other members of the Supervisory Board. 

The table below sets out information on the shareholding structure of PZU as of the date of this 
Prospectus based on the most recent notifications made to PZU. 
 

 Number of shares per cent. of voting rights 
at the general meeting 

State Treasury 30,385,253 35.19 

Aviva OFE 4,332,166 5.02 

Other shareholders 51,634,881 59.79 

Total 86,352,300 100.00 

IT AND OPERATIONS  

The Group has several IT systems, including systems for policy administration, claims handling, 
financial assets management, accounting, IT and HR support.  The IT infrastructure meets market 
standards and is protected with regularly tested business continuity solutions (including a remote 
facility), data back up procedures, off site data storage, and sophisticated cyber-crime prevention 
software. 

In 2012, PZU decided to implement a new IT system for non-life insurance products.  Full 
implementation of the new system is expected by the middle of 2016.  Currently, the system operates 
in several regions in Poland and approximately 100,000 insurance policies have already been issued 
using it.  The aim of the project is to improve PZU's product offering and to facilitate management of 
PZU's relations with its customers. 

LITIGATION 

Claim of Manchester Securities Corporation relating to the resolution of PZU's General 
Meeting on the distribution of profit for the financial year 2006 

With the statement of claim of 30 July 2007, proceedings were launched under a lawsuit filed by 
Manchester Securities Corporation against PZU to repeal resolution No. 8/2007 adopted by PZU’s 
General Meeting on 30 June 2007 on distributing PZU’s profit for the financial year 2006 on the 
grounds that it is contrary to best practices and aimed at injuring the plaintiff, a PZU shareholder.  

The challenged resolution adopted by PZU’s General Meeting distributed the net profit for 2006 of 
PLN 3,280,883 thousand in the following manner: 

 PLN 3,260,883 thousand was transferred to supplementary capital; 

 PLN 20,000 thousand was transferred to the Company’s Social Benefits Fund. 
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In its judgment of 22 January 2010, the Regional Court in Warsaw repealed in its entirety the 
aforementioned resolution.  On 17 February 2010, PZU submitted an appeal challenging the judgment 
of the Regional Court in Warsaw in its entirety. 

The Appellate Court in Warsaw, in its judgment handed down on 6 December 2011, dismissed in its 
entirety PZU’s appeal against the judgment of the Regional Court in Warsaw of 22 January 2010.  On 
the date of announcing the judgment issued by the Appellate Court, the Regional Court judgement of 
22 January 2010 repealing the resolution became final and legally binding. 

On 7 December 2011, PZU submitted a petition for preparing a written justification of the judgment 
of the Appellate Court in Warsaw of 6 December 2011.  On 2 April 2012, the Court’s judgement and 
its justification were served on PZU.  On 29 May 2012, PZU filed a cassation complaint in which the 
Appellate Court judgement of 6 December 2011 was appealed in full.  At the session of 27 March 
2013, the Supreme Court announced its judgment in which it dismissed the cassation complaint and 
ordered PZU to pay the costs of the proceedings, including the costs of legal representation.  
According to the provisions of the Code of Civil Procedure, the judgment of the Supreme Court is 
final and is not subject to further appeal. 

According to PZU, repealing the aforementioned resolution will not cause the shareholders to obtain a 
valid claim for PZU to pay a dividend, but no assurance can be given that a court, if asked to do so, 
would not rule otherwise. 

Notwithstanding the foregoing, in connection with the judgment repealing this resolution having 
become legally binding, an item was included in the agenda of PZU’s General  Meeting on 30 May 
2012 to adopt a resolution on distributing PZU’s net profit for the 2006 financial year. 

The Management Board recommended that the General Meeting of PZU distribute profits for the 
2006 financial year in a manner corresponding to the distribution of profits based on the repealed 
resolution because after its adoption, PZU paid a dividend for 2009 including the funds retained by 
PZU on the basis of that resolution.  

On 30 May 2012, PZU’s General Meeting adopted a resolution to distribute the profit for the financial 
year 2006 in a manner reflecting the distribution of profits effected on the basis of the repealed 
resolution.  Manchester Securities Corporation filed an objection against the resolution of 30 May 
2012.  The objection was recorded in the minutes of the General Meeting. 

On 20 August 2012, a copy of the statement of claim filed by Manchester Securities Corporation with 
the Regional Court in Warsaw was delivered to PZU.  In the statement of claim, Manchester 
Securities Corporation demanded that the resolution on the distribution of profits for the financial year 
2006 adopted on 30 May 2012 by the PZU General Meeting be repealed.  According to the plaintiff, 
the value of the litigation is PLN 5,054 thousand.  PZU submitted a rejoinder to the statement of claim 
requesting that the statement of claim be dismissed in its entirety.  

On 17 December 2013, the Regional Court passed a verdict in which it accepted the claim in its 
entirety and awarded the costs of proceedings from PZU to Manchester Securities Corporation.  On 4 
March 2014, PZU filed an appeal against the above verdict, contesting it in its entirety.  

As of 31 March 2014, no changes have been made to the presentation of PZU’s equity that could 
potentially stem from the repeal of the aforementioned resolution, including the line items 
"Supplementary capital" and "Retained earnings (losses)", the funds in the Company’s Social Benefits 
Fund were not adjusted and no provisions were established for any potential additional claims 
stemming from the repeal of the aforementioned resolution. 
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General Litigation 

To the best of PZU's knowledge, as of 31 March 2014, PZU and its subsidiaries were party to 66,845 
court cases, in 43,142 of which it is the plaintiff and in 23,703 of which it is the defendant.  To the 
best of PZU's knowledge, as of 31 March 2014, the total value of claims in which PZU is acting as a 
defendant was approximately PLN 2.0 billion, while the total value of claims brought by PZU was 
approximately PLN 615 million.  As of 31 March 2014, the total value of the provisions created 
against any litigation was PLN 174 million.  

According to the information available to PZU, as of the date of this Prospectus, there is no 
administrative, civil, arbitration or criminal proceedings ongoing or pending against PZU or any other 
member of the Group which could individually or in the aggregate have a material adverse effect on 
the financial position of the Group or its operating results.  

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS 

Recent acquisitions 

On 17 April 2014, PZU announced that it had agreed to acquire the following companies and 
businesses from the RSA Insurance Group: 

 Lietuvos Draudimas AB, the largest non-life insurance company in Lithuania with a 31 per 
cent. share in gross written premiums in 2013 according to the Lithuanian Central Bank. The 
consideration payable is €180 million, subject to adjustment. 

 AAS Balta, the largest non-life insurance company in Latvia with a 21 per cent. share in gross 
written premiums in 2013 according to the Financial and Capital Market Commission in 
Latvia. The consideration payable is €48 million, subject to adjustment. 

 the Estonian branch of Codan Forsikring A/S, the fifth largest non-life insurance company in 
Estonia with an 8 per cent. share in gross written premiums in 2013 according to the Financial 
Supervision Authority of Estonia. The consideration payable is €30 million, subject to 
adjustment. 

 Link4 Towarzystwo Ubezpieczeń S.A. (“Link4”), the pioneer and leading direct insurance 
provider in Poland.  In 2013, Link4 had gross written premiums of PLN 373 million, which, 
according to KNF, was 1.4 per cent of the non-life insurance gross written premium in 
Poland.  The consideration payable is €90 million, subject to adjustment. 

The acquisitions are being made in accordance with PZU’s expansion strategy, particularly in the 
Central and Eastern Europe region.  Following completion of the three Baltic acquisitions, the Group 
will achieve market leadership in terms of gross premiums written in the small, but growing, 
Lithuanian and Latvian insurance markets and will increase its presence in the Estonian market.  
Lietuvos Draudimas AB also has the largest network of agents in Lithuania, with a strong capital base 
and a solvency ratio of 2.5 times at 30 September 2013.  The Group believes that these acquisitions 
present a relatively low level of risk given PZU’s market knowledge of the Baltic States and also offer 
potential cost savings from exploiting synergies with PZU’s existing operations in Lithuania.  

The Polish acquisition is intended to enhance PZU’s position in direct sales and the Group believes 
that adding the Link 4 direct sales brand to PZU’s portfolio will enable it to target different clients 
from those currently targeted by PZU’s existing traditional distribution channels.  The Group believes 
that purchasing an established direct sales brand is less risky than building a new brand which would 
be a challenging, costly and lengthy process. The proposed acquisition of Link 4 also enables PZU to 
obtain direct sales know-how. 
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Each of the acquisitions is subject to conditions precedent, including obtaining regulatory consent in a 
range of countries.  Each of the acquisitions was subject to obtaining consent from the Antimonopoly 
Committee of Ukraine. In June 2014, the consent of the Latvian Competition Council, Latvian 
Financial and Capital Market Commission and Antimonopoly Committee of Ukraine were obtained to 
the sale of AAS Balta. There are no additional conditions precedent to the sale of AAS Balta. 
Additionally, in June 2014 the consent of the Antimonopoly Committee of Ukraine was obtained for 
the sale of Link4, Lietuvos Draudimas AB and Estonian branch of Codan Forsikring A/S. 

The acquisition of Lietuvos Draudimas AB is subject to obtaining the consent of the Bank of 
Lithuania or competition clearance from either the European Commission or the Lithuanian 
Competition Council, depending on which is the competent authority. 

The acquisition of the Estonian branch of Codan Forsikring A/S is subject to obtaining the consent 
from either the Danish Financial Supervisory Authority or Estonian Financial Supervision Authority, 
depending on which is the competent authority. 

The acquisition of Link4 is subject to obtaining the consent of the Polish Financial Supervision 
Authority or competition clearance from the European Commission or the Polish Antimonopoly 
Authority, depending on which is the competent authority.  

The acquisition of AAS Balta is expected to  be completed by 30 June 2014, and the acquisitions of 
Lietuvos Draudimas AB, the Estonian branch of Codan Forsikring A/S and Link4 will be completed 
by the end of 2014. 

In May 2014, the Group announced the acquisition of 100 per cent. of shares in ORLEN Medica sp. z 
o.o. ("ORLEN Medica") from PKN Orlen and 96.45 per cent. of shares in Specjalistyczna 
Przychodnia Przemysłowa "Prof-med" sp. z o.o. from Anwil for PLN 48 million in total.  ORLEN 
Medica and Prof-med provide medical services for employees of companies and persons covered by 
universal health insurance. ORLEN Medica also owns 98.58 per cent. of a company which specialises 
in the treatment of locomotor system diseases and geriatric diseases.  The acquisitions are made 
pursuant to the Group’s strategy of seeking new business opportunities, including in the Polish health 
insurance market. 

First quarter 2014 results 

On 15 May 2014, the Group published the Interim Financial Statements which were not subject to 
audit or review by the Group’s auditors.  The table below shows a summary of the Group’s unaudited 
consolidated statement of financial position at 31 March 2014 and of its unaudited consolidated profit 
and loss account for the three month periods ended 31 March 2014 and 31 March 2013. The 
information in the table below is derived from the Interim Financial Statements.  

Consolidated statement of financial position 

 As at 31 March 2014 

 (PLN millions) 

Assets ................................................................................................  65,045 

Share capital ......................................................................................  86 

Capital and reserves attributable to holders of the parent’s equity ...  13,887 

Total equity .......................................................................................  13,888 
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Consolidated profit and loss account  

 

Three months ended 31 March 

 2014 2013

 (PLN millions) 

Gross written insurance premium ............................... 4,354 4,426

Net earned premium .................................................... 3,990 4,108

Revenue from commissions and fees .......................... 69 71

Net investment profit .................................................. 535 429

Net insurance claims ................................................... (2,664) (2,731)

Operating profit ........................................................... 1,012 1,066

Gross profit ................................................................. 980 1,054

Net profit attributed to holders of the parent’s equity . 760 838

The Group’s net profit for the three months ended 31 March 2014 was PLN 760 million, a decrease of 
9.2 per cent. compared to the net profit in the corresponding period of 2013. This was driven by one-
off items which increased the Group’s net profit in the 2013 period and, excluding these items, the net 
profit for the three months ended 31 March 2014 would have increased by 18.9 per cent. compared to 
the comparable period of 2013. 

The one-off events in first quarter 2013 effecting operating profit were: 

 one-time income on the consolidation of mutual funds (PLN 168 million); and 

 one-time income following a settlement with a reinsurer which resulted in the partial reversal 
of an adjustment to estimates with that reinsurer (PLN 53 million). 

Other factors which affected the Group’s results in the three months ended 31 March 2014 compared 
to the corresponding period of 2013 were: 

 a decline in the gross written premium caused by lower sales of single premium insurance in 
the bancassurance channel and lower sales of motor insurance, partially offset by increased 
sales of group protection insurance; 

 improved profitability in group and individually continued insurance, principally driven by 
portfolio growth and a decline in the loss ratio of protection products; 

 maintenance of cost discipline in the major lines of business facilitating growth while 
reducing recurring administrative expenses; 

 a slower rate of conversion of long-term policies into yearly renewable term agreements in 
type P group insurance; and 

 appreciation of equity instruments driven by better market conditions on the WSE and 
appreciation of debt instruments due to lower 10-year bond yields; 
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Application of IFRS 10 

IFRS 10 supersedes the guidelines on consolidation contained in IAS 27 "Consolidated and 
standalone financial statements" and SIC-12 "Consolidation – special purpose entities" by 
implementing a uniform model of consolidation for all entities on the basis of control, 
notwithstanding the nature of the investment (i.e. whether an entity is controlled through investors’ 
voting rights or through other contractual arrangements generally applied to special-purpose entities).  

As a result of applying IFRS 10 from 1 January 2014, Sub-fund PZU Energia Medycyna Ekologia, 
Sub-fund PZU Akcji Rynków Wschodzących, Sub-fund PZU Akcji Spółek Dywidendowych and 
PZU FIZ Forte are subject to consolidation. The Group’s balance sheet assets and liabilities now 
recognise the assets and liabilities of the consolidated funds instead of, as previously, the fund units. 
IFRS 10 has retroactive application and, as a result, the Group has restated certain 2013 information 
in accordance with the requirements of IFRS 10.  Note 3.3.1 to the Interim Financial Statements 
shows the impact of applying IFRS 10 on the 2013 consolidated statement of financial position, the 
2013 consolidated profit and loss statement and the 2013 consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income. 

As a result of applying IFRS 10: 

 the restated total assets of the Group at 31 December 2013 increased by PLN 425 million, or 
0.7 per cent.;  

 the restated equity of the Group at 31 December 2013 decreased by PLN 156 thousand, or 
0.001 per cent.; and 

 the Group’s net profit for 2013 decreased by PLN 158 thousand, or 0.005 per cent. 

Given the above, the Group considers the restatements to be immaterial. As a result, the audited 
financial data included in this Prospectus is not restated. 
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MANAGEMENT AND EMPLOYEES 

MANAGEMENT AND SUPERVISORY BODIES 

In accordance with the Commercial Companies Code and the Insurance Act, PZU is managed by its 
Management Board and overseen by its Supervisory Board.  The information provided below relating 
to the organisation, competencies and activities of the Management Board and the Supervisory Board 
has been prepared based on the provisions of the Commercial Companies Code, the Insurance Act and 
PZU’s statute of the Guarantor. 

Management Board 

The Management Board is PZU’s governing body. 

The Management Board comprises at least three members appointed for a joint term of office of three 
years by the Supervisory Board.  The Management Board is headed by the President. 

All members of the Management Board must hold a degree.  At least two members of the 
Management Board, including the President, must have a proven command of Polish. Additionally, at 
least two members of the Management Board, including the President, must have the experience 
necessary for managing an insurance company. Two members of the Management Board, including 
the President, are appointed with the consent of the KNF.   

If there is an even number of members of the Management Board, then the President has a casting 
vote at the Management Board meetings. 

The Management board is responsible for: 

 adopting long-term plans for development of PZU and the Group; 

 adopting the financial plan; 

 determining insurance premiums and the terms and conditions of insurance; and 

 granting sureties and guarantees. 

The members of the Management Board are set out below: 

Name  Position 

Andrzej Klesyk President of the Management Board 

Dariusz Krzewina Member of the Management Board 

Barbara Smalska Member of the Management Board 

Przemysław Dąbrowski Member of the Management Board 

Tomasz Tarkowski Member of the Management Board 

Ryszard Trepczyński Member of the Management Board 
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Andrzej Klesyk 

Andrzej Klesyk has been the President of the Management Board of PZU since December 2007 and 
graduated from the Faculty of Economy of the Catholic University of Lublin.  He also holds an MBA 
from Harvard Business School. From 1993 to 2000 he worked in the London branch of McKinsey. 
From 2003 to 2007 he was a Partner and Managing Director of The Boston Consulting Group in 
Warsaw where he collaborated with PZU on insurance projects.  He created and managed Inteligo, a 
pioneer Internet banking project in Poland.  He also headed a team creating Handlobank, the 
consumer banking division of Bank Handlowy w Warszawie S.A.  He is a member of The Geneva 
Association and represents PZU at annual meetings of the World Economic Forum in Davos and the 
meetings of the Institute of International Finance in Washington. Since April 2008, Mr. Klesyk has 
served as Chairman of the Supervisory Boards of PZU Życie and PZU AM. 

Dariusz Krzewina 

Dariusz Krzewina graduated from the University of Łódź and completed post-graduate studies in 
insurance at Warsaw School of Economics.  He has been on the Management Board of PZU Życie 
since March 2007 and has been president of PZU Życie’s management board since August 2007. He 
became a Director in the Group in February 2010 and in March 2013 became the Management Board 
member in charge of group and health insurance, administration and the Group Network.  

From September 1993 to 2006 he served in various management positions in the Polish insurance 
sector and served as Chairman of the Management Board and the Sales Director at SAMPO 
Towarzystwo Ubezpieczeń na Życie SA between October 2002 to June 2004.  

Barbara Smalska 

Barbara Smalska studied particle physics and holds a PhD from Warsaw University. Since 2013, she 
has been the Management Board member of PZU in charge of mass insurance, product management, 
CRM and marketing. Barbara Smalska began her career in 2002 in the Warsaw office of Boston 
Consulting Group where she specialised in business strategies, operational models, distribution 
strategy and organisation of the sales network in the consumer and SME sectors. She originally joined 
the Group in 2008 and has served as a Director of the Product Management Office, Managing 
Director in charge of the Mass Client Sector and Managing Director in charge of Marketing and 
Individual Products.  She joined the Management Board of PZU Życie in 2013.  

Przemysław Dąbrowski 

Przemysław Dąbrowski graduated from Warsaw University, Information Technology Department.  
He has an MBA from the University of Illinois and from the Warsaw-Illinois Executive MBA 
program. He has been a member of the Management Board of PZU Życie since January 2010 and has 
been a member of the Management Board of PZU since December 2010. Przemysław Dąbrowski is in 
charge of the Financial Division. 

Until 2010, he held various positions at the Head office of PZU and PZU Życie, including Planning 
and Controlling Director and Information Management Director. For over 13 years, he also held 
various financial management positions at Whirlpool Polska Sp. z o.o., AIG Poland, Creative Team 
SA (the Elektrim Group) and AT Kearney and Accenture. 

Tomasz Tarkowski 

Tomasz Tarkowski graduated from the Faculty of Automotive and Construction Machinery 
Engineering at the Warsaw University of Technology and from the Academy of Finance.  He also 
completed an Advanced Management Program at IESE Business School at the University of Navarra. 
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Since February 2011 he has been a Director of PZU and the proxy of the Management Board of PZU 
Życie in charge of Loss Adjustment.  He has been a member of the Management Board of PZU and 
PZU Życie, where he is in charge of loss adjustment and assistance functions, for the last three years. 
He has been collaborating with the Group since 1996 and for five years served on the Management 
Board of PZU Ukraine and the Supervisory Board of SOS Service Ukraine (a subsidiary of the 
Group).  

Ryszard Trepczyński 

Ryszard Trepczyński graduated from Warsaw School of Economics, the Management and Marketing 
Department. He has been a member of the Management Board of PZU and PZU Życie since July 
2011 and is in charge of the Investment Division. He has considerable experience in planning 
investment policies and managing large asset portfolios. He has worked as Asset Manager and Head 
of Debt Instruments Portfolio Management Development in the Financial Investment Office of PZU 
Życie until 2002. Between 2002 and 2011, Ryszard obtained directorships at Pioneer Pekao 
Investment Management S.A. and from 2009 onwards was Deputy Chairman of the Management 
Board in charge of investments.   

The business address of all members of the Management Board is al. Jana Pawła II 24, 00-133 
Warsaw, Poland. No member of the Management Board has any actual or potential conflict of interest 
between his duties to PZU and his private interests and/or other duties. 

Supervisory Board 

The Supervisory Board exercises regular supervision over the Group's operations. 

The Supervisory Board comprises not less than seven and not more than eleven members elected by 
the General Meeting for a joint term of office of three years.  The State Treasury has the right to 
appoint one member of the Supervisory Board.   

The number of members of the Supervisory Board is determined by the general meeting of 
shareholders.  At least one Supervisory Board Member must be an independent member.  The 
Supervisory Board elects its Chairman and Deputy Chairman from its members.  The Supervisory 
Board does not currently have a Chairman and so is chaired by the Deputy Chairman.  

The responsibilities of the Supervisory Board include, among others: 

 reviewing the Management Board’s annual report and the Group’s annual financial 
statements; 

 concluding, amending and terminating agreements with members of the Management Board; 

 appointing, suspending and dismissing members of the Management Board; 

 delegating members of the Supervisory Board for temporary positions on the Management 
Board; and 

 approving the long-term development plans prepared by the Management Board. 

The Supervisory Board hold its meetings at least once each calendar quarter.  For resolutions passed 
at Supervisory Board meetings to be valid, at least half of the members must be present at the meeting 
and all members must be invited.  In certain cases, a resolution may be adopted in writing or a 
member of the Supervisory Board may vote via another member.  Passing a Supervisory Board 
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resolution requires a majority of votes and, if there are an even number of votes, the Chairman has the 
deciding vote. 

The Supervisory Board appoints the audit committee and may appoint an appointment and 
compensation committee and a strategy committee.  The members of the committees carry out 
particular supervision activities.  The exact scope of responsibilities of a committee is set out in the 
resolution of the Supervisory Board appointing the committee. 

The table below sets out information on the members of the Supervisory Board. 

Name  Position 

Zbigniew Ćwiąkalski Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board 

Tomasz Zganiacz Secretary of the Supervisory Board 

Zbigniew Derdziuk Member of the Supervisory Board 

Dariusz Filar Member of the Supervisory Board 

Alojzy Nowak Member of the Supervisory Board 

Maciej Piotrowski Member of the Supervisory Board 

Dariusz Kacprzyk Member of the Supervisory Board 

Jakub Karnowski Member of the Supervisory Board 

Aleksandra Magaczewska Member of the Supervisory Board 

Tomasz Zganiacz  

Tomasz Zganiacz is an engineer and an MBA graduate, specialising in financial management and 
investment valuation.  Previously he has been Vice-President of the Management Board and CFO of 
Arksteel, Head of Credit at Société Générale and President of the Management Board of Triton 
Development S.A.  Since 2009, he has been a Director in the Ministry of State Treasury in charge of 
capital markets transactions and corporate governance in financial institutions. 

Zbigniew Ćwiąkalski  

Zbigniew Ćwiąkalski graduated from the Faculty of Law at the Jagiellonian University in Cracow in 
1972.  He was an academic teacher at the Jagiellonian University, University in Rzeszów, and the 
School of Law and Public Administration in Przemyśl.  Since 1988, he has been a partner in T. 
Studnicki, K. Płeszka, Z. Ćwiąkalski, J. Górski, sp. k. law firm.  From 2007 until early 2009, he was 
the Minister of Justice and the Attorney General. 

Zbigniew Derdziuk  

Zbigniew Derdziuk graduated from the University of Warsaw and, since 2009, has been the President 
of the Management Board of ZUS.  Zbigniew has many years of experience in management positions, 
including directorships at Telewizja Polska S.A., Telewizja Familijna and Vice President of the 
Management Board of Bank Pocztowy S.A.  He also worked as the Director of the Office of the Head 
of the Chancellery of Sejm, Secretary of State in the Chancellery of the Prime Minister, Head of the 
Government's Standing Committee and the Secretary of the Capital City of Warsaw.   
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Dariusz Filar 

Dariusz Filar originally held a variety of academic positions at the University of Gdansk, the Center 
for Russian and East European Studies (CREES), University of Michigan, Ann Arbor and at the 
Central European University. In 2004, he became a member of the Monetary Policy Council of the 
National Bank of Poland and in March 2010 was appointed to the Economic Council to the Prime 
Minister. He has extensive economic experience and was the Head Economist at Bank Polska Kasa 
Opieki S.A.   

Alojzy Nowak  

Alojzy Nowak graduated from the Warsaw School of Economics in 1984 and in 1992 from University 
of Illinois at Urbana - Champaign. Since 2002, he has been Professor of Economics and has 
previously completed studies at Exeter, the Free University of Berlin and RUCA.  He worked as an 
advisor to the Prime Minister and the Minister of Agriculture and spent many years gaining 
professional experience working as dean at the Management Faculty of the University of Warsaw.  

Maciej Piotrowski  

Maciej Piotrowski graduated from Wrocław University of Technology in 1989 and completed post 
graduate courses in both Foreign Trade and Finance at the Wrocław University of Economics. Since 
January 2014, he has been a Vice President of the Management Board of Bank Gospodarstwa 
Krajowego. From 2000 until 2008 he held various management and senior board positions at Bank of 
America (Poland) S.A., TP Invest sp. zo.o., Towarzystwo Emerytalne Telekomunikacji Polskiej S.A. 
From 2008, for over five years, Maciej was the Vice President of the Management Board at Polska 
Agencja Żeglugi Powietrznej.  
 
Dariusz Kacprzyk  
 
Dariusz Kacprzyk graduated from the Warsaw School of Economics and obtained a post-graduate 
from Leon Koźmiński University. Since 21 June 2013 Dariusz has been a Supervisory Board member 
of the Warsaw Stock Exchange.  
 
Dariusz has previously worked as CEO of Bank Gospodarstwa Krajowego and from 2009 to 2013 he 
worked in BRE Bank SA as the Director of the Corporate Cooperation Department while 
simultaneously sitting on the Bank Management Board’s credit committee. Previously, from 2007 to 
2009 he worked with Bank Pekao SA as the managing director of the Corporate Banking, Real Estate 
Finance and International Markets Division and as a member of its credit committee. He also worked 
in Bank BPH SA and Powszechny Bank Kredytowy SA prior to the merger with BPH SA, and in 
PKO Bank Polski SA. He was the coordinator of the Municipal Development Program organised by 
the World Bank and the Municipal Development Agency (Finance Minister’s Foundation). 
 
Jakub Karnowski 

 

Jakub Karnowski is a doctor of economics. Graduate of the Warsaw School of Economics and the 
University of Minnesota, former fellow of The Margaret Thatcher Foundation in the London School 
of Economics.  
 
From 1997 to 2000 he was head of the political office and an advisor to the finance minister. Then 
from 2000 to 2001 he advised PKPP „Lewiatan” on macroeconomic affairs. From 2001 to 2003 he 
was an advisor to the Governor of the National Bank of Poland (hereinafter NBP), while also being 
the Director of the Foreign Department at NBP in this period.   
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From 2003 to 2008 he worked in the World Bank Group in Washington D.C. as a Deputy Executive 
Director. From 2008 to 2012 he was the CEO of PKO TFI, and from 2010 to 2013 he was a member 
of the management board of CFA Society of Poland. Since April 2012 he has been the CEO of 
Polskie Koleje Państwowe S.A.  
 
Aleksandra Magaczewska  
 
Aleksandra Magaczewska has held various positions in the Ministry of Economy from 16 February 
2000 to 23 October 2006 ranging from assistant clerk to chief specialist in the following Departments: 
Industry Restructuring Department, Energy Security Department, Energy Department, Department of 
Supervised Entities and Subsidiaries, and from 24 October 2006 to 31 December 2011 as Deputy 
Director of the Department of Industry, and then Director of the Mining Department, as well as in the 
State Treasury Ministry as Director of the Restructuring Department. Moreover, she was the 
Supervisory Board Chairperson of Przedsiębiorstwo Eksploatacji Rurociągów Naftowych „Przyjaźń”. 
  
At present, Ms. Aleksandra Magaczewska is the Supervisory Board Chairperson of KGHM Polska 
Miedź S.A. 
 
The business address of all members of the Supervisory Board is al. Jana Pawła II 24, 00-133 
Warsaw, Poland. No member of the Supervisory Board has any actual or potential conflict of interest 
between his duties to PZU and his private interests and/or other duties. 

EMPLOYEES 

The table below presents the average number of employees in the Group for each of 2013 and 2012. 

 1 January – 31 
December 2013 

1 January- 31 
December 2012 

Management Boards (number of members at 31 December) 42 31 

Management 957 940 

Advisors 11 3 

Other employees 13,082 13,175 

Total 14,092 14,149 

In addition to salaries, the Group’s employees in Poland are entitled to a range of benefits, including 
the Group’s employee insurance programmes, an employee pension programme, health insurance, 
medical insurance and discounts on insurance products offered by the Group. 

None of PZU’s employees or the members of its Management Board participate in share option 
schemes or other similar programmes. 



   
   
 

   
 91  
 

THE INSURANCE MARKET 

Unless otherwise stated, all market information in this section is based on data published by KNF. 

COMPARISON OF POLISH AND EUROPEAN INSURANCE SECTOR 

According to the Statistics Report No. 48 “European Insurance in Figures” from February 2013, an 
average Pole spends over four times less on insurance than an average European.  In 2012, the value 
of insurance premium per average Pole (density ratio) in Poland was EUR 384.40.  In Europe, the 
density ratio in 2012 was EUR 1,842.80.  Over half of the insurance premiums of both an average 
Pole and an average European are paid towards life insurance.  

With respect to the level of the premium compared with GDP (penetration ratio), Poland is below the 
European average.  This suggests that the Polish market still has growth potential.  The penetration 
ratio for Poland is half the European average penetration ratio and less than one third of the 
penetration ratio in the United Kingdom.  

Central and Eastern European countries, such as Lithuania, Estonia and Latvia, in which PZU is 
present, also have a low penetration ratio which suggests that there are also opportunities for PZU to 
grow its business in those countries. 

THE NON-LIFE INSURANCE MARKET IN POLAND 

The non-life insurance market in Poland measured by gross written premiums grew by an annual 
average of 6.0 per cent. between 2009 and 2013 and its value in 2013 was PLN 26.6 billion, of which 
PZU accounted for PLN 8.3 billion.  Currently the market is split almost evenly between individuals 
and corporates. In terms of products, there is an even split between motor insurance and other non-life 
insurance, with property insurance being the second largest category and also the fastest growing 
segment in 2013. In 2013, PZU collected 31.1 per cent. of the non-life insurance gross written 
premiums in Poland, 77.3 per cent. of such premiums being collected by five insurance groups (out of 
a market comprising 31 companies). 

In 2013, the technical result of the whole non-life insurance market in Poland was PLN 1.3 billion, of 
which, according to the 2013 Financial Statements, PZU accounted for PLN 1.1 billion. 

THE LIFE INSURANCE MARKET IN POLAND 

The value of the life insurance market in Poland in 2013, measured in terms of gross written 
premiums, was PLN 31.3 billion.  The market is split almost evenly for regular and single premium 
insurance and between group and individual insurance. 

In 2013, 72.5 per cent. of the life gross written premiums were collected by five insurance groups. For 
regular premium life insurance, which is the most important segment for the Group, PZU Życie 
collected 43.3 per cent. of the life regular gross written premiums in Poland, with 72 per cent. of such 
premiums being collected by five insurance groups (out of a market comprising 27 companies). 

The technical result of the whole life insurance market in Poland in 2013 was PLN 3.0 billion, of 
which PZU Życie accounted for PLN 1.8 billion, a market share of 60.7 per cent.  In 2013, the net 
result of the whole life insurance market in Poland was PLN 2.8 billion, of which, according to the 
2013 Financial Statements,  PZU Życie accounted for PLN 1.7 billion. 
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INVESTMENT FUNDS IN POLAND 

According to the Chamber of Asset Managers, as of 31 May 2014, the investment funds in Poland 
managed assets worth PLN 198.2 billion.  This was the highest level in history of the Polish 
investment funds market.  At the same date, 38 investment funds companies managed 722 investment 
open-ended and closed-ended funds.  

In 2013, the average rate of return of investment funds in Poland varied from 1.5 per cent. for funds 
investing in Polish Treasury bonds to 31.1 per cent. for funds investing in shares of SMEs. 

PENSION FUNDS IN POLAND 

At 31 May 2014, PTE PZU had a market share of 13.4 per cent. measured in terms of assets of open-
end pension funds, the third largest share at that date. 

The Polish pension system and pension funds market is currently under reform.  As of 31 May 2014, 
the value of pension fund assets was PLN 152.7 billion, whereas on 31 December 2013 it was PLN 
299.3 billion.  The reason for this decrease was the transfer of all Treasury bonds held by the pension 
funds to ZUS.  In the second quarter of 2014, the members of the pension funds will be able to declare 
whether their future premiums should be transferred to the pension funds or to ZUS.  If a member 
does not make any declaration by 31 July 2014 his premiums will be automatically transferred to 
ZUS.  The potential result of the reform might be a significant decrease of the role of the pension 
funds in the Polish social security system. 

BALTIC COUNTRIES 

According to the Lithuanian central bank's data, the gross written premium of Lithuanian non-life 
insurance companies in 2013 was LTL 1.3 billion.  At the end of 2013, 12 non-life insurance 
companies (including nine branches of insurance companies registered in another Member State) were 
operating in Lithuania.  The gross written premium of life insurance companies in Lithuania in 2013 
was LTL 626 million.  At the end of 2013, nine life insurance companies (including four branches of 
insurance companies registered in another Member State) were operating in Lithuania.   

In 2013, the non-life insurance companies in Latvia collected a gross written premium of EUR 245.4 
million.  At the end of 2013, 13 non-life insurance companies (including eight branches of insurance 
companies registered in another Member State) were operating in Latvia.  

According to the data for the end of 2013, the total value of the gross written premiums on the 
Estonian non-life insurance market was EUR 244.4 million.  At the end of 2013, 14 companies 
(including five branches of insurance companies registered in another Member State) were operating 
in the non-life insurance market in Estonia. 

UKRAINE 

The Ukrainian insurance market is fragmented.  According to the State Commission for Regulation of 
Financial Services Markets of Ukraine and Insurance TOP, in 2013, there were 407 insurance 
companies operating in Ukraine.  62 companies are offering life insurance and 94 companies are 
owned by non-Ukrainians. 

In 2013, the gross written premiums in the non-life insurance market in Ukraine was UAH 26.2 
billion.  Life insurance companies collected UAH 2.5 billion of gross written premiums in 2013. 
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REGULATION 

PZU continually monitors legislative developments relating to insurance both in the countries where it 
operates and at a European Union level.  Where appropriate, PZU participates in the legislative 
process through representations made through the Polish Insurance Chamber, the Insurance Guarantee 
Fund and other relevant industry organisations.  PZU also monitors judicial decisions which affect the 
insurance industry and adapts its internal procedures and regulations and its standard conditions and 
agreements so that they remain in compliance with new regulations and judicial interpretations. 

THE INSURANCE ACT 

The Insurance Act is divided into two sections: Section I covers life insurance and Section II covers 
casualty and property insurance.  An insurance company cannot simultaneously engage in activities 
falling into Section I and Section II. 

Reinsurance activity is the activity connected with the acceptance of risk ceded by an insurance 
company and the subsequent retrocession of the risk accepted.  Reinsurance is also regulated by the 
Insurance Act. 

In addition to voluntary insurance, there are certain types of mandatory insurance.  This comprises:  

 third party liability insurance for owners of motor vehicles against traffic-related damage; 

 third-party liability insurance for farm owners; 

 insurance of farmstead buildings against fire and other natural disasters; and 

 insurance following from other acts or international agreements ratified by Poland. 

In principle an insurance company may not engage in any activities other than insurance activities or 
strictly related activities. 

Insurance companies may operate only as joint stock companies or mutual insurance societies. 
Persons sitting on the management board or supervisory board of an insurance company should meet 
the detailed criteria set out in the Insurance Act.  In particular, only a natural person who has the full 
capacity to perform legal acts, whose qualifications guarantee the performance of his duties and who 
has not been convicted of an intentional offence may be a member of the corporate bodies of a parent 
insurance entity with its registered office in Poland. The appointment of two management board 
members, including the president of the management board, requires KNF's consent, unless the 
appointment concerns persons who acted as management board members during the preceding term.   

The Insurance Act also regulates the provision of insurance services both regarding Polish insurance 
companies which intend to engage in insurance activity in another Member State, and insurance 
companies from other Member States which plan to engage in insurance activity in Poland. 

An insurance company is obliged to have equity at least equal to its solvency margin and guarantee 
capital. The Solvency Margin Ordinance specifies the manner of calculating the amount of the 
solvency margin and the minimum guarantee capital for particular classes and groups of insurance. 

Depending on the type of activity pursued by an insurance company, the solvency margin is 
calculated in a way applicable to the given type of activity. 
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An insurance company has to hold assets meeting the requirements set out in the Insurance Act, in an 
amount not lower than the gross value of technical reserves, such technical reserves being held to 
cover current and future liabilities that may ensue from the signed insurance contracts. 

The Insurance Act also regulates an insurance company's investment activity. The main goal of 
investment activity of insurance companies is to attain the highest degree of security and return while 
maintaining liquidity of funds. The Insurance Act contains restrictions concerning the object, subject 
and amount of insurance funds that may be invested. Furthermore, the Insurance Act specifies the 
maximum percentage share of the insurance fund that may be committed to individual types of 
investments. 

Assets covering the technical provisions should be properly diversified and dispersed so that they are 
not related to one type of asset or one entity only and they should not be charged with liabilities other 
than resulting from the insurance contracts. The due date of assets covering the technical provisions 
should be adjusted to the due date of liabilities arising from insurance contracts. The Insurance Act 
provides a catalogue of assets which may cover the technical provisions. 

INSURANCE INTERMEDIATION ACT 

The principles of insurance intermediation regarding casualty and property insurance are specified in 
the Act dated 22 May 2003 on Insurance Intermediation (the Insurance Intermediation Act). 
Insurance intermediation services may only be supplied by insurance agents or insurance brokers, 
with reinsurance-related brokerage being provided only by insurance brokers holding a license for 
engaging in such activities (reinsurance brokers). 

An insurance agent is an entrepreneur conducting agency activities under an agency agreement signed 
with an insurance company and entered into the register of insurance agents.  An insurance broker is a 
natural or legal person holding a license for engaging in brokerage activity, issued by the KNF, and 
entered into the register of insurance brokers.  The insurance intermediaries are entered into a publicly 
register maintained by the KNF. 

THE KNF 

In Poland, insurance companies supervision is currently exercised by the KNF and covers in 
particular: 

 issuing permits to conduct insurance activities; 

 assessing the financial position of the insurance companies, including the levels of their own 
funds, reserve capital and technical reserves; 

 assessing the compliance of insurance activities with relevant regulations; and 

 examining the proper composition of the corporate bodies of an insurance company. 

The KNF has wide powers when supervising insurance companies. For example, the KNF may: 

 request an insurance company to appoint auditors to review the insurance company's accounts 
and compliance with the capital requirements; 

 demand from an insurance company detailed information about its activities, including forms 
of insurance agreements and tariffs; 
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 request information from entities not conducting insurance activities, but being members of 
an insurance group; 

 issue guidelines and recommendations; 

 impose fines; and 

 withdraw the license to conduct insurance activities. 

OTHER SUPERVISORY AUTHORITIES 

Some areas of insurance operations are subject to the supervision of other public administration 
authorities, the most important of which are as follows: 

 the President of the Office of Consumer and Competition Protection regarding protecting 
market competition and consumers' collective rights; 

 the General Inspector for Personal Data Protection with respect to collecting, processing, 
managing and protecting personal data; and 

 the Minister responsible for financial institutions and the General Inspector for Financial 
Information with respect to the prevention of money laundering and financing of terrorism. 

CONSUMER PROTECTION 

The Civil Code and other consumer protection laws impose obligations on insurance companies when 
contracting with consumers.  The most important of these is a prohibition on including particular 
clauses which are unfavourable to consumers in contracts with consumers.  These clauses, if included 
in an agreement signed with a consumer, are not binding on the consumer. 

PERSONAL DATA PROTECTION 

In light of the large numbers of individuals serviced by insurance companies, all regulations 
concerning personal data protection are of particular importance to insurance businesses.  Personal 
data may be processed exclusively in compliance with specific regulations, while applying technical 
and organisational means that ensure the protection of personal data, particularly from disclosure to 
any unauthorised parties.  Additionally, the persons to which such data relates should have right to 
access all of their personal data and to correct it.  
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TAXATION 

The following is a general summary of the Swedish, Polish and EU tax consequences as at the date 
hereof in relation to payments made under the Notes in relation to the sale or transfer of Notes. It is 
not exhaustive and purchasers are urged to consult their professional advisors as to the tax 
consequences to them of holding or transferring Notes. 

Kingdom of Sweden 

The following summary outlines certain Swedish tax consequences to holders of Notes who are not 
residents of Sweden for income tax purposes. Purchasers are urged to consult their professional 
advisers as to the tax consequences of acquiring, holding or transferring Notes. 

Under Swedish law as presently in effect, payments of any principal or any amount that is considered 
to be interest for Swedish tax purposes to the holder of any Note will not be subject to Swedish 
income tax, provided that such holder is neither resident in Sweden for tax purposes nor engaged in 
trade or business in Sweden through a permanent establishment to which the Notes are effectively 
connected. A person is resident for tax purposes in Sweden if he (i) is domiciled in Sweden or (ii) has 
his habitual abode in Sweden or (iii) is present in Sweden for six consecutive months, or (iv) earlier 
has been domiciled in Sweden and after having moved abroad continues to have an essential 
connection with Sweden (for example is engaged in trade or business in Sweden). 

Swedish law, as presently in effect, does not provide for deduction or withholding for or on account of 
taxes on payments of any principal or interest to the holder of any Notes, except on payment of 
interest, and any other yield on any Notes which is paid at the same time as interest, to a holder who is 
a private individual (or an estate of a deceased individual) with tax residence in Sweden. 

Republic of Poland 

The following is a discussion of certain Polish tax considerations relevant to an investor resident in 
Poland or which is otherwise subject to Polish taxation.  This statement should not be deemed to be 
tax advice.  It is based on Polish tax laws and, as its interpretation refers to the position as at the date 
of this prospectus, it may thus be subject to change including a change with retroactive effect.  Any 
change may negatively affect tax treatment, as described below.  This description does not purport to 
be complete with respect to all tax information that may be relevant to investors due to their personal 
circumstances.  Prospective purchasers of the Notes are advised to consult their professional tax 
advisor regarding the tax consequences of the purchase, ownership, disposal, redemption or transfer 
without consideration of the Notes.  The information provided below does not cover tax consequences 
concerning income tax exemptions applicable to specific taxable items or specific taxpayers (e.g. 
domestic or foreign investment funds). 

The reference to "interest" as well as to any other terms in the paragraphs below means "interest" or 
any other term as understood in Polish tax law. 

Income Tax 

Taxation of Polish tax resident individuals (natural persons)  

Under Article 3.1 of the Polish Personal Income Tax Act dated 26 July 1991, as amended (the PIT 
Act), natural persons are subject to tax liability affecting their entire income (revenues) regardless of 
the location of the source of such revenues (unlimited tax liability) if they have their place of 
residence in the territory of the Republic of Poland. A person whose place of residence is in the 
Republic of Poland is the natural person who: 



   
   
 

   
 97  
 

 has his/her centre of personal or economic interests (centre of life interests) within the territory of 
the Republic of Poland; or 

 is present in the territory of the Republic of Poland for more than 183 days in a tax year (Article 
3.1a of the PIT Act). 

These rules apply without prejudice to double taxation conventions signed by the Republic of Poland 
(Article 4a of the PIT Act).  

Capital gains from disposal of the Notes  

Capital gains from disposal of the Notes, derived by a Polish tax resident individual from the Notes 
held as non-business assets, are not cumulated with general income subject to progressive tax rates 
and are subject to 19 per cent. flat-rate tax. Additionally, no tax is withheld by a tax remitter, but the 
tax should be settled by the taxpayer by 30 April of the following year.  

If an individual holds the Notes as a business asset, in principle, the income should be taxed in the 
same way as other business income. The tax, at 19 per cent. flat rate or the 18 per cent. to 32 per cent. 
progressive tax rate depending on the choice and certain conditions being met by the individual, 
should be settled by the individual himself/herself. 

Withholding tax on interest (including discount) income 

According to Article 30a.1.2 of the PIT Act, interest income, including discounts, derived by a Polish 
tax resident individual (as defined above) does not cumulate with general income subject to the 
progressive tax rate but is subject to 19 per cent. flat-rate tax. 

Withholding tax incurred outside Poland (including countries which have not concluded a tax treaty 
with Poland), up to an amount equal to the tax paid abroad, but not higher than 19 per cent. tax on the 
interest amount, could be deducted from the Polish tax liability. Double tax treaties in particular can 
provide other methods of withholding tax settlements. 

Under Art. 41.4 of the PIT Act, the interest payer, other than an individual not acting within the scope 
of his/her business activity, should withhold the 19 per cent. Polish tax upon any interest payment. In 
practice, the obligation to withhold tax applies only to Polish interest payers and not foreign payers. 
Under the Art. 41.4d of the PIT Act, tax on interest or discount on securities is withheld by entities 
keeping securities accounts for taxpayers, in their capacity as tax remitters, if the income (revenue) is 
earned in the territory of Poland and is associated with the securities registered in these accounts, and, 
further, if relevant payments are made to the taxpayers through those entities. However, given that the 
interest on Notes may be classified as not earned in Poland and the term "person making the interest 
payment" is not precisely defined in the law, under some interpretations issued by the Polish tax 
authorities, in certain cases Polish banks or Polish brokerage houses maintaining securities accounts 
may refuse to withhold the tax based on the fact that they are acting only as an intermediary and 
therefore should not be obliged under Polish law to remit due tax. According to Article 45.3b of the 
PIT Act, if the tax is not withheld, the individual is obliged to settle the tax himself/herself by 30 
April of the following year. 

If a Polish tax resident individual holds the Notes as a business asset, in principle, interest should not 
be subject to withholding tax but taxed in the same way as other business income. The tax, at 19 per 
cent. flat rate or the 18 per cent. to 32 per cent. progressive tax rate depending on the choice and 
certain conditions being met by the individual, should be settled by the individual himself/herself. 
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Taxation of a Polish tax resident corporate income taxpayer 

A Polish tax resident, i.e. corporate income taxpayer having its registered office or place of 
management in Poland should be subject to 19 per cent. income tax on the Notes (both on any capital 
gain and on interest/discount) following the same principles as those which apply to any other income 
received from business activity. As a rule, for Polish income tax purposes, interest is recognised as 
taxable revenue on a cash basis, that is when it is received and not when it has accrued. In respect of 
capital gains, the cost of acquiring the Notes should be recognised at the time the revenue is achieved. 
The taxpayer independently (without the involvement of the tax remitter) settles tax on interest 
(discount) or capital gains on Notes, which is aggregated with other income derived from business 
operations conducted by the taxpayer. 

Notes held by a non-Polish tax resident individual or corporate  

Non-Polish tax residents are: 

 natural persons if they do not have their place of residence in the territory of the Republic of 
Poland (Art. 3.2a of the Pit Act); and 

 corporate income taxpayer s if they do not have its registered office or place of management 
in Poland Art. 3.2 of the Polish Corporate Income Tax Act dated 15 February 1992, as 
amended (the CIT Act). 

Non-Polish residents are subject to Polish income tax only on their income earned in Poland. 
Although there are no clear provisions of Polish tax law, if the Notes are issued by a foreign entity, in 
principle, interest should not be considered as having been earned in Poland. Capital gains should also 
not be considered as arising in Poland unless the securities are traded on a stock exchange in Poland 
(the Warsaw Stock Exchange). However, if the latter is the case, most of the tax treaties concluded by 
Poland provide for Polish tax exemption on capital gains earned in Poland by a foreign tax resident. In 
order to benefit from a tax treaty, a foreign investor should present a relevant certificate of its tax 
residency. 

Certain payments (those corresponding to interest) made by the Guarantor may be subject to Polish 
withholding tax if they were classified by the tax authorities as interest derived from Poland. If this 
was the case, domestic 19 per cent. (in case of non-resident individuals) or 20 per cent. (in case of 
non-resident corporates) withholding tax would apply unless the interest recipient benefitted from a 
reduced rate or an exemption under the relevant double tax treaty. In order to benefit from a reduced 
rate or an exemption under the relevant double tax treaty, the interest recipient would need to produce 
the relevant certificate of tax residency (other documents may be required in specific cases). 

If a foreign recipient of income acts through a permanent establishment in Poland, to which the 
interest is related, as a matter of principle it should be treated in the same manner as a Polish tax 
resident.  

PCC – Tax on Civil Law Transactions  

PCC is levied on civil law transactions, such as a sale or exchange of rights, if such rights are 
exercisable in Poland or, if exercisable abroad and the acquirer is a Polish resident and the transaction 
is carried out in Poland. As a rule, given that the issuer is a non-Polish entity, the Notes should not be 
considered as rights exercisable in Poland. 

Neither an issuance of Notes nor redemption of Notes is subject to PCC.  



   
   
 

   
 99  
 

PCC on the sale or exchange of Notes (which, as a rule are considered to be rights) is 1 per cent. of 
their market value. It is payable within 14 days after the sale or exchange agreement has been entered 
into. PCC on sale of the Notes is payable by the entity acquiring the Notes. In the case of exchange 
agreements, PCC should be payable by both parties jointly and severally. However, if such agreement 
has been entered into in notarial form, the tax due should be withheld and paid by the notary public.  

The sale of the Notes: (i) to investment firms or foreign investment firms, (ii) made with the 
intermediation of investment firms or foreign investment firms; (iii) made through organised trading, 
or (iv) made outside an organised trading by investment firms or foreign investment firms if the 
proprietary rights were acquired by those firms through organised trading, as defined in the Act on 
Trading in Financial Instruments, is exempt from PCC.  

Tax on Inheritance and Donations 

Tax on inheritance and donations is levied on the acquisition by natural persons of property located, 
and economic rights (including securities) exercised in Poland, by way of among others, inheritance, 
ordinary legacy, further legacy, legacy per vindicationem, bequest, donation or donor’s order.  The tax 
on inheritance on donations is also imposed on the acquisition of property located abroad or of 
property rights exercised abroad if, on the date of the opening of the succession or conclusion of a 
donation agreement, the acquirer was a Polish citizen or had a permanent residence in Poland. 

The tax liability is born by the person acquiring the property or economic rights. The tax base is, 
usually, the value of the acquired property and economic rights, after the deduction of any debts and 
encumbrances (net value), determined as at the date of acquisition and at the market prices prevailing 
on the date on which the tax obligation arises. 

The rates of the tax on inheritances and donations vary and are determined by the degree of 
consanguinity or affinity or any other personal relationship between the heir and the testator or the 
donor and the donee. 

The taxpayers are required to file, within one month of the date on which the tax liability arose, a tax 
return disclosing the acquisition of property or economic rights on an appropriate form with the head 
of the relevant tax office.  The tax is payable within 14 days of receiving the decision of the head of 
the relevant tax office assessing the amount of the tax liability. If the agreement is concluded in the 
form of a notarial deed, the tax on inheritance and donations shall be collected and remitted by the 
notary public. 

Securities acquired by close relatives (a spouse, descendants, ascendants, stepchildren, siblings, 
stepfather and stepmother) are tax-exempt subject to filing an appropriate notice with the head of the 
relevant tax office in due time. The aforementioned exemption applies if, at the time of acquisition, 
the acquirer was a citizen of any of the EU (EEA) member state. 

Tax is not levied on an acquisition of economic rights exercised in the territory of Poland (including 
securities) if on the date of such acquisition neither the transferee nor the decedent nor donor were 
Polish citizens and had no place of permanent residence or registered office in the territory of the 
Republic of Poland . 

Remitter's Liability 

Under Art. 30.1 of the Tax Ordinance dated 29 August 1997, as amended, a remitter which has not 
carried out its obligation to calculate and withhold due tax from a taxpayer, and to transfer the 
appropriate amount of tax to a relevant tax office, is liable for tax not withheld or tax withheld but not 
transferred to a relevant tax office. The remitter is liable for those obligations with all of its assets. 
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The provisions on the remitter's liability do not apply only if separate provisions provide otherwise or 
if the tax has not been withheld due to the taxpayer's fault. 

EU Directive on the Taxation of Savings Income (Directive 2003/48/EC) 

Under Council Directive 2003/48/EC on the taxation of savings income, Member States are required 
to provide to the tax authorities of other Member States details of certain payments of interest or 
similar income paid or secured by a person established in a Member State to or for the benefit of an 
individual resident in another Member State or certain limited types of entities established in another 
Member State.   

On 24 March 2014, the Council of the European Union adopted a Council Directive amending and 
broadening the scope of the requirements described above.  Member States are required to apply these 
new requirements from 1 January 2017.  The changes will expand the range of payments covered by 
the Directive, in particular to include additional types of income payable on securities.  The Directive 
will also expand the circumstances in which payments that indirectly benefit an individual resident in 
a Member State must be reported.  This approach will apply to payments made to, or secured for, 
persons, entities or legal arrangements (including trusts) where certain conditions are satisfied, and 
may in some cases apply where the person, entity or arrangement is established or effectively 
managed outside of the European Union. 

For a transitional period, Luxembourg and Austria are required (unless during that period they elect 
otherwise) to operate a withholding system in relation to such payments.  The changes referred to 
above will broaden the types of payments subject to withholding in those Member States which still 
operate a withholding system when they are implemented.  In April 2013, the Luxembourg 
Government announced its intention to abolish the withholding system with effect from 1 January 
2015, in favour of automatic information exchange under the Directive.  

The end of the transitional period is dependent upon the conclusion of certain other agreements 
relating to information exchange with certain other countries.  A number of non-EU countries and 
territories including Switzerland have adopted similar measures (a withholding system in the case of 
Switzerland).   

The Proposed Financial Transactions Tax (FTT) 

On 14 February 2013, the European Commission published a proposal (the Commission’s Proposal) 
for a Directive for a common FTT in Belgium, Germany, Estonia, Greece, Spain, France, Italy, 
Austria, Portugal, Slovenia and Slovakia (the participating Member States). 

The Commission’s Proposal has very broad scope and could, if introduced, apply to certain dealings 
in the Notes (including secondary market transactions) in certain circumstances.  

Under the Commission’s Proposal the FTT could apply in certain circumstances to persons both 
within and outside of the participating Member States. Generally, it would apply to certain dealings in 
the Notes where at least one party is a financial institution, and at least one party is established in a 
participating Member State. A financial institution may be, or be deemed to be, "established" in a 
participating Member State in a broad range of circumstances, including (a) by transacting with a 
person established in a participating Member State or (b) where the financial instrument which is 
subject to the dealings is issued in a participating Member State. 

A joint statement issued in May 2014 by ten of the eleven participating Member States indicated an 
intention to implement the FTT progressively, such that it would initially apply to shares and certain 
derivatives, with this initial implementation occurring by 1 January 2016.  The FTT, as initially 
implemented on this basis, may not apply to dealings in the Notes. 
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The FTT proposal remains subject to negotiation between the participating Member States. It may 
therefore be altered prior to any implementation.  Additional EU Member States may decide to 
participate. 

Prospective holders of the Notes are advised to seek their own professional advice in relation to the 
FTT. 
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SUBSCRIPTION AND SALE 

Citigroup Global Markets Limited, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, Goldman Sachs 
International, Merrill Lynch International and UBS Limited (the “Joint Lead Managers”) have, 
pursuant to a Subscription Agreement dated 1 July 2014, jointly and severally agreed with the Issuer 
and the Guarantor, subject to the satisfaction of certain conditions, to subscribe the Notes. The Issuer 
has agreed to pay to the Joint Lead Managers certain commissions and to reimburse them for certain 
of their expenses in connection with the issue of the Notes. The Subscription Agreement entitles the 
Joint Lead Managers to terminate it in certain circumstances prior to payment being made to the 
Issuer. 

Selling Restrictions 

United States of America 

The Notes have not been, and will not be, registered under the Securities Act and, subject to certain 
exceptions, Notes may not be offered, sold or delivered within the United States or its possessions. 
Each Joint Lead Manager has agreed that it will not offer, sell or deliver any Notes within the United 
States or its possessions. 

In addition, until 40 days after the commencement of the offering, an offer or sale of Notes within the 
United States by any dealer (whether or not participating in the offering) may violate the registration 
requirements of the Securities Act. 

United Kingdom 

Each Joint Lead Manager has severally represented, warranted and undertaken that: 

(a) it has only communicated or caused to be communicated and will only communicate or cause 
to be communicated an invitation or inducement to engage in investment activity (within the 
meaning of section 21 of the Financial Services and Markets Act 2000, as amended (the 
“FSMA”)) received by it in connection with the issue or sale of the Notes in circumstances in 
which section 21(1) of the FSMA does not apply to the Issuer; and 

(b) it has complied and will comply with all applicable provisions of the FSMA with respect to 
anything done by it in relation to the Notes in, from or otherwise involving the United 
Kingdom. 

Poland 

This document has not been and will not be notified to or approved by the Polish Financial 
Supervision Authority (Komisja Nadzoru Finansowego). The Notes may not be offered or sold in or 
into Poland except under circumstances that do not constitute a public offering defined under the Act 
on Public Offering, Conditions Governing the Introduction of Financial Instruments to Organised 
Trading and Public Companies of July 29, 2005, as amended. 

Sweden 

This Prospectus has not been prepared in accordance with the prospectus requirements provided for in 
the Swedish Financial Instruments Trading Act (lagen (1991:980) om handel med finansiella 
instrument) nor any other Swedish enactment. Neither the Swedish Financial Supervisory Authority 
(Finansinspektionen) nor any other Swedish public body has examined, approved or registered this 
Prospectus or will examine, approve or register this Prospectus. Accordingly, this Prospectus may not 
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be made available, nor may the Notes otherwise be marketed or offered for sale, in Sweden other than 
in circumstances that constitute an exemption from the requirement to prepare a prospectus under the 
Swedish Financial Instruments Trading Act. 

Each Joint Lead Manager has confirmed and agreed that it will not, directly or indirectly, offer for 
subscription or purchase or issue invitations to subscribe for or buy Notes or distribute any draft or 
final document in relation to any such offer, invitation or sale except in circumstances that will not 
result in a requirement to prepare a prospectus pursuant to the provisions of the Swedish Financial 
Instruments Trading Act. 
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GENERAL INFORMATION 

1. Clearing Systems 

The Notes have been accepted for clearance through the Clearstream, Luxembourg and 
Euroclear systems with a Common Code of 108266155. The International Securities 
Identification Number for the Notes is XS1082661551. 

2. Admission to Trading 

In connection with the application to admit the Notes to the Irish Stock Exchange and to 
trading on the Market, copies of the constitutional documents being the Statute (statut) of the 
Guarantor and the Articles of Association  of the Issuer will be deposited with the Paying 
Agent where such documents may be examined and copies obtained. It is expected that 
admission of the Notes to trading will be granted on or before 3 July 2014. 

The Issuer estimates that the expenses associated with the listing of the Notes on the Official 
List and admission of the Notes to trading on the Market are expected to amount to 
approximately €5,041.20. 

3. Authorisations 

The Issuer and the Guarantor have obtained all necessary consents, approvals and 
authorisations in Sweden and Poland in connection with the issue and performance of the 
Notes and the Guarantee. The issue of the Notes was authorised by resolution of the Board of 
Directors of the Issuer passed on 26 June 2014 and the giving of the Guarantee by the 
Guarantor was authorised by resolution of the Supervisory Board of the Guarantor passed on 
17 June 2014. 

4. Material Adverse Change 

There has been no significant change in the financial or trading position of the Group since 31 
March 2014 and no material adverse change in the financial position or prospects of the 
Group since 31 December 2013. 

5. Litigation 

Neither the Issuer nor the Guarantor nor any of the Guarantor’s subsidiaries is involved in any 
governmental, legal or arbitration proceedings (including any such proceedings which are 
pending or threatened) which may have, or have had during the 12 months preceding the date 
of this Prospectus, a significant effect on the financial position or profitability of the Issuer or 
of the Guarantor. 

6. Documents on Display 

For so long as any of the Notes is outstanding, copies of the following documents may be 
inspected in electronic format at the specified offices of each of the Paying and Transfer 
Agents during normal business hours: 

(a) the constitutional documents of the Issuer and the Guarantor being the Statute (statut) 
of the Guarantor and the Articles of Association  of the Issuer; 
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(b) the annual report and consolidated accounts of the Group for the financial years 
ended 31 December 2013 and 2012 including, in each case, the audit report relating 
to such accounts; 

(c) the unaudited interim consolidated account of the Group as at, and for the three 
months ended, 31 March 2014; 

(d) the Deed of Guarantee; 

(e) the Fiscal Agency Agreement; 

(f) the Subscription Agreement; 

(g) the Issuer-ICSDs Agreement; and 

(h) this Prospectus and any supplements thereto. 

7. Auditors 

KPMG AB (authorised and regulated by the Supervisory Board of Public Accountants – 
Revisorsnämnden) are the Issuer’s auditors. Mårten Asplund has been appointed auditor in 
charge. 

The consolidated accounts of the Group for the financial years ended 31 December 2013 and 
2012 contained in this Prospectus have been audited by Jacek Marczak, certified auditor, 
member of the National Chamber of Statutory Auditors (Krajowa Izba Biegłych 
Rewidentów), license no. 9750, acting on behalf of Deloitte Polska spółka z ograniczoną 
odpowiedzialnością sp. k., entity authorised to audit financial statements entered on the list 
kept by the National Chamber of Statutory Auditors under no. 73, in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards and Deloitte Polska spółka z ograniczoną 
odpowiedzialnością sp. k. rendered an unqualified audit report on such accounts of the Group 
for each of these years.  

On 18 February 2014 KPMG Audyt spółka z ograniczoną odpowiedzialnością sp. k. was 
appointed by PZU’s Supervisory Board as the Guarantor's external auditor.  KPMG Audyt 
spółka z ograniczoną odpowiedzialnością sp. k. is an entity authorised to audit financial 
statements entered on the list kept by the National Chamber of Statutory Auditors under no. 
3546. 

The auditors of the Issuer or the Guarantor have no material interest in the Issuer. 

8. Conflicts of Interest 

There are no potential conflicts of interest between any duties of the members of the 
administrative, management or supervisory bodies of the Issuer towards the Issuer and their 
private interests and/or other duties. 

9. Other Relationships 

Some of the Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates have engaged in, and may in the future 
engage in, investment banking and other commercial dealings in the ordinary course of 
business with the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or their respective affiliates.  They have 
received, or may in the future receive, customary fees and commissions for these transactions. 
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In addition, in the ordinary course of their business activities, the Joint Lead Managers and 
their affiliates may make or hold a broad array of investments and actively trade debt and 
equity securities (or related derivative securities) and financial instruments (including bank 
loans) for their own account and for the accounts of their customers.  Such investments and 
securities activities may involve securities and/or instruments of the Issuer and/or the 
Guarantor and/or their respective affiliates. Certain of the Joint Lead Managers or their 
affiliates that have a lending relationship with the Issuer and/or the Guarantor and/or their 
respective affiliates routinely hedge their credit exposure to such entities consistent with their 
customary risk management policies.  Typically, such Joint Lead Managers and their affiliates 
would hedge such exposure by entering into transactions which consist of either the purchase 
of credit default swaps or the creation of short positions in the securities of the Issuer and/or 
the Guarantor and/or their respective affiliates, including potentially the Notes.  Any such 
short positions could adversely affect future trading prices of the Notes. The Joint Lead 
Managers and their affiliates may also make investment recommendations and/or publish or 
express independent research views in respect of such securities or financial instruments and 
may hold, or recommend to clients that they acquire, long and/or short positions in such 
securities and instruments. 
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III. Inflows from other assets
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In 2012 and in 2011, financial instruments were not reclassified from groups carried at fair value to those carried 
at cost or amortized cost.
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Equity instruments are classified as long-term unless they are planned to be sold within 12 months from the end 
of the reporting period.

F-95



F-96



for trading

F-97



F-98



F-99



F-100



F-101



Debt securities 
Government securities 

Debt securities 
Government securities 

F-102



F-103



-

F-104



•

−

F-105



−
−

•

−

−
−

•

F-106



F-107



F-108



F-109



F-110



F-111



F-112



F-113



F-114



F-115



•

•

F-116



F-117



F-118



•

•

•

•

•

F-119



F-120



F-121



The fair v alue of liabilities under i nvestment contracts with guarante ed a nd fix ed terms and conditions 
does not differ substantially from the carrying amount.
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Pursuant to the Labor Code, in case of an employee’s death during the term of the employment contract or during 
the period of enti tlement to a  disability allowance due to sickness, the em ployee’s family is entitle d to a deat h 
benefit paid by the e mployer and conditional on t he length of service at the company, in the a mount of 1 to  6-
month pay 
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As at 31 December 2012 and 31 December 2011 all current income tax liabilities were short-term.
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In 2012 and 2011, PZU ycie did not carry out activities involving inward reinsurance

Other (class 16)
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Opening balance 
Paid claims concerning losses 
incurred in previous years 
Increase (decrease) in provisions 
for losses incurred in the previous 
years 

Increase in provisions for losses 
incurred in the current year 
Other changes 
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All claims for 2012 and 2011 related to direct insurance.

F-138



F-139



F-140



•

•

•

F-141



F-142



F-143



F-144



•

•

F-145



•

•

F-146



•

•

•

•

•

•

F-147



F-148



•

•

•

•

F-149



•

•

F-150



F-151



F-152



F-153



•

F-154



•

F-155



•

•

•

F-156



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•  - 
•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

F-157



•

•

•

•

•

•

•

F-158



F-159



F-160



F-161



THE CAPITAL GROUP OF  

POWSZECHNY ZAKŁAD UBEZPIECZE

SPÓŁKA AKCYJNA 

WARSAW, AL. JANA PAWŁA II 24 

CONSOLIDATED  

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

FOR THE 2013 FINANCIAL YEAR 

WITH 

AUDITOR’S OPINION 

AND 

AUDIT REPORT 

F-166

F-162



THE CAPITAL GROUP OF POWSZECHNY ZAKŁAD UBEZPIECZE  SPÓŁKA AKCYJNA 

Deloitte Polska Spółka z ograniczon  odpowiedzialno ci  sp. k. 2

TABLE OF CONTENTS 

AUDITOR’S OPINION ...................................................................................................3

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF THE CAPITAL GROUP OF POWSZECHNY ZAKŁAD 
UBEZPIECZE  SPÓŁKA AKCYJNA FOR THE 2013 FINANCIAL YEAR .............5

I. GENERAL INFORMATION ...................................................................................5 

1. Details of the audited Parent Company ........................................................................5 

2. Information about the consolidated financial statements for the prior financial year ....8 

3. Details of the authorized entity and the key certified auditor acting on its behalf .........8 

4. Availability of data and management’s representations ...............................................9 

II. ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE CAPITAL GROUP ....... 10 

III. DETAILED INFORMATION ................................................................................ 12 

1. Information about the audited consolidated financial statements ................................ 12 

2. Consolidation documentation .................................................................................... 12 

3. Completeness and correctness of drawing up notes and explanations and the 
management report of the Capital Group ................................................................... 13 

IV. CLOSING COMMENTS ........................................................................................ 14 

CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE CAPITAL GROUP OF 
POWSZECHNY ZAKŁAD UBEZPIECZE  SPÓŁKA AKCYJNA FOR THE 
2013 FINANCIAL YEAR 

1. Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 

2. Consolidated Income Statement 

3. Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 

4. Statement of Changes in Consolidated Equity 

5. Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows 

6. Additional information and explanatory notes 

MANAGEMENT REPORT OF THE CAPITAL GROUP OF POWSZECHNY 
ZAKŁAD UBEZPIECZE  SPÓŁKA AKCYJNA FOR THE 2013 FINANCIAL 
YEAR 

F-167

F-163



3

AUDITOR’S OPINION 

To the Shareholders and Supervisory Board of Powszechny Zakład Ubezpiecze  Spółka 
Akcyjna

We have audited the attached consolidated financial statements of the Capital Group of 
Powszechny Zakład Ubezpiecze  Spółka Akcyjna (“Capital Group”) with Powszechny Zakład 
Ubezpiecze  Spółka Akcyjna, with its registered office in Warsaw at , Al. Jana Pawła II 24, as the 
Parent Company, including consolidated statement of financial position prepared as of 31 
December 2013, consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive 
income, statement of changes in consolidated equity, consolidated statement of cash flows for the 
financial year from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013 and notes comprising a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Preparation of consolidated financial statements and the management’s report of the Capital Group 
in line with the law is the responsibility of the Management Board of the Parent Company. The 
Management Board of the Parent Company and members of its Supervisory Board are obliged to 
ensure that the consolidated financial statements and the report on the activities of the Capital 
Group meet the requirements of the Accounting Act of 29 September 1994 (Journal of Laws of 
2013, item 330, as amended), hereinafter referred to as the “Accounting Act”. Our responsibility 
was to audit and express an opinion on compliance of the consolidated financial statements with 
the accounting principles (policy) adopted by the Capital Group and whether the financial 
statements present fairly and clearly, in all material respects, the financial and economic position as 
well as the financial result of the Capital Group. 

Our audit of the financial statements has been planned and performed in accordance with: 

− section 7 of the Accounting Act, 

− national auditing standards, issued by the National Council of Statutory Auditors in Poland. 

We have planned and performed our audit of the consolidated financial statements in such a way 
as to obtain reasonable assurance to express an opinion on the financial statements. Our audit 
included, in particular, verification of the correctness of the accounting principles (policy) applied 
by the Parent Company and the subsidiaries, verification – largely on a test basis – of the basis 
for the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated financial statements, as well as overall 
evaluation of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable 
basis for our opinion

In our opinion, the audited consolidated financial statements of the Capital Group of Powszechny 
Zakład Ubezpiecze  Spółka Akcyjna in all material respects: 

− present fairly and clearly the information material to evaluate the economic and financial 
position of the Capital Group as of 31 December 2013 as well as its profit or loss 
in the financial year from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013, 
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− have been prepared in accordance with the International Accounting Standards, International 
Financial Reporting Standards and related interpretations published as European Commission 
regulations, and in all matters not regulated in the standards – in accordance with 
the provisions of the Accounting Act and secondary legislation to the Act, 

− comply with the provisions of law applicable to the Capital Group which affect the contents 
of the consolidated financial statements. 

The Report on the activities of the Capital Group for the 2013 financial year is complete within 
the meaning of Article 49.2 of the Accounting Act and the Ordinance of the Minister of Finance of  
19 February 2009 on current and periodic information published by issuers of securities 
and the rules of equal treatment of the information required by the laws of non-member states 
(Journal of Laws of 2014, item 133) and consistent with underlying information disclosed in the 
audited consolidated financial statements. 

.......................................................... 
Jacek Marczak 
Key certified auditor 
conducting the audit 
No. 9750 

On behalf of Deloitte Polska Spółka z ograniczon  odpowiedzialno ci  Sp. k. – entity authorized to 
audit financial statements entered under number 73 on the list kept by the National Council of 
Statutory Auditors:

.......................................................... 
Dariusz Szkaradek – Vice-President of the Management Board of Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. - which 
is the General Partner of Deloitte Polska Spółka z ograniczon  odpowiedzialno ci  Sp. k. 

Warsaw, 11 March 2014 

The above audi t op inion together wi th aud it r eport is  a translation from the  or iginal P olish 
version. In case of any discrepancies between the Polish and English version, the Polish version 
shall prevail. 
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REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS OF THE CAPITAL GROUP OF POWSZECHNY ZAKŁAD 
UBEZPIECZE  SPÓŁKA AKCYJNA FOR THE 2013 FINANCIAL YEAR 

I. GENERAL INFORMATION 

1. Details of the audited Parent Company 

Powszechny Zakład Ubezpiecze  Spółka Akcyjna with its registered office in Warsaw at Al. Jana 
Pawła II 24, was established via transformation of Pa stwowy Zakład Ubezpiecze  into a state-
owned joint-stock company, pursuant to Article 97 of the Act of 28 July 1990 on insurance activity 
(consolidated text, Journal of Law from 1996, No. 11, item 62, as amended). 

The terms and procedures of transformation and assignment of liabilities of Pa stwowy Zakład 
Ubezpiecze  are governed by the Ordinance of the Minister of Finance of 18 December 1991 
(Journal of Law from 1991, No. 119, item 522). Formal and actual transformation of Pa stwowy 
Zakład Ubezpiecze  into a state-owned joint-stock company took place on 23 December 1991 
pursuant to a notarized deed Rep. A-III-21516/91. Currently, the Company is recorded in the 
register of entrepreneurs kept by the District Court for the capital city of Warsaw, XII Business-
Registry Division in Warsaw under number KRS 0000009831. 

The Company has the following tax identification number NIP: 526-025-10-49, assigned  
by the Second Tax Office Warszawa– ródmie cie on 4 June 1993. 

The REGON number assigned by the Statistical Office on on 5 July 1993 is: 010001345. 

The Company operates based on the provisions of the Code of Commercial Companies. 

According to the Statistical Classification of Economic Activities in the Polish Community 
the Company’s core business involves other property and personal insurance (PKD 65.12) 
and  according to European Community, the Company’s core business involves property insurance 
(code 6603).  

As of 31 December 2013, the Company’s share capital amounted to PLN 86,352,300 thousand and 
was divided into 86,352,300 ordinary registered shares with a face value of PLN 1 each. 

A series bearer shares and B series shares are publicly traded and listed on the Warsaw Stock 
Exchange. As of 31 December 2013 the Company’s shareholders holding over 5% shares included:  

− State Treasury – 35.1875% shares. 

During the financial year there were no changes in the share capital of the Company. 

In the period from the balance sheet date and until the date of this report there were no changes in 
the Company's share capital. 

As of 31 December 2013, the Capital Group’s equity amounted to PLN 13,127,787 thousand. 

The Capital Group’s financial year is the calendar year. 
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Composition of the Management Board as of the date of the opinion: 
− Andrzej Klesyk  – Chairman of the Board, 
− Przemysław D browski  – Member of the Board, 
− Dariusz Krzewina  – Member of the Board, 
− Barbara Smalska  – Member of the Board, 
− Tomasz Tarkowski   – Member of the Board, 
− Ryszard Trepczy ski  – Member of the Board. 

Changes in the composition of the Management Board during the audited period and till the date of 
the opinion: 
− On 12 March 2013 the Supervisory Board appointed Dariusz Krzewina a Member  

of the Management Board, effective from 15 March 2013. 
− On 12 March 2013 the Supervisory Board appointed Barbara Smalska a Member  

of the Management Board, effective from 15 March 2013. 
− On 27 December 2013 Bogusław Skuza resigned from the Management Board effective from 

31 December 2013. 

The above changes have been reported and registered at a relevant court register.  

In the financial year the composition of Capital Group has changed – the composition of the 
Capital Group and its changes has been presented in note 2.2 and 2.3 of consolidated financial 
statements. Subsidiaries which are subject of full consolidation have been presented in note 2.2 and 
changes in scope of consolidation in note 3.4 to consolidated financial statements. 

The consolidated financial statements as of 31 December 2013 included the following entities: 

a) Parent – Powszechny Zakład Ubezpiecze  Spółka Akcyjna 

We have audited the financial statements of the Parent Powszechny Zakład Ubezpiecze  Spółka 
Akcyjna for the period from 1 January to 31 December 2013. As a result of our audit, on 11 March 
2014 we issued an unqualified opinion. 

b) Companies subject to full consolidation: 
  

Name of the Company 

Share 
in the 
capital  
 (%) 

Name of the entity that 
audited the financial 

statements and type of 
opinion issued 

Balance sheet 
date of the 

consolidated 
entity 

Opinion date1 

Powszechny Zakład 
Ubezpiecze  SA 

n/a 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

Powszechny Zakład 
Ubezpiecze  na ycie SA  
(„PZU ycie”) 

100.00% 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

Powszechne Towarzystwo 
Emerytalne PZU SA 
(„PTE PZU”) 

100.00% 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

PZU Centrum Operacji SA 
(„PZU CO”) 

100.00% 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 6  March 2014 

Towarzystwo Funduszy 
Inwestycyjnych PZU SA 
(„TFI PZU”) 

100.00% 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 10 March 2014 

PZU Asset Management SA 
(„PZU AM”) 

100.00% 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 10 March 2014 

                                                      
1 date of an audit opinion relates, unless otherwise indicated, to statutory audit of the financial statements prepared in 
accordance with the accounting policies specified in the Accounting Act and applicable to the entity relevant rules; 
restated financial statements of the entity prepared as consolidation package prepared in accordance with IAS/IFRS 
adopted by the PZU Capital Group was subject to consolidation.
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Name of the Company 

Share 
in the 
capital  
 (%) 

Name of the entity that 
audited the financial 

statements and type of 
opinion issued 

Balance sheet 
date of the 

consolidated 
entity 

Opinion date1 

PZU Pomoc SA 100.00% 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
statutory audit has not been completed 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014* 

Mi dzyzakładowe Pracownicze 
Towarzystwo Emerytalne  
PZU SA („MPTE PZU SA”) 

100.00% 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 10 March 2014 

PrJSC IC PZU Ukraine 
(„PZU Ukraine”) 

100,00% 
PJSC "Deloitte & Touche USC"– 
statutory audit has not been completed 

31 December 2013 10 March 2014* 

PrJSC IC PZU Ukraine Life 
Insurance („PZU Ukraine Life”) 100.00% 

PJSC "Deloitte & Touche USC"– 
statutory audit has not been completed 

31 December 2013 10 March 2014* 

UAB DK PZU Lietuva 
(„PZU Lietuva”) 

99.76% 
UAB „Deloitte Lietuva” – statutory 
audit has not been completed 

31 December 2013 10 March 2014* 

UAB PZU Lietuva Gyvybes 
Draudimas 

99.34% 
UAB „Deloitte Lietuva” – statutory 
audit has not been completed 

31 December 2013 10 March 2014* 

PZU Finanse Sp. z o.o.2 100.00% Not subject to audit 31 December 2013 - 

Tower Inwestycje Sp. z o.o. 
(„Tower Inwestycje”) 

100.00% 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 10 March 2014 

Ogrodowa-Inwestycje Sp. z o.o. 100.00% 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 10 March 2014 

Armatura Capital Group  92.75% 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

Ipsilon Sp. z o.o. 2 100.00% Not subject to audit 31 December 2013 - 

Ipsilon Bis SA2 100.00% Not subject to audit 31 December 2013 - 

Omicron SA2 100.00% Not subject to audit 31 December 2013 - 

LLC SOS Services Ukraine2 100.00% Not subject to audit 31 December 2013 - 

PZU SFIO Universum (formerly 
PZU SFIO Dłu ny) 

nd. 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

PZU FIZ Akcji nd. 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

PZU FIZ Dynamiczny nd. 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

PZU FIZ Sektora Nierucho- 
mo ci 

nd. 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

PZU FIZ Sektora Nierucho- 
mo ci 2 

nd. 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

PZU FIZ Sektora Nierucho- 
mo ci 3  

nd. 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

PZU FIZ Aktywów 
Niepublicznych BIS 1   

nd. 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

PZU FIZ Aktywów 
Niepublicznych BIS 2  

nd. 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

PZU Dłu ny Rynków 
Wschodz cych  

nd. 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

PZU FIZ Aktywów 
Niepublicznych RE Income 

nd. 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

PZU FIO Gotówkowy nd. 
Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
unqualified opinion 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014 

                                                      
2 Statutory financial statements of companies were not subjet to audit due to the lack of legal obligation to conduct such 
audits in accordance with the Accounting Act; verification of the consolidation packages made during the audit of the 
consolidation documentation.
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Name of the Company 

Share 
in the 
capital  
 (%) 

Name of the entity that 
audited the financial 

statements and type of 
opinion issued 

Balance sheet 
date of the 

consolidated 
entity 

Opinion date1 

Subsidiary commercial 
companies having the character 
of special purpose entities that 
invest in various real estates 
which are in the portfolios of 
PZU FIZ Sektora 
Nieruchomo ci, PZU FIZ 
Sektora Nieruchomo ci 2, PZU 
FIZ Sektora Nieruchomo ci 3, 
PZU FIZ Aktywów 
Niepublicznych RE Income; 
number for each of the above 
mentioned funds amounted to 
37, 8, 9 and 6 companies, 
respectively 

100.00% 

Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. sp.k. – 
statutory audits have not been 
completed at the date of the opinion 
on the consolidated financial 
statements 

31 December 2013 11 March 2014* 

* the date of confirmation of the consolidation package prepared in accordance with IAS/IFRS as part of the audit  of 
the consolidation documentation and audit procedures carried out in relation to the balance sheets of the units, taking into 
account the significance of these entities to the consolidated result of the PZU Capital Group.

The Parent Company preparing the consolidated financial statements did not simplify or alter 
consolidation principles in relation to the consolidated entities.  

2. Information about the consolidated financial statements for the prior financial year 

The activities of the Capital Group in 2012 resulted in a net profit of PLN 3,253,826 thousand. 
The consolidated financial statements of the Capital Group for 2012 were audited by a certified 
auditor. The audit was performed by authorized entity Deloitte Polska Spółka z ograniczon
odpowiedzialno ci  Sp. k. On 12 March 2013 the certified auditor issued an unqualified opinion on 
those financial statements. 

The General Shareholders’ Meeting which approved the consolidated financial statements 
for the 2012 financial year was held on 23 May 2013.  

In accordance with applicable laws, the consolidated financial statements for the 2012 financial 
year were submitted to the National Court Register (KRS) on 29 May 2013. 

3. Details of the authorized entity and the key certified auditor acting on its behalf 

The audit of the consolidated financial statements was performed based on the agreement of 16 
July 2012 concluded between Powszechny Zakład Ubezpiecze  Spółka Akcyjna and Deloitte 
Polska Spółka z ograniczon  odpowiedzialno ci  Sp. k. with its registered office in Warsaw, al. 
Jana Pawła II 19, recorded under number 73 on the list of entities authorized to provide audit 
services kept by the National Council of Statutory Auditors. On behalf of the authorized entity, the 
audit of the consolidated financial statements was conducted under the supervision of Jacek 
Marczak key certified auditor (No.9750) in the registered office of the Parent Company as well as 
outside the Parent Company’s premises from 31 January 2014 until the date of this opinion. 

The entity authorized to audit the consolidated financial statements was appointed by the resolution 
of the Supervisory Board of 8 May 2012 based on authorization included in Article 25, clause 2, 
point 10 of the Parent Company By-laws.  

Deloitte Polska Spółka z ograniczon  odpowiedzialno ci  Sp. k. and Jacek Marczak, key certified 
auditor, confirm that they are authorized to carry out audits and meet the requirements of Article 56 
of the Act on statutory auditors and their self-governing body, auditing firms and on public 
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oversight (Journal of Laws of 2009, No. 77, item 649, as amended) to express an unbiased and 
independent opinion on the consolidated financial statements of the Capital Group of Powszechny 
Zakład Ubezpiecze  Spółka Akcyjna. 

4. Availability of data and management’s representations 

The scope of our audit was not limited.  

During the audit, all necessary documents and data as well as detailed information 
and explanations, were provided to the authorized entity and the key certified auditor, as confirmed 
e.g. in the written representation of the Management Board of the Parent Company of 11 March 
2014. 
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II. ECONOMIC AND FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE CAPITAL GROUP 

Presented below are the main items from the consolidated income statement as well as financial 
ratios describing the financial performance of the Capital Group and its economic and financial 
position compared to the prior year. 

Selected items from the statement of financial position  
(in PLN ‘000) 

31.12.2013 31.12.2012

Intangible assets 308,726 183,238
Property, plant and equipment 927,281 992,317
Investment property 1.474,770 564,404
Financial assets 54.688,714 50,423,076
Receivables 2.664,986 1,835,793
Reinsurers’ share in technical provisions 526,605 749,334
Deferred acquisition costs 609,819 574,489
Cash and cash equivalents 548,266 136,586
Total assets 62,362,421 55,909,560

Equity 13,127,787 14,369,369
Technical provisions 37,324,416 35,400,778
Investment contracts 2,121,037 2,299,147
Other provisions 192,906 267,456
Deferred tax liability 255,399 357,557
Other liabilities 8,926,375 3,056,467
Total equity and liabilities 62,362,421 55,909,560

Selected items from the consolidated income statement  
(in PLN ‘000) 

01.01.2013- 
31.12.2013

01.01.2012 -
31.12.2012

Net earned premium 16,248,769 16,005,240
Revenue from commissions and fees 319,962 237,102
Net investment income 1,844,932 2,047,054
Net profit/loss on realization and impairment loss on 
investments 

25,045 521,268

Net change in the fair value of assets and liabilities plus equity 
measured at fair value 

618,091 1,136,407

Other operating revenue 491,109 588,028
Net insurance claims and benefits (11,161,224) (12,218,731)
Acquisition costs (2,015,938) (2,000,351)
Administrative expenses (1,406,480) (1,440,301)
Benefits and change in measurement of investment contracts (77,715) (176,780)
Income tax (825,579) (784,882)
Net profit 3,295,113 3,253,826

Main items from the consolidated statement of other 
comprehensive income (in PLN ‘000) 

01.01.2013- 
31.12.2013

01.01.2012 -
31.12.2012

Net profit 3,295,113 3,253,826
Other comprehensive income (104,510) 88,660
Net comprehensive income total 3,190,603 3,342,486
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Profitability ratios 2013 2012

− profitability ratio on the basis of gross premium written  
(net profit / gross written premium)

20.0% 20.0%

− profitability ratio on the basis of net premium earned 
 (net profit / net written premium)

20.3% 20.3%

Claims ratios 

− gross claims ratio 
 (claims and change in technical provisions/gross earned premium)

67.9% 76.2%

− net claims ratio 
 (claims and net change in technical provisions/net earned premium)

68.7% 76.3%

Total operating costs ratio 

− administrative expenses ratio 
 (administrative expenses/gross written premium)

8.5% 8.9%

− acquisition costs ratio 
 (acquisition costs/gross written premium)

12.2% 12.3%

Return on investment and equity ratios:

− investment level ratio 
 (financial assets and investment property / equity and technical provisions 
less reinsurers’ share as at the end of the reporting period)

112.5% 104.2%

− return on equity 
 (net profit/average equity)3 24.1% 24.0%

Solvency and funds security ratios

− provision allocation ratio 
 (financial assets and investment property / technical provisions less 
reinsurers’ share)

152.6% 147.1%

The analysis of the above figures and ratios identified the following trends in 2013: 
− no change in profitability ratio on the basis of gross written premium in 2013 in comparison to 

2012;  
− no change in profitability ratio on the basis of net earned premium in 2013 in comparison to 

2012;  
− a decrease in gross claims ratio from 76.2% in 2012 to 67.9% in 2013;  
− a decrease in net claims ratio from 76.3% in 2012 to 68.7% in 2013; 
− an increase in investment level ratio from 104.2% at the end of 2012 to 112. 5% at the end of 

2013; 
− an increase in return on equity from 24.0% in 2012 to 24.1 % in 2013; 
− an increase in provision allocation ratio from 147.1% at the end of 2012 to 152.6% at the end 

of 2013. 

                                                      
3  The average calculated as an arithmetic average of the equity balance as at the beginning and the end  

of the reporting period.
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III. DETAILED INFORMATION 

1. Information about the audited consolidated financial statements 

The audited consolidated financial statements were prepared as of 31 December 2013 and include: 
− consolidated statement of financial position prepared as of 31 December 2013, with total 

assets and liabilities plus equity of PLN 62,362,421 thousand, 

− consolidated income statement for the period from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013, with 
a net profit of PLN 3,295,113 thousand, 

− consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the period from 1 January 2013 to 31 
December 2013, with a total comprehensive income of PLN 3,190,603 thousand, 

− statement of changes in consolidated equity for the period from 1 January 2013 
to 31 December 2013, disclosing a decrease in equity of PLN 1.141.482 thousand, 

− consolidated statement of cash flows for the period from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 
2013, showing a cash inflow of PLN 411,680 thousand, 

− notes, comprising a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. 

The structure of assets and equity plus liabilities as well as items affecting the financial profit or 
loss has been presented in the consolidated financial statements. 

The audit covered the period from 1 January 2013 to 31 December 2013 and focused mainly on: 
– verification of the correctness and fairness of the consolidated financial statements prepared 

by the Management Board of the Parent Company, 
– verification of the consolidation documentation, 
– evaluation of the correctness of the consolidation methods and procedures applied during 

consolidation, 
– review of opinions and reports on audits of financial statements of subsidiaries and associated 

companies included in consolidation, prepared by other certified auditors. 

2. Consolidation documentation 

The Parent Company presented the consolidation documentation including: 

1) financial statements of entities included in the consolidated financial statements, 

2) consolidation packages of controlled entities included in the consolidated financial statements, 
adjusted to International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and the Group accounting 
principles (policy) applied during consolidation, 

3) consolidation packages of controlled entities translated into the Polish currency, 

4) all consolidation adjustments and eliminations necessary for preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements, 

5) calculation of the goodwill impairment, 

6) calculation of non-controlling interest, 

7) calculation of exchange differences arising from translation of the financial statements of 
controlled entities denominated in foreign currencies. 
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Basis for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements 

The consolidated financial statements of the Capital Group for the 2013 financial year have been 
prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards endorsed by European 
Union. 

Entities in the Capital Group 

The scope and method of consolidation as well as the relationship between entities have been 
determined based on the criteria specified in the International Financial Reporting Standards. 

Financial period 

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared as of the same balance sheet date and for 
the same financial year as the financial statements of the Parent Company – Powszechny Zakład 
Ubezpiecze  Spółka Akcyjna. Subsidiaries and associated companies measured using equity 
method included in consolidation prepared their financial statements as of the same balance sheet 
date as the Parent Company. The financial year of all subsidiaries and associated companies 
included in consolidation ended on 31 December 2013.  

Consolidation method 

The financial statements of the subsidiaries were consolidated using the full method, i.e. full 
amounts of all relevant items of the financial statements of the Parent Company 
and the subsidiaries included in consolidation were summed up. 

Once the values had been summed up, consolidation adjustments and eliminations were applied to: 
− the cost of shares held by the Parent Company in subsidiaries and the part of net assets 

of subsidiaries corresponding to the interest of the Parent Company in these companies, 

− mutual receivables and liabilities of entities included in consolidation, 

− material revenue and expenses related to transactions between entities included 
in consolidation. 

3. Completeness and correctness of drawing up notes and explanations and the management 
report of the Capital Group 

The Parent Company confirmed the validity of the going concern basis in preparation 
of the consolidated financial statements. The notes to the consolidated financial statements give 
a correct and complete description of measurement principles regarding assets, liabilities, profit 
or loss and principles of preparation of the consolidated financial statements. 

The Parent Company prepared the additional information and explanations in the form of tabular 
notes to individual items in the consolidated statement of financial position, income statement and 
statement of comprehensive income as well as narrative descriptions in line with IFRS.  

Explanatory notes describing: property, plant and equipment, intangible assets and provisions, 
including technical provisions correctly present increases and decreases as well as their basis 
during the financial year. Limited disposability was indicated for individual assets presented in the 
consolidated statement of financial position, as some of them constituted collateral of creditors. 

Individual assets and equity and liabilities as well as revenue and expenses were correctly 
presented by the Parent Company in the consolidated financial statements. The consolidated 
statement of financial position, consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows with additional notes, 
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information and explanations constituting an integral part thereof, contain all the items, whose 
disclosure in the financial statements is required by the provisions of IFRS. 

The Management Board prepared and supplemented the consolidated financial statements with  
a management report of the Capital Group in the 2013 financial year. The report contains all 
information required under Article 49.2 of the Accounting Act and the Ordinance of the Minister of 
Finance Ordinance of 19 February 2009 on current and periodic information published by issuers of 
securities and the rules of equal treatment of the information required by the laws of non- 
-member states (Journals of Law of 2014, item 133). We have audited the report with respect to the 
disclosed information derived directly from the audited consolidated financial statements.  

IV. CLOSING COMMENTS 

Management Board’s Representation 

Deloitte Polska Spółka z ograniczon  odpowiedzialno ci  Sp. k. and the key certified auditor 
received a representation letter from the Parent Company’s Management Board, in which the Board 
stated that the Capital Group complied with the laws in force. 

.......................................................... 
Jacek Marczak 
Key certified auditor 
conducting the audit 
No. 9750 

On behalf of Deloitte Polska Spółka z ograniczon  odpowiedzialno ci  Sp. k. – entity authorized to 
audit financial statements entered under number 73 on the list kept by the National Council of 
Statutory Auditors: 

.......................................................... 
Dariusz Szkaradek – Vice-President of the Management Board of Deloitte Polska Sp. z o.o. - which 
is the General Partner of Deloitte Polska Spółka z ograniczon  odpowiedzialno ci  Sp. k. 

Warsaw, 11 March 2014 
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